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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
TERNEBLE
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Chun Wo has successfully secured the tender

at Tseng Choi Street, Tuen Mun

Chun Wo Property Development Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, has
successfully secured the site at Tseng Choi Street at HK$232.8 million in
. the form of a joint venture. The project is located at Tseng Choi Street, Area
4, Tuen Mun. The site area is approximately 23,700 sq.ft.. It is planned as a
residential & commercial composite development with a total gross floor
area of about 137,000 sq.ft., including an elderly home and day care center
of about 17,000 sq.ft. as required by the Land Grant. The Group owns more
than half of the shares in the joint venture for this project.
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The Hon Ronald Arcuilli, 68m, cvo, 6Bs, 0BE, Jp
invited as the business luncheon

guest speaker

Chun Wo held a business luncheon and invited Hon
Ronald Arculli, GBM, cVO, GBS, 0BE, JP Ex-Chairman of
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited as the
guest speaker. The topic was “Shanghai vs Hong Kong
— China's Future Financial Center". Over 30 of the elite
in the industry participated and understood more about
the development of finance in future.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
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Ll o A i, P ettt 5 8. s e S s ST e v —_—— ——

5/2014 N\ 2014mermzes

The Group has won CIC Innovative
Safety Initiative Gold Award

At the ceremony of “Innovative Safety
Initiative Award 2014" organized by the
Construction Industry Council, our innovation
“Radio Frequency ldentification (RFID)" and
‘Double Latch for Lifting Hook" have won Gold
and Bronze Awards in the Operational Device
Category respectively.
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SAFETY CAMPAIGN 2014 LIFTING OPERATIONS SAFETY Safety Forum 2014 — Lifting Safety

Seminar & Award Presentation Ceremony

The Group held the Safety Forum at Charles K. Kao
Auditorium, Hong Kong Science Park. We were pleased to
invite Mr. Li Chi Leung, the Labour Department’s Assistant
Commissioner for Labour (Occupational Safety), Mr.
Terence Lam, the Development Bureau's Chief Assistant
Secretary (Works), and Mr. Ng Kwok Ming, the Hong Kong
Construction Sub-Contractors Association's Vice
President as the guest speakers and award presenters.
They shared the importance and gave professional advice
on lifting safety, which helped expand the horizons of
over 500 members of the industry and Chun Wo
colleagues.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
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The Group has won 13 awards in “The
13th Hong Kong Occupational Safety

and Health Award Ceremony”

The Group has won 13 awards in total in “The 13th
Hong Kong Occupational Safety and Health Award
Ceremony”, including Chun Wo Foundations Limited
which won “Safety Management System Award —
Construction — Silver". Ten subsidiaries of the Group
were awarded the “Safety Performance Awards".
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Anniversary Event “Chun Wo Fun Green Day”

The Group organized the anniversary event “Chun Wo Fun Green Day”. To echo the theme of our corporate culture —
Environmental Protection, the event was held at Lam Tsuen, Tai Po, enabling the Group to appreciate the true beauty of
green nature.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
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Chun Wo has successfully secured the tender of Government Land Located at Yiu Sha
Road, Whitehead, Ma On Shan

The Group has successfully secured a tender for a parcel of government land located at Yiu Sha Road, Whitehead, Ma
On Shan, Sha Tin, New Territories, Hong Kong at a bid price of HKS$2.14 billion by way of a joint venture with China City
Construction Property Company Limited, marking a new milestone in the Group's property development business in

Hong Kong.
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Chun Wo acquired 90% equity interests in FEI#H EMUARYIISETWIEFEHRET
MmEREREE (3K8) BEXERAT ([ HEME (K EREREBE(KRE)BEXBRALA
&) 1) (transliterated as China City Construction (T2 (3k8) 1) 2 90% AR fE
Holdings Group (Zhuhai) Property Co., Ltd.)

(“China City Construction (Zhuhai)”) for RMB315

million

The Group acquired 90% of the equity interest in China City AEBALRKEARB 15 E TR ME (T
Construction (Zhuhai) at a total consideration of RMB315 million. &) 2 90% i&4 - RIME(KE) 2 T EEE AN
The key asset of China City Construction (Zhuhai) is mainly a parcel AR BEIERE G EMEE A UMKERA
of land located to the south of Haizhou Road and the east of JBMEEEMAIZ —#R L - B EEEL ST
Jiuzhou Avenue East, in Jida, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City, 77K Wi RSB EEmMIEL 101,136F 7K
Guangdong Province, China, with a total site area of nearly 10,000 ZE%¥XE -

sg.m.. The parcel is to be developed into a commercial building with

a GFA of approximately 101,136 sq.m..
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The Group is awarded “Caring Company” 10 years plus logo

In 2015, our Group was awarded the “Caring Company” 10 years plus logo from Hong Kong Council of Social Service. It
recognized the Group's efforts in the implementation of Corporate Social Responsibility continuously over 10 years and
our contributions by all the departments and frontline colleagues to uphold the corporate culture .
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CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT
TRHmE

“We expect the arrival of the new shareholders to further
enhance our widely-recognized market development strengths,
while at the same time lifting our standards of internal
governance and helping us achieve even higher levels of
efficiency across our operations.”
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Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Co-Chairman

Xu Jianhua, Jerry
Co-Chairman
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CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”), we
hereby present the annual results of Chun Wo Development Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “Chun Wo" or
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2015 (the “Year”).

REPOSITIONING FOR NEW CHALLENGES &
OPPORTUNITIES

In the Year that brought some unexpected challenges to Hong Kong
construction companies, the Group moved ahead with a clear forward
direction and according to well-formed strategies for growth. It
performed in the steady and effective manner that its clients have come
to expect, and consolidated its reputation for delivering timely, high
quality work for the public and private sectors alike. Net profit for the
Year amounted to approximately HK$103 million, a rise of 10% over last
year's net profit total. We are pleased that our focused efforts enabled
us to meet our stated target of achieving a minimum of 10% net profit
growth year-on-year.

During the Year, the Group underwent a significant reorganization of its
shareholding structure with the entrance of two major shareholders,
China New Way Investment Limited (“China New Way") and = B3 i &
BRI BB R A A (transliterated as China City Construction Holding
Group Co., Ltd.) (“China City Construction”). We expect the arrival of the
new shareholders to further enhance our widely-recognized market
development strengths, while at the same time lifting our standards of
internal governance and helping us achieve even higher levels of
efficiency across our operations. As was noted at the time, the many
advantages for the Group in gaining the new shareholders include the
opening up of access to considerable expertise in Mainland China
operations and the gaining of valuable equity partners for Hong Kong
development projects. In particular, the shareholders’ experience will
enable us to ride on future opportunities arising in China under PPP
(public-private partnership) projects, and also on larger-scale
development under China’s ambitious OBAOR (One Belt And One Road)
proposals for developing major new trade links across the continent.
These all represent significant new opportunities for the Group to
expand in overseas markets. They would involve further strengthening
of our collaboration with major Mainland construction enterprises, and
developing cooperative strategic partnerships that would benefit both
sides.
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CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT
ETRH®E

Prior to becoming a major shareholder, China City Construction has
already joined hands with the Group at securing a tender for a parcel of
seafront residential land located at Whitehead, Ma On Shan in New
Territories. To further this win-win collaboration and having similar
development and operational philosophies, China City Construction
came aboard as a new major shareholder through Chun Wo's
acquisition of its development property in Zhuhai. Chun Wo has recently
entered into a memorandum of understanding, relating to the proposed
acquisition of all or part of (i) direct or indirect equity interest in; and/or
(ii) assets of; and/or (iii) business of China City Construction and
together with its subsidiaries. The arrival of China City Construction is
creating synergies with our Group's own range of skills and experience,
and is also helping to extend our reach in the construction market,
especially in terms of potential infrastructure projects in Mainland
China. What is more, China City Construction gives the Group better
capabilities for handling large-scale property development projects in
Hong Kong, and is also opening doors to business opportunities within
the property management market in Mainland China, as well as
opportunities in financial services related business.

Through its construction business, Chun Wo has been an integral
contributor to the development of Hong Kong over many years. Our
construction business continued in its industry-leading role during the
Year, pushing forward with a range of local construction projects that
will keep us fully occupied through 2015 and 2016. Beyond that, we
may have to deal with a dip in government-sourced projects unless the
Hong Kong Government resolves the funding approval issue that has
raised its head in recent months. Regardless of this, we are determined
to maintain the upward momentum of our construction business, by
finding new ways of supporting the development of Hong Kong and
maintaining our remarkable local reputation for expertise and quality.
Our new shareholder relationships are opening new doors for us in this
respect, their connections in Mainland China and overseas will allow the
Group to develop construction businesses locally, in turn enhancing
overall profitability. Furthermore, we are already exploring new
collaborative opportunities in both Hong Kong and Mainland China as
part of our strategic growth plan, at the same time as we are developing
measures that will enable us to diversify and cut costs further.
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CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT

Over the past few years we have been adjusting our property
development model significantly, towards one where we are focused on
Hong Kong and its vicinity, are much more partnership oriented, and are
demanding clear and steady returns on our investments. We have some
promising property development joint ventures currently underway in
Hong Kong and Zhuhai; these are currently under construction and
sales will begin next year. Being still at the ‘investment’ stage, our
property development activities have contributed minimal results this
Year, but this will change very shortly.

The Group's professional services business, which includes property
management and related professional services, achieved some
remarkable results during the Year, consolidating its reputation further
in a very competitive market.

POSITIONING FOR PROSPERITY

We have a clear vision for development over the coming years, based
firmly on our core construction business, for which we retain a good
pipeline of projects for the coming year and beyond. Our construction
segment is fully engaged for the year ahead. This is a platform that we
will be using to consolidate our industry leadership in Hong Kong and
continue our longstanding contribution to the growth of our home city.

Going forward, we will proactively explore promising new opportunities
in Mainland China. Although the Group has not been engaged yet in
major China infrastructure projects, through our new majority
shareholder and the experience of China City Construction, we are
exploring projects in which the Group would act as consultant, technical
adviser or specialist contractor, with an aim of further enhancing
profitability of the Group's construction business.

As mentioned above, we have divested or are seeking to divest certain
non-core property assets, focusing our resources on the Group's core
businesses. For instance, we will be seeking to gradually exit our
development project in the United Arab Emirates (the “UAE"), Middle
East, now that it is fully leased and contributing a steady return within a
relatively stable environment. This process of disposal will streamline
the Group's property holdings and make us a leaner, more focused
development entity. We expect to continue focusing on Hong Kong and
Southern China markets. With our Ma On Shan, Kau To Shan, Tuen Mun
and Zhuhai projects progressing well at the moment, we are looking
forward to commencing presale of the properties soonest, generating
satisfactory investment returns from our active asset inventories.
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CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT
ETRH®E

We will continue to look cautiously at potential development
opportunities in overseas locations, such as the United States of
America and the United Kingdom. However any overseas investments
in these locations are likely to be part of partnership arrangements, and
great care will be taken before deciding to enter unfamiliar markets,
however promising they may seem.

In summary, our focus for the future will remain firmly on our
construction and property development businesses in Hong Kong,
where we enjoy a history of high achievement and a strong reputation
for quality and trustworthiness combined with technical expertise. The
new insights and assistance available from our new shareholders now
gives us the capabilities to expand our strategic directions by tapping
into China market in a range of ways on the construction and property
development fronts.

Simultaneously, with our market share in the security and property
management industry growing significantly, the Group may consider
spinning off its professional services business into an independent
company to further streamline its corporate structure. This would
enable us to leverage the capital market to grow the business, further
enlarging our market share. We do believe that this segment has the
potential to become a significant new growth driver for the Group.
Further, the rapid success of this segment has prompted us to explore
further opportunities within China market, once again on the back of the
experience of our new shareholders in this industry.

In conclusion, the Group will proactively expand into Mainland China
and overseas infrastructure markets while consolidating our
construction business in Hong Kong. Meanwhile, the Group's property
development and property management businesses have also entered
satisfactory development stages. All along, the Group will continue to
strengthen internal controls and reduce operating costs; while seeing
our staff as our most important asset, we will implement performance-
based rewards systems, in turn raising our overall efficiency.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Year has brought along various opportunities and challenges,
different from those we have faced before. Our special thanks go to the
thousands of our Chun Wo staff members, who once again have given
fully of their time and energy to maintain our reputation as a respected
player in Hong Kong and beyond. Thanks are also due to our loyal
business partners, with whom we expect to further cooperate as our
business continues to develop both vertically and horizontally. We are
confident with these levels of support and commitment, combined with
our extensive experience and rich skill-base, and the new opportunities
introduced as a result of our new shareholder base, we will continue to
grow and flourish in the year ahead.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Total revenue R
Profit attributable to shareholders ARG R F
of the Company
Earnings per share BRET
Equity per share * Gk
* Equity per share refers to equity attributable to shareholders of the

Company divided by the total number of issued ordinary share capital as
at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2074 respectively.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Year (2014: HK1.7 cents per share).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 26 August 2015 to Friday, 28 August 2015 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
("AGM"). During which period no transfer of shares of the Company will
be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all
completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificate(s) must be lodged with the Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar of the Company, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 25 August 2015.

NEW CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

During the Year, the Company introduced a new controlling shareholder
with the acquisition by China New Way of a majority stake in the
Company. The new shareholding arrangement is expected to bring a
number of immediate benefits to the Group, with China New Way able
to provide strong financial support for the Group's growth while also
bringing with it significant networks and resources in China which the
Group expects to be able to leverage for its future development in both
the construction and property sectors.

BB R AT

MBERHE
2014/15 2013/14
HK$'000 HKS'000
TFHET FABTT
8,317,087 6,551,240
102,518 93,009
HK9.20 cents HK8.95 cents
9.20 &1l 8.95781l
HK$1.20 HKS1.52
1.2038 7T 152387t

* BRERERADABREEGEEZED BB AR
201543 A31HN2014E3A31 B2 E3TY
AR A -

KEIR B
BEFRCEZTRELAFE 2 AR E (20144 -
FRT7HBW) o

FENERPBFELFE
AAFH2015F8 A6 B (EH=)E 20154
8 A28 H (EHR) (BREEEMX) EEH RN
BEELFE UEEBEEHEALEAQRERRK
FRFAE((RRAFAS IR LB #
e HEBETSETEMNARRARNDZBLE
e MBFALFERREAFTFRAETNE LIRS
Bi% o EBZZBEXHERBERE &
BR2015F8A25A(EH =) TF 48300 A
ERXARRARBN B ECEET SN ESEWER
BARADRF - it ABEBE2FREBEER183FHA
2248 - AHBBFEERFE -

MEERBRR

RAFER  FEFHERERRRZAS BER
WERBARRIERR © A ERBEE
FEEIR AR EEH R Z RN E - PEHER
BAKEZERRBHBAMESR  ERTEZ
EABEREEER BUUAHAEERRAE
BRERMETEZER -

BMBEREEERAT 2014/15F 3K 15
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Proposed Residential Development at 106-114 Kwok Shui Road, Tsuen Wan

EEERE 106 21145 EEREER

Redevelopment of Hong Kong Sports Institute — Contract 4

ERREERERERBMEHEIR — IRAHM

MTR Contract No. 830 — Guangzhou- Shenzhen Hong Kong Exp ss Rail Link (Hong Kong Section): Trackwork and Overhead Line System
BEIEHRIT830 — BRAE SRR (FHER)  #uE RIEE
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Proposed Development of Gleneagles Hong Kong Hospital at Nam Fung Path, Aberdeen Island, Lot No. 458, Hong Kong

BAFRUMERE 4685 EAC BB ERIAR

Superstructure Works for the Proposed Composite Development at Yuet Wah Street and Hip Wo Street, Kwun Tong

BREAEGRBNEFEERER FETRE

Proposed Commercial Redevelopment at No. 12 Cannon Street & No. 531 Jaffe Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
125 LA EE 3 SRR EANEEREH

Construction Works for New Hangar of Macau International Airport

RPN B A5 T TR BB R T AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B IR E M AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group recorded a total revenue of approximately HKS$8.32 billion for
the Year, up by 27% year on year. Net profit rose by 10% to
approximately HK$102.5 million, enabling the Group to meet its annual
target of 10% growth in net profit. The Group's net profit margin was
maintained at around 1.2%. Earnings per share amounted to
approximately HK9.2 cents, up 2.8%.

Construction

The Group's construction segment performed steadily over the Year,
with a number of major projects being completed or nearly completion.
Revenue from this segment amounted to approximately HKS7.86 billion
for the Year, comparable with the revenue of approximately HKS5.89
billion recorded the previous year increased by 33.4%. Profit for the
segment amounted to approximately HK$125.3 million, a significant
increased by 119.1% as compared with the profit of approximately
HKS57.2 million last year.

As at 31 March 2015, the estimated total value of the Group’s contracts
in hand was approximately HKS26.87 billion, of which approximately
HKS$13.35 billion remains outstanding. Compared with the comparable
figures at 31 March 2014, these amounts represent decreases of 6.7%
and 8.7% respectively.

The nine major new contracts won by the Group during the Year were
worth a total of approximately HKS$4.0 billion. Among these, one of the
most significant was the joint-venture contract for building the
Boundary Crossing Facilities, Passenger Clearance Building and Public
Transport Facilities for the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge in Hong
Kong. This contract is valued at approximately HK$8.40 billion, with
Chun Wo holding a 20% stake in the joint venture. Another major
contract successes included that for the development of Gleneagles
Hong Kong Hospital in Aberdeen, Hong Kong. The project value is
approximately HKS$2.48 billion, and Chun Wo holds a 40% stake in the
joint venture. The Group was also successful in bidding for contracts to
construct new public rental housing blocks in Chai Wan, and to carry
out foundation works for the Home Ownership Scheme Development at
Choi Hing Road in Ngau Tau Kok; both are a part of the government's
drive to increase the supply of housing in Hong Kong over the next
decade. In Macau, Chun Wo secured a further contract for work in
Studio City Macau in Cotai for the leading gaming and entertainment
resort facilities owner and developer in Macau, Melco Crown
Entertainment Limited, adding to a significant list of varied contracts
being carried out for that client.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Construction (continued)

A number of construction projects remained ongoing during the Year;
these included work on the Central-Wan Chai Bypass at North Point,
Wan Chai East and the Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre.
Several projects for MTR Corporation Limited ("MTRC") continued as
well, such as the Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link
(Hong Kong Section), the Shatin-Central Link including Kai Tak Station
and associated tunnels and the Diamond Hill-Kai Tak Tunnels, together
with the Kwun Tong Line Extension including Whampoa Station and
overrun tunnel. Most of these ongoing projects are due for completion
in the next year or two.

The Group's construction sector successfully completed a number of
projects during the Year, including three residential development
projects located at Kwun Tong, Tsuen Wan and Mid-Level West, and the
development of Hong Kong Sports Institute, along with various projects
for MTRC, including building services for the new Kennedy Town
Station.

Among the many drainage and waterworks-related projects that the
Group worked on during the Year, one highlight relates to the Group's
contract to handle the Happy Valley Underground Stormwater Storage
Scheme. Involving the construction of a large-capacity underground
stormwater storage tank, a pump house and associated drains, this
project is designed to alleviate flooding problems in the Happy Valley
and Wan Chai areas. During the Year, the project was awarded the
“Highly Commended New Engineering Contract (NEC) Large Project of
the Year 2015 Award", an award established by the NEC Users' Group in
the United Kingdom to recognize outstanding NEC projects around the
world. Over 40 international projects took part in the competition, with
the Group being one of the selected companies to come away with an
award.

A small number of ongoing projects experienced delays outside the
Group's control. Progress on the Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Express Rail Link (Hong Kong Section) was delayed due to delays by the
civil contractors, and delays in work on the Passenger Clearance
Building for the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge occurred due to a
delay in the handover of the work areas.
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Happy Valley Underground Stormwater Storage Scheme
05 iy T & AR B
MTR Contract No. 1107 — Shatin to Central Link: Diamond Hill to Kai Tak Tunnels and
MTR Contract No. 1108 — Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station and Associated Tunnels
& NRSR1107 — DR - AL ERA 8 N
BEAKRIT1108 — DR - BB RIARER ERE T2
Wan Chai Development Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Wan Chai East
BFERAZE N PREFREEETRR

BNBREMERAT 20141545 23




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR W T

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Construction (continued)

Meanwhile, in the process of working on one section of the Central-Wan
Chai Bypass, the Group unearthed an old sunken vessel. As is the norm
with finds that may have some historical or archaeological importance,
the Group is co-operating closely with the relevant branches of the
Hong Kong Government to try to identify the unearthed vessel and
ascertain its significance. Once this is established, appropriate
measures for preservation or removal will need to be put in place as
required. The Group is doing its utmost to expedite matters, but
ultimately authority for the handling of this find lies outside its control.

A longstanding disagreement in relation to additional work performed
and costs incurred by the Group for construction work for the Tsz Shan
Monastery has been moved forward in the Year. A hearing for the claim
by Chun Wo Building Construction Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, against Metta Resources Limited has
already been fixed and shall be commenced in March 2016. The Group
is currently in the process of preparing for this hearing.

New Major Projects Awarded in the Year

Project Name

HE&R

Building Construction Works 22 T2

1 Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities

— Passenger Clearance Building
BHRWRABEASOR — RRAE
2 Proposed Development of Gleneagles Hong Kong Hospital at
Nam Fung Path, Aberdeen Island, Lot No. 458, Hong Kong
BT AHER S 468 55 fE RS B e B R IE E
3 Construction of Public Rental Housing Development at
Lin Shing Road, Chai Wan
LEENEARERAEERRIER

4 Specialist Contract for Design, Supply and Installation of Tree House and

Adventure Gate, Studio City Macau, Cotai
BRI R ESE R TR 2PIRGT - HERTRE TR
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Expected
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Date
AHRTAMH
(Month/Year)
(B %)

Attributable
Contract Value
EiEEeHNER
(HKS' Million)
(B&%T)

2/2017 1,680
11/2016 994
11/2017 436

6/2015 66



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE R W M oA

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥EIRE(E)
New Major Projects Awarded in the Year (continued) RAFEHFRENTIEIR (F)

Expected
Completion Attributable
Project Name Date Contract Value

HE AR BAHRIAH EEEHNEE
(Month/Year) (HKS' Million)
(B %) (B&%T)

Civil Engineering Works = R T2
® Provision of Universal Access Facilities for Highway Structures 10/2018 290

— Package 2 Contract 1
RERBEYRRGERTRE - F_EE—HEH

Fitting Out Works £ & T 72

6 German Swiss International School Redevelopment, Phase 5 6/2016 135
EmPIRERERRERETRE

Foundation Works it & T 2

7 Foundation for Home Ownership Scheme Development at 3/2016 157
Choi Hing Road, Ngau Tau Kok
FEEAYEREEREEEEREAMETRE
8 The proposed Residential Development at TMTL499, Tseng Choi Street, 2/2016 75
Tuen Mun, New Territories Design, Supply and Construction for
Excavation and Lateral Support (ELS), Pile Caps and Foundations
FTAREPIH AP IR ER 3B 400 SR EEHRBIEE < E T2

Maintenance Works #1512

9 Preventive Maintenance Works, Upgrading Works and Associated Ground 6/2018 194
Investigations for WSD Slopes, 2012-2013 Programme
2012 2013 FERBERE R AL - ERBBEOBMEIRR

BANXEEEERAT 2014/15F 5, 25
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Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities — Passenger Clearance Building
BHBABES DR — IRRAE

MTR Contract No. 1002 — Kwun Tong Line Extension: Whampoa Station and Overrun Tunnel
BEANRE1002 — BERES - SHI B ERBERETRR

MTR Contract No. 11209 — Shatin to Central Link: Platform Modification and Associated Works at East Rail Line
BEANRIT11200 — DhE - RERBAaREEEIRER

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014/15







MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E AW MDA

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ O (E)
Major Projects Completed in the Year RAFERIZFEIR

Attributable
Project Name Contract Value

HE&® FEiEEHEE

(HKS' Million)
(B&BT)

Building Construction Works #FZ £ T 12

1 Superstructure Works for the Proposed Composite Development at Yuet Wah Street 541
and Hip Wo Street, Kwun Tong
B AEakNEGRa R RER LETR

2 Proposed Residential Development at 55 Conduit Road, Hong Kong 389
BB TRBELSREEERIAR

3 Proposed Residential Development at 106—114 Kwok Shui Road, Tsuen Wan 345
ZEEIRE 106 2 1145 (EEERIEE

4 Redevelopment of Hong Kong Sports Institute — Contract 4 218
EEBEERERRRMRETIE — ITRE4M

5 German Swiss International School Redevelopment Phase 3 196

RIRERERE=HNERTRE

Civil Engineering Works £ K T2

6 Construction of Kwun Tong Promenade (Stage 2) 223
BESESECE (E28)
7 Construction of Open Space in Area 117, Tin Shui Wai 165

RKBEFE N7 RARBAMEETE

Electrical & Mechanical Works #E T 2

8 MTR Contract No. 771B — West Island Line: Building Services for Kennedy Town Station 112
BEESROGRRTTIB - BAESE REMMUEFTRERE

Fitting Out Works & T 12

9 Proposed Commercial Development at Nos. 2—6 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan 88
EEPRE2-6REEERIER

Foundation Works it & T 2

10 Bored Piles, Sheet Pile & Precast Prestressed Concrete Pile Works for Nova City Phase 5, Macau 211
BPYREE S E R HAMETIE

11 Foundation Works for Public Rental Housing Development in Kwun Tong at 153

Anderson Road Sites A and B Phase 1 and 2
BELEREEANRBRZE —HERE_HALEEHEREASHETE

Maintenance Works #1& T2

12 Term Contract for Waterworks: District L — Lantau and the Outlying Islands 220
KB TIREHEL: wEL - NEILRES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TR RS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ EIE (')
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year RAEAFELERFETEZTEIR

Expected
Completion Attributable
Project Name Date Contract Value

a8 FEfL

HE AR “IHH AREE
(Month/Year) (HKS' Million)

(B/ %) (B&BT)

Building Construction Works 1 £F £ T2

1 Main Contract Works for the Retail Expansion of City of Dreams, Macau 9/2015 579
RPIFTER T ERBEEAE 2 AAB TR
2 Proposed Commercial Redevelopment at No. 12 Cannon Street & 7/2015 564

No. 531 Jaffe Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
EBMBEREE 1295 RAHEESI REEAEEREIER

8 Urban Renewal Project at Castle Peak Road/Hing Wah Street (K23), 9/2015 452
Sham Shui Po
MEEZER — AP H LB HEL (K23)
4 Construction of Home Ownership Scheme at 10/2016 423

Wang Yip Street West, Yuen Long
TR AHEEREECRETRE

® Urban Renewal Project at Castle Peak Road/Cheung Wah Street (K20), 7/2015 340
Sham Shui Po
MRERER — Rk EILEEEH (K20)
6 Construction Works for the Landscaping, Water Features, 8/2015 213

Special Features & External Works of Studio City Macau, Cotai
BFIRSFTRTESREEL  KKRE - FERBMIMNPIRZETLRR
7 Construction Works for New Hangar of Macau International Airport 9/2015 191
BPIEIFR SR B R T A2

Civil Engineering Works £ K T2
8 Liantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point, Site Formation and 8/2019 2,545
Infrastructure Works — Contract 3
BE/AEEORIFEREMERTRE ~ ITRE4H=
9 Central-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and 5/2018 2,412
Island Eastern Corridor Link
RIRE(TED - L ABRIER R EEREER T2

10 Wan Chai Development Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Wan Chai East 9/2017 2,362
------ BEREHEE_S  TREFEEETFRE

11 Handllng of Surplus Public Fill (2014-2016) 1/2017 1,226
BRIBFIER A FRIAHL (2014-2016)

12 Wan Chai Development Phase II: Central—Wan Chai Bypass at 11/2015 1,134

Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre
BFEREE S PREFRETESZRET LR
13 Constructlon Works of Tuen Mun Western Trunk Sewerage 7/2015 711
BRI KB E R REETIE

BANXEEEERAT 2014/15F 5, 29



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E AW MDA

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥OREE(E)
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REFEERBEEZTEIR(H)
(continued)

Expected
Completion Attributable
Project Name Date Contract Value

it PE15

HE AR %IHH AREE
(Month/Year) (HKS' Million)
(B %) (B8BT)

14 Happy Valley Underground Stormwater Storage Scheme 4/2018 711
¥ b3t T AT
15 MTR Contract No. 1108 — Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station and 4/2018 697

Associated Tunnels
BEE AR 1108 — DR : BUSML KB E T2
16 MTR Contract No. 1107 — Shatin to Central Link: Diamond Hill to 4/2018 534
Kai Tak Tunnels
BEEANFER1107 — 2HR : EBRILEZRREEE
17 MTR Contract No. 1002 — Kwun Tong Line Extension: Whampoa Station and 5/2016 428
Overrun Tunnel
BEEARmIT1002 ~ BUIRRLER - SHMMBERERETE
18  Harbour Area Treatment Scheme Stage 2A Upgrading Works at 6/2016 347
Stonecutters Island Sewage Treatment Works — Effluent Tunnel
and Disinfection Facilities
FEE BT EIE R BMIMNEKEERE T2 — BKBE KRBT R
19  Retrofitting of Noise Barriers on Fanling Highway (MTR Fanling Station 12/2015 192
and Wo Hing Road)
NFEE EE MBI E QKR EREMNETLE

20 MTR Contract No. C5115-13C — Noise Mitigation Works at Tung Chung 8/2016 82
BHEIA HMRIEC5115-13C — RR S RENE T2
21 MTR Contract No. 1119 — Shatin to Central Link: Trackwork and Overhead Line 12/2015 58

Modification Works at Lo Wu and Pat Heung Depot
BEAOGRR1119 — g BHE/\BERNELIELREEENRZIIE

Electrical & Mechanical Works # & T 12

22 MTR Contact No. 965B — South Island Line (East): Building Services for 7/2015 99

Wong Chuk Hang Depot
BEEKRITI65B ~ EESERR) : EMNEMETFTRERE

Foundation Works it & T 72

23 Foundation and Pile Cap Works for Redevelopment of 7/2015 102
Wing On Central Building at 26 Des Voeux Road, Central, Hong Kong
BATREHBET 265 KLTREANEERIEE 2ETIE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TR RS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ O (E)
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REAFELERFEEZTEIR (B
(continued)

Expected
Completion Attributable
Project Name Date Contract Value

aH FEfL

HE AR %ITRH ARNEE
(Month/Year) (HKS' Million)

(B %) (B8AT)

Maintenance Works #1512

24 MTR Contract No. 11209 — Shatin to Central Link: Platform Modification 5/2017 835
and Associated Works at East Rail Line

BEAKRIN11200 — PR RELBWAGRERERITRE

25  Term Contract for Waterworks District E — New Territories East 8/2015 700
KIGETIEERAEH — HEE — AR
26 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 8/2015 543

Phase 1: Mains in Eastern and Southern Districts
FH@REEKRKEIRFORRE—H  RERERKETLZ
27  Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 1/2016 431
Phase 1: Major Mains in Western New Territories
FHMREEKETREEMNEERSE —H  AABEZKETLRER
28 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, 7/2015 362
Stage 2: Mains on Hong Kong Island North and South West
EHRREEKEIRE_RR - BRI RESHERKE LR
29 Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and 3/2016 361
Repair of Aided Schools, Buildings and Lands and Other Properties
for which the Education Bureau is responsible (Designated
Contract Area: Central and Western, Wan Chai, Eastern,
Southern, Islands and Yau Tsim Mong)
RETEHNE(PAR B  RE - mEE - BESKHKHE) AR
BERABNEIBR - BEY - T REMYFEETRER
mE - ®REREEIRENTEHSL
30 Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the 10/2017 349
Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch)
is responsible (Hong Kong Island and Outlying Islands (South))
BEEVXEBERAENRENREIREHEN(BEEERES (M)
31 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, 12/2015 317
Stage 3: Mains in Tai Po and Sha Tin
FHRREEKEIRE=Z[RR - KERPAKELRE

BANXEEEERAT 2014/15F 5, 31



1 Construction of Open Space in Area 117, Tin Shui Wai
FKEE 17 RIRE A EE T2

2&3 Construction of Kwun Tong Promenade (Stage 2)
EEBESETCE(E2H)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR W T

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year
(continued)

FismEE ()
REAFEERBER2FTETRE (H)

Expected
Completion Attributable
Project Name Date Contract Value
A i
HE AR BRIBH BHEE
(Month/Year) (HKS' Million)
(B %) (B&%ET)
32 Hong Kong Housing Authority — District Term Contract for the 6/2015 292
Maintenance, Improvement and Vacant Flat Refurbishment for
Properties managed by District Maintenance Offices/Kowloon West
and Hong Kong (2) 2011/2014
BEEEEZE® 2011 Z22014FEANEREER (D ERE
WER)RE  HERFEEEMBMH IENIREHEH(Z)
33 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, 12/2015 275
Stage 3: Mains in Tuen Mun and Yuen Long
FRREEKETIZEE =MRER : EPIRITAAKE IR
34  MTR Contract No. KO109-11C — Station Commercial and 6/2015 101
Improvement Works for Fo Tan Station
BEIE AT K0109-11C — NRUATE i K R ek & Ti2
Railway Works &% T2
35 MTR Contract No.830 — Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link 7/2017 526
(Hong Kong Section): Trackwork and Overhead Line System
BEE KR 830 — BRERERE (FER) S EBBRER
Property Development and Investment NEBRRRRE

Revenue from the Group's property development and investment
segment amounted to approximately HK$93.3 million for the Year,
against a combined total of approximately HK$368.7 million for the
previous year. Actual sales from property development were low during
the Year, as most of the Group's property development projects remain
under construction. The Group expects the pipeline of units for sale to
begin from 2016/17. This has involved Chun Wo gradually withdrawing
from property development and investment activities outside its core
focus areas. It has also moved towards a much more partnership-based
property development profile, mitigating the risks associated with the
high level of investment required.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development and Investment (continued)
One example of this strategy during the Year was the Group's acquisition
of a 90% equity interest in China City Construction (Zhuhai) giving it
ownership of the company's principal asset, a block of land located in
Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province, China with a total site area of
approximately 10,000 sg.m.. This will be developed into a commercial
building with an expected total gross floor area of approximately 101,136
sg.m.. Well-situated in a prime business location in the Pearl River Delta
region, the site is close to both Jiuzhou Port and the new Hong Kong-
Zhuhai-Macao Bridge. As transport links improve across the Pearl River
Delta region and business and trade activities increase, demand for Grade
A commercial buildings in the region is expected to rise. Currently,
superstructure construction is in progress. Pre-sale is expected to
commence in the third quarter of 2015. The project completion is
scheduled for the first half of 2016, after which the new building is
expected to contribute cash flow and revenue to the Group.

In December 2014, the Group also acquired a parcel of government land
at Yiu Sha Road, Whitehead, Ma On Shan, Sha Tin, New Territories, Hong
Kong. The acquisition was made by way of a joint venture with China City
Construction Property Company Limited, with Chun Wo having a 10%
interest in the project. The project has a site area of approximately
253,000 sq.ft., and a buildable GFA of approximately 387,500 sq.ft.. It
enjoys a prime geographic location and spectacular views across Tolo
Harbour and Starfish Bay. The Group plans to develop quality low-rise to
mid-rise residential projects with sea views, planning initially to build
about 500 residential units. As for the progress of the project, the
planning application is underway and site formation will commence in the
first quarter of 2016. Pre-sales are expected to commence in mid 2017 at
the earliest, and the project will be completed by the end of 2018. The
development will target buyers who want a high-quality residence and
who place a high priority on a naturally scenic living environment.

During the Year, work continued on the Group's joint venture luxury
development project at Kau To Shan, Shatin, in which it holds a 10%
interest. Site formation is in progress; the site is being developed into a
luxury residential development made up of a mix of houses and
apartments, with a buildable gross floor area of 323,305 sq.ft., and is
expected to be completed by 2018. Meanwhile, the residential
development project in Tseng Choi Street in Tuen Mun is progressing
well; it is hoped to commence pre-sales by mid 2016 and complete the
project by the end of 2017. In addition, the Group's industrial
redevelopment project in Cheung Sha Wan was distributed to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) during the Year
through distribution in specie of the shares of the holding company of
the project company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR W T

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development and Investment (continued)

Proposed Residential Development at STTL 601,
Yiu Sha Road, Whitehead, Ma On Shan, Sha Tin
(Photomontages)

S8 LA RPEPHETHE 0 FEHRIEE
(BIERE)

Proposed Residential and Commercial Composite
Development at TMTL 499, Tseng Choi Street, Tuen Mun
(Architectural Model)

HPIHHER 499 H BT A (TAR & B RIA B (BREER)

In Abu Dhabi, the UAE, the Group began leasing out units in its
completed “Reem Diamond” low-rise residential development project in
April 2074. The development is currently 100% fully leased, and rental
income of approximately HKS$5.70 million was recorded during the Year.
In due course, the Group expects to exit from its involvement in the
Middle East property market.

Chun Wo holds a 40% shareholding interest in the “Grand View Garden”
shopping mall at Hammer Hill Road in Kowloon. This property achieved
rental growth year-on-year of 7%. The Group completed its disposal of
the “Infinity 8" shopping mall in Choi Hung in June 2014, but the gain
arising from this disposal was recorded in the last financial year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Professional Services

The Group's security and property management services subsidiaries
each performed strongly over the Year, contributing almost 10% to
overall revenue and generating approximately HKS15 million in profit.
These subsidiaries, originally set up to support Chun Wo's property
development activities, have acquired significant business profiles in
recent years and have successfully served numerous high-profile clients
around Hong Kong.

New contracts won by this segment during the Year included a security
contract with Caritas Medical Centre and a cleaning contract with the
Tung Wah Group of Hospital's Wong Tai Sin Hospital, both managed by
the Hospital Authority, together with a security and car park
management contract with Harriman Property Management Limited for
‘One Midtown", residential security contracts awarded by MTRC for “The
Arch”, clubhouse management contracts for “Lake Silver” and “The
Waterfront”, and term worker service contract for other MTRC's
investment properties.

In addition, security services were provided for the 49th Hong Kong
Brands and Product Expo for five consecutive years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E AW MDA

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group mainly relies upon internally generated funds as well as bank
and other borrowings to finance its operations and expansion, which is
supplemented by equity funding when it is required.

RO (&)

RBEERMBEER
AEBEHLERERABELEBRENDE
& BOBMERRGEE EARERERNE
TRHEA -

At 31 March 2015, the total net debts of the Group amounted to
approximately HKS$1,339.9 million, representing total debts of
approximately HKS$2,633.0 million less total of pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash of approximately HK$1,293.7 million. The
debt maturity profile based on scheduled repayment dates set out in
loan agreements of the Group at 31 March 2015 is analysed as follows:

MR2015F3A31H  AEBEZFEBHELEN A
1,339,900,0007 7T + Bl & {&E4%58492,633,000,000
BIURECEIFRITFEZARRITESGIIRE A
FE#91,293100,0008 TLAT15 2 & » 7201543
A31R - REEFBEMHB R TERBE K
SEBEEZZBHBESTAET

As at As at
31 March 2015
742015 %

31 March 2014
2014 4F
3H31H

HKS million
BEBIT

3A31H
HKS$ million
BEBTT

Borrowings and obligations under hire purchase
contract and finance leases repayable:

ARTIIHREEEZEE
KREBARKEREHERE

Within one year or on demand —FRIZER 1,932.1 2.004.2
After one year, but within two years —FIREMFA
— On demand shown under current liabilities —IARBBEZE
RERERZED 37.6 18.4
— Remaining balances — A% 24.7 15.8
After two years, but within five years MFEBRERFA
— On demand shown under current liabilities —WAREBEEZIE
RERERZEHD 200.4 26.6
— Remaining balances — fARE 141.7 2438
2,336.5 2,308.8
Unsecured bond payable to a related company FER —MEEEAR 2 BRI ES
— Repayable within one year “R—FARERE 150.0 150.0
Amounts due to other partners of REEFEBEMBEAFIR
joint operations
— Repayable on demand —REREER - 55.0
— Repayable within one year —“R—FREE - 10.0
Convertible bonds AR ES
— Repayable after two years but within “MERERAFAEE
five years 146.5 -
Total debts EE®E 2,633.0 2,523.8

38  chun Wo Development Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014/15




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

At 31 March 2015, the gearing ratio of the Group, being the proportion
of net interest bearing debts to equity attributable to the Shareholders
was 0.85 (31 March 2014: 0.73).

To minimise exposure on foreign exchange fluctuations, the Group’s
borrowings and cash balances are primarily denominated in Hong Kong
dollars or Renminbi which are the same as the functional currency of
the relevant group entity. The Group has no significant exposure to
foreign exchange rate fluctuations and shall use derivative contracts to
hedge against its exposure to currency risk only when it is required.
Furthermore, the Group's borrowings have not been hedged by any
interest rate financial instruments.

The Group's financial position is sound and strong. With available bank
balances and cash and bank credit facilities, the Group has sufficient
liquidity to satisfy its funding requirements.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2015, the Group pledged bank deposits, property, plant
and equipment of approximately HKS$881.2 million to financial
institutions in order to secure the general banking facilities granted to
the Group.

In addition, the Group has pledged its entire equity interest in one of its
wholly-owned subsidiaries to secure the banking facilities granted to the
Group.

Contingent Liabilities
Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in Note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

The Group had approximately 4,620 employees as at 31 March 2015.
Total remuneration of employees for the Year amounted to
approximately HKS$1,318.6 million. Employees are remunerated
according to nature of the job and market trend, with built-in merit
component incorporated in the annual increment to reward and
motivate individual performance. Employee bonus is distributable based
on the performance of the respective subsidiaries and the employees
concerned. Moreover, the Group also provides in-house and external
training programmes which are complementary to certain job functions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B IR E M AT

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Construction

Although the Hong Kong Government's Capital Works Reserve Fund sat
at approximately HKS72.0 billion as at 1 April 2015, the widely publicized
issues related to the blocking of approval for public financing within the
Hong Kong Government in recent months have effectively locked away
much of this money. There has been a massive slowdown in
government tenders due to the unavailability of expected funding
approvals. As a result, a number of projects that were expected to come
up for tender this Year and next have not materialized and remain
unlikely to do so in the short term.

The Group has implemented a number of focused strategies to manage
this external development and ensure it continues to progress at the
pace desired. For instance, Chun Wo is a competitive bidder for new
projects issued by the Hong Kong Housing Authority, for which funding
sources have not been affected by recent political events. Strong
political pressure for Hong Kong to increase its housing supply means
that a good supply of work from this sector is likely to arise in the next
few years, and Chun Wo expects to be a highly competitive bidder for
upcoming tenders in many fields of construction. In addition, private
sector construction work is relatively abundant despite certain cost
pressures associated with this. The Group is actively exploring options
for diversifying its project stream to compensate for the downturn in
Hong Kong Government projects. At the same time, much attention is
being given to exploring ways of controlling costs and increasing
efficiency across operations.

Property Development and Investment

Another way in which the Group is managing the challenges associated
with the reduction in the Hong Kong Government's construction tender
pipeline is by increasing and refining the role of its property
development and investment segment. The Group's new controlling
shareholder, China New Way Investment Limited, is providing it with
important opportunities for development in the fields of property
development and investment. The partnership with B3 B 7B 3 B R
‘AR] (transliterated as China City Construction Development Limited) on
the new Zhuhai project is another key development milestone. The
Group expects this pattern of support to be repeated in the future as the
Group's strategic partners continue to open doors and generate new
business for Chun Wo, providing further momentum for the property
development side of its operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Property Development and Investment (continued)
The Group's refocusing of its property development and investment
activities is currently working itself through. As mentioned above, a
steady pipeline of property development sales is expected to be
established from 2016/17 onwards. In the meantime, the Group is
continuing to adjust its existing portfolio and divest itself of less
important assets. It is also increasingly looking to approach property
development opportunities in joint venture arrangements, in order to
lower risks and reduce the levels of working capital it is required to sink
into each project.

The professional services segment (security and property management)
has gone from strength to strength in recent years, raising the
proportion of its contribution to the Group's bottom line significantly. By
leveraging the capital market and potentially expanding into Mainland
China environment, the Group sees great potential for this segment to
grow in the coming years.

Overview

As a longstanding construction and development company in Hong
Kong with multiple skills and extensive experience, the Group has a
clear vision of how the next phase of its history will unfold. It will
continue to leverage its multi-faceted construction competence, which
includes expertise in buildings, piling, tunnels, stormwater, drainage, and
much more, to maintain its reputation as one of the region's best and
most respected construction companies. In the short term, the Group
holds a decent-sized backlog of construction projects going through to
completion, while some will run ahead into 2017 and 2018 in some
cases. At the same time, input from its new shareholders looks set to
unlock opportunities in the wider region which will enable the Group to
continue working at full stretch despite the anticipated slowdown in
government tenders. The Group has also made corporate changes that
are improving its cost efficiencies further, and its increasing
involvement in joint venture projects is enabling it to mitigate risks
associated with the industry. Given all these advantages, it is optimistic
that the Group will be able to maintain its annual 10% growth in net
profit target for the coming financial year.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

TERAGE RS

INTRODUCTION

The recent introduction of an Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited is a
demonstration of mounting stakeholder interests in environmental,
social and governance disclosure. Within our industry, there is an
increasing focus on corporate social responsibility (‘CSR") performance,
particularly in the aspects of health and safety, sustainable development
and community impact. We have a strong belief that our business does
not operate in isolation. Employees, suppliers, clients, the environment
and the general community are all affected by the ways and means that
the Group's business is transacted.

During the Year, the Group has been committed to a high standard of
CSR and four key subject areas for reporting are: (1) Workplace Quality,
(1) Environmental Protection, (I1l) Operating Practices and (IV)
Community Involvement.

() WORKPLACE QUALITY

Our People

As at 31 March 2015, the Group has approximately 4,620
employees with a majority stationed in Hong Kong. We recognize
that employees are valuable assets of the Group and are
committed to the philosophy of investing in people by providing a
range of training courses and workshops in order to enhance their
professional skills and knowledge. We are also committed to
maintaining a safe and health working environment for all
employees and site staff and to implementing non-discriminatory
equal opportunity employment practices.

Statistics in relation to employment and staff
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT
TrEHESETRE

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) ()
Statistics in relation to employment and staff
training (continued)

TERREER ()
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Average Training Hours Completed per Employee Employee Turnover Rate
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Working Conditions THEER
To attract, motivate and retain talented employees, the Group BRal HE RIEE AL - ANEETHR

regularly reviews the compensation and benefits programs to
ensure that those benefits are competitive in the market. An
annual review is conducted to align pay packages of employees
and other benefits, which include a medical scheme, a health
check program, travelling insurance, training subsidies and
retirement benefits in line with prevailing market conditions.

Development and Training

Chun Wo's initiatives apply to all levels of staff. We have offered
training sponsorship to all staff members to encourage self-
improvement in a learning organization since 2005. Employees

AP AR A 8 MR EFRAED S
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REEH) BERTIRER
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may be provided with in-house training or enroll in external 2R EEE AN EFFIRE - BIEH
training courses including seminars, workshops, visits and g I{EY - ERRTEED - FERFA
demonstrations in order to upgrade their skills and/or knowledge HEBITRIS TR R AH -

required to perform their duties.

— Scholarships are offered by the Chun Wo Charitable —  RR2005FKZMEMESE SRS
Foundation which was established in 2005; RHES
— In-house training and development programs provide an - ABBIIREERAZRMTEAEE

opportunity for a integrated learning and career
development path;
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT
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(I) WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) )

44

Development and Training (continued)
—  Chun Wo offers training sponsorship to all staff members to
encourage self-improvement in a learning organization;

—  Chun Wo has been certified by The Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers as a Scheme A approved organization in civil,
building and building services disciplines since 1999; and

—  Chun Wo offers internal career development and mentoring
opportunities for key staff through ‘Core Members' and 'Elite
Training' Programs.

In 2013, Chun Wo Group received the “HKMA Award for Excellence
in Training and Development” (Development Category — Gold
Award) for its “Elite Program” for engineering graduates.

This seven-year training program is a pioneer in the |ndustry with
a training system in specific technologies,
management skills and personal development.
The Group has also established other staff
training programs such as the “Technical
Mentoring Program,” the “Site Agent
Development Program,” and the “Direct Labour
Scheme" to enhance the safety knowledge and
technical skills of frontline staff.

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014/15
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Development and Training (continued)
In the same year, Chun Wo is proud to have been
awarded an 'ERB Manpower Developer’ award
under the 'ERB Manpower Developer Award
Scheme' organized by the Employees Retaining
Board (ERB). It is an acknowledgement of Chun
Wo's efforts and accomplishments in manpower
training and development.

¥
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Besides, the Group has also been accredited with
the "Happy Company” label in 2013-2015,
reflecting the Group's strong support in realizing
the concept of "Happiness at Work.” Chun Wo has
also committed itself to build a pleasant working
environment and enhance our staff's happiness at
work.

,'v

Employee Health and Safety

Chun Wo demonstrates compliance with health and safety
standards by integrating internationally-recognized 1SO 9000,
14001 and OHSAS 18001 certifications into our quality,
environmental and safety management systems respectively.
Through such a system, each individual and team brings unique
elements to comply with statutory requirements and achieve the
ultimate goal of continuous improvement.

Plan 37 &l

To ensure compliance of our operations, we have introduced a
safety audit system to monitor the effectiveness of implementing
our safety management system. In 2074, the corporate average
safety audit score was 86.6%, exceeding the target of 85%.

A series of measures have also been introduced at various works
sites to protect the health and safety of workers. These include
mini-health check stations, heat shelters and water sprinklers on
roof tops to dissipate heat gain.
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BEAN - AR TR 2013 £ 201 55 AR 5
DERITE  RRAEEARNFERH
D TER HIRR » EMIRBI R R
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BEREREZR

& 45> Bl % BB 52 7] #91S0 9000 ~ 14007
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Employee Health and Safety (continued)
For the year 2014, the Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) of Chun Wo
was 0.09 per 100,000 man-hours, which is lower than our safety
target set at the beginning of the year, i.e, AFR < 0.23. This is an
excellent outcome and continues the trend of a declining AFR of
the Group since 2009.

() IERFEZE(E)
BEEREREZZ (&)
B MR2014F 2 BINKR B00IRE I,
TEIN 2ERARMAREVIINLE
BE(EIER<023)  ERETEESR
TNEEAREE B 2000 F AR B INRIFE M
THIES -

AFR
BONKR 2014 Target <0.23
= 20145 B 18<0.23
03f %2
0.24
0.2 0.18 016
01 0.09
0 LYear
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 FE

In the Year, all safety indicators were in line with our objectives,
underscoring our determination and achievements in construction
site safety.

Fatality SE.T- A%k

Safety-related Conviction £2% % 75 B3R iE SE

Audit Score Ei% 5 &

Accident Severity Rate (Average man-days lost per case)
REBEIBREX(FHEREREBLIR)

To more actively promote safety across the organization, during
the Year, a range of safety activities were organized, including
safety workshops, special safety seminars, and community
activities. Through these activities, all participants managed to
increase their awareness and knowledge of occupational safety,
as well as exchanged ideas, thereby promoting the safety culture
within our Group.
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TEAEETRE

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () IEREEZEE)
Employee Health and Safety (continued) EERERZZ (&)
During the Year, the Group garnered some 36 safety awards, REBRAFENBEL AL 4HIE -
which affirmed our contribution to industrial safety. Furthermore, ARBRMETIELZE2 T ENERESSTE -
Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited has PEON - ERBRETIZER AT A ERIE
received two industry honors: the “Operational Device Category — HERNKE - DRIA0148|IETRL 28
Gold Award" at the Innovative Safety Initiative Award 2014 and the ERIEER — @R RE_TEAEMA
“Public Works Site — New Works (Gold Award) within the 20th SR IR - HEIREsE)] -

Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme.

Safety Awards ZERRE
The Group is honored to have received some of the following AEERAFELEZ 2 REREED
safety and health awards in the Year: D
1. Innovative Safety Initiative Award 2014 1. 2014AIEIRLZ2%E
Development Bureau and Hong Kong Construction Association LRBEBBREEET
Operational Device Category (Gold Award) — Radio . BEREEN(£8E) — &R
Frequency Identification (RFID) ST BRI Z 4T
Operational Device Category (Bronze Award) — Double . BERMEER () - &5
Latch for Lifting Hook i AR 8

20|431EIE§%§

Innavative Safety nitiative Award
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Employee Health and Safety (continued)

() THBSE®EE )
BERERETZ (&)

2. 20th Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme 2. BTt ERXEHBEFE
Development Bureau BRE
Public Works Site — New Works (Gold and Merit . THIE - IR (&8K

Awards)
Model Worker (Gold and Merit Awards)
Model Frontline Supervisor (Gold & Merit Awards)

Non-public Works Site — New Works (Merit Awards)

CCSA (New Works) (Merit Award)

BRE)
BHETA(RERERE)
BRHEARTHET(SRRE

£1%)

EIBIR —FRIR(ER
%)

REHBE(HETR) (BR
%)

3. Construction Industry Safety Award Scheme 2013-2014
Labour Department
Renovation and Maintenance Works
(Meritorious Prize)
Safety Team (Meritorious Prize)
Safety Worker Certificate

3. BEFLPEEE2013-2014

BT
KiEh#ieTR2(BER)
Z2MHh(RELE)
LETIRESE
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () IFRBEE(E)
Employee Health and Safety (continued) EERERZZ (H)
4.  13th Hong Kong Occupational Safety & Health Award 4. FE1ZEEBBFELZEIREALE
Occupational Safety & Health Council BEZ2HEERD
Safety Management System Award (Sliver Award) 23 B HIE K4 (R 4E)
Safety Performance Awards . LR R AL
Work Safe Behaviour Award (Bronze Award) . THELRITRANE(EREE)
OSH Annual Report Award (Merit Award) . BL@FRAE(BRRE)

5. Occupational Health Award 2013-14
Occupational Safety & Health Council
Hearing Conservation Best Practices
Award (Excellence Award)

5. BFEREAE2013-14

BEZZ2RER
REBREAR(FHRAKNE)
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) (N IHERBEE(E)
Employee Health and Safety (continued) EERERZZ (&) :
6.  Construction Safety Promotional Campaign 2014 6. BEEXEZPHETE2014

Occupational Safety & Health Council BEZ2RER
. Best Safe Working Cycle Site (Bronze Award) RELEHEIEFME (1)
Best Safety Culture Site (Bronze Award) . SELZE AR ($758)
Best Safety Culture Project Manager/Site Agent . REZEXIERLRE g
(Bronze Award) g (%)
Best Safety Culture Activity Team (Bronze Award) . BELEXLES)/ME (875E) :
Best Safety Culture Sub-contractor (Bronze Award) . RER2bH HE (H15)
Qutstanding Bamboo Scaffolder in Occupational . BRI (EE5)
Safety and Health (Merit Award)
Outstanding Metal Scaffolder in Occupational Safety . B BME T (i)
and Health (Bronze Award)
Best Performance Award (Silver Award) . RERRE(RE)

7.  Construction Sites Housekeeping Award Scheme (2013)
Drainage Services Department
The Grand Award
The Best Construction Sites (Housekeeping Awards)

7. IHEEEMHE(2013)

BEEAE
RETHERE
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TrREGEERS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Employee Health and Safety (continued)
8.  MTRC Projects Division Quality, Safety, Environmental and
Stakeholder Engagement Awards Presentation Ceremony
MTRC
Quality, Environmental and Stakeholder Engagement
Award (Sliver Award)
Contractor's Supervisor Safety Award (1st Runner-up)

() IfFRBEZE(E)

Jivision
ty Awards Pres

entation Ceremony

Contractors Salet

Gold Safety Award for Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong
Kong Express Rail Link Project

Outstanding Safety Performance in Guangzhou-
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link Project

One Million Working Hours without a Lost Time Injury
Outstanding Performance in Safety Management
Outstanding Performance in Achieving the Lowest
RAFR for West Island Line Project

Contractors’ Supervisor Safety Award — Winner

EBERERZZ (&)
8 BETREARE %2 RREABEHEHEER
B
mE TR RREABELRERE)
ARELTEETR(RE)
9.  Projects Quality, Safety, Environmental and Stakeholder 9. IREHRE %2 RREBEH
Engagement Awards B2
MTRC S
Gold Stakeholder Engagement Award izt R e 5
Outstanding Performance in their DNV Safety Audit for DNVEZ2HZAELRIRE — &
Kwun Tong Line Extension Project FERRIERIER
Outstanding Performance in Achieving the Lowest EEHEQE' RERERGEHRIRE —
RAFR for Kwun Tong Line Extension Project BliERICRIER

2R - BERESRHR
EH

REZE2RBEE - BRERRE
HKIER
—HBIRTEIME
REEEG KRB R
RE2REBEAEHRRE —
B S4EIEA
AEETRETH(KE)

| _MBEiHESR ‘
Mmr: Jnm:um muu n r:.umwun
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THBEEEE)
Employee Health and Safety (continued) EERERZZ (E)
10. The Lighthouse Club 10. HHEE
Safety Award TR K
. Safe Subcontractor Award 2014 . ZE2 7 HIEE2014
—  Recognizing Excellence in Safety (Sliver Award) - BHETERF(ER)
—  Recognizing Excellence in Safety (Merit Award) - BHTERE(BER)
Safe Foreman Award 2014 . ZEETH2014
—  Recognizing Excellence in Safety - BEMTERF(LH)
(1st Runner-Up) . L2 T21EE B 4€2014
Safe Project Team Award 2014 - EURERF(IRE)
—  Recognizing Excellence in Safety (Bronze Award) - BHTERRY(BER)

—  Recognizing Excellence in Safety (Merit Award)
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () IHEREEZ(E)
Safety Activities ZREE
To more actively promote safety across the organization, during RENERESEE 222 B 2014
2014 a range of safety activities were organized, including safety FRRTRERDEY - BELEIFEY -
workshops, special safety seminars, and community activities. Rl 2 kit EES -
Through these activities all participants managed to increase their Bid EAUES) - FTE2INE A S
awareness and knowledge of occupational safety, as well as ¥T2HNEHBMAE URSHEER  ®
exchanged ideas, thereby promoting the safety culture within our MEAEERNEH L 2L -
Group.

Zero Accident Flag Presentation Ceremony
TEIMRTELAIE

" 5=

LRiEE2014 BIEIFIESE

SAFETY CAMPAIGN 2014 LIFTING OPERATIONS SAFETY

2 A% K

Construction Safety Week Conference — Workers'
Health and Safety Leadership
BEERPEWRNE - IREREZEESE

E fé ‘#é % 2 [0 14

Construction Safety Week Conference Bl &4 @

TR RSN I o
-aand Safety Leadership L v .

Safety Campaign 2014 Lifting Operations Safety
EB2014RERELE

HKCA Lunch Box Safety Talk 2014
ERRERSTRERZ2HE2014
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) (N IHERBEE(E)

Labour Standards

The health and safety of each employee is of paramount
importance to the Group. Senior management places a strong
emphasis on the safety of all employees and the public. Towards
this end, the Group has established an effective occupational
health and safety management system conforming to the
F&IU(SM) Regulation and OHSAS 18001:2007 requirements,
guidelines for which are stated in the Group's safety policy.

Our vision is to fulfill the health, safety and environmental
protection regulatory requirements as well as the provision of a
safe hazard-free workplace. Therefore, it is the responsibility of all
employees to support and comply with the systems, policies,
manuals, procedures and working rules such as wearing personal
protective equipment and reporting any incidents in violation of
regulatory requirements or orders.

Employees shall be obligated to follow the Company’s policies
including but not limited to the following:

1. Avoidance of Violence in the Workplace

2. Avoidance of Sexual Harassment and Discrimination
3. AnAlcohol- and Drug-Free Workplace

4. A Non-Smoking Workplace

5. Immediate Reporting of Accidents

6.  Familiarity with Fire Prevention and Safety Working
Procedures

7. Special Arrangement for Typhoons and Heavy Rainstorm
Warnings

8. Confidentiality of Group Data, Information and Documents
9. Security of Property and Security Inspection

10. Personal Morality and General Practices

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014/15
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(1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

As a responsible corporate citizen, Chun Wo has established
policies to minimize pollution, efficiently utilize energy, reduce
waste and expand recycling. The Group has established effective
environmental management systems in compliance with globally
recognized 1ISO14001 and ISO 50001 standards. We are members
of HKGBC, BEC, and WWF, and actively support and adhere to the

TEASEERE

000 0 0000 00000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000a

() RERE

EEAETMNREAR - BMEHIETEER -
BERKSE  BRERER - BER R
BABIRBE ASEEERBREERTN
ISO14001 % 1SO 5000112 % » & 37 A %Y
RERERERERS  WEKABAHLE
BEEZe BARKRHBERUEREARAES

e®® 0000000000000 000000000000000000000 00000000 o0,
.

) © 0000 0000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000 00,
.

core values of the Group. eZel  LURGHREIAEENELER
A 2K R -
" ‘ BUSINESS -
ENVIRONMENT (@]
‘ COUNCIL %
af mmazine HKGBC
' CORPORATE 5 sEREREMS |
MEMBER 2015 % MHR‘ghﬂEmmlRon

090 00 000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000004

RBLBERES  HMEBEEARNES - &
MIBAEEEEDDREIE  TERW
/)l__slj: Eﬁﬁqﬁ/tt/‘%:ﬁi&ﬁnnﬁvi?;ﬁ- ’ @@G‘E
EEMEENERGER - BREY - flmE

Waste Management Hierarchy has been adopted on site to reduce
waste production. Reusable wastes such as earth, broken
concrete and temporary works are reused at other construction
sites. Plastic wastes of expired safety helmest, damaged water

barriers and traffic cones are recycled as plastic granules at HHZ2EE  BENZBER  JEKE
EcoPark. Pressure on landfill disposal has been reduced through [B5% - BRARREBIRBEKBRIRE

these measures.

Reuse of Materials

ERMH

-

Treatment

B
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(I) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued)

56

Infrequent hazardous waste (e.g., asbestos), which contributed to
less than 0.001% of total waste generated, has been separated
and treated in accordance with local regulations.

The Group has implemented the following initiatives to more
effectively manage resources and utilize energy:

Promote and manage fuel and electricity consumption

Phase out traditional T8 tubes substituting energy-saving T5
fluorescence tubes and LED lights

Use of Lighting Management System (LMS) to control power
voltage for saving energy

Wastewater after sedimentation treatment resued for site
cleaning, water suppression system, wheel washing at site
access, and water barrier filling etc

Recycling water reuse for preliminary air lifting of bore piles

Water dripping from air-conditioners is reused for roof
sprinkler cooling systems and watering of plants

We are committed to incorporate best environmental
management practices into construction sites. Other than
implementation of environmental and energy management
systems and efficient use of resources, alternative designs are
also developed to reduce consumption of resources with an
accompanying decrease in greenhouse gas emissions. The
original design of the water storage tank at Happy Valley
Underground Stormwater Storage Scheme employed Pre-Bored
H-Piles foundation, using 533 H-Piles, with each pile about 60m
long. The project team successfully developed an innovative
alternative design of the Raft Foundation and Groundwater
Pumping System greatly reducing the piling works and saving
about 6,000 tons of steel and 5,000m?® of concrete. The
Groundwater Pumping System also facilitates re-use of grey water
for irrigation and toilet flushing at Happy Valley Recreational Park,
saving 220,000m? of potable water per year.
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(I) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued)

We started a carbon audit of our head office in 2014 to set up our
emission base line. Meanwhile, Eco-Friendly Actions, such as
paperless meetings, switched off lighting and appliances
(computer and monitors) during lunch hours, and maintaining
room temperature at 24.5°C, were introduced in the office to
reduce our energy consumption and carbon emissions. The
Actions were initiated in April 2074, and electricity consumption
was decreased more than 7.5% up to the end of March 2015.

TEAEETRE

() RERE (E)

HIFIR 2014 F Rt B ETIRE
T BEERSHREERER AR HEE
I ZTERRIER - FINERLEE:
TRERREEMRE EREESE  URE
TERREAENER 245 BRI RE
FBER R AR BEIR - XS HER 2014 4 A
# o HE205F3AKBEEC MR
B7.5% o

Alternative design for foundations proposed by Chun Wo was adopted at Happy Valley Underground Stormwater Storage System
which saved 6,000 tonnes steel and 5,000m® concrete at the construction stage, and 220,000 m?® of portable waste per year in the

operational stage/year portable water

155 b3t T B AT ISR AR AR A B — T AL R AT - OIREEME BRENE T 6,000 MEEH #1 K 5,000 3275 KORKEL - W AN L EE R T FED

% 220,000 3277 KA K
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(I) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) () BEFRE ()
The Group's efforts in contributing to environmental protection AEBR AT B FEERE TIRREE -
have been recognized by the community, and have been honored HRRIENEEMEILSETE -

with the following environmental awards in the financial year.

Sectoral Awards of the Hong Kong Award for Environmental ERBESHARAR S — 2iE%E

Excellence (HKAEE) — Construction Industry

. Silver Award and Certificate Merit . RERERRE

Green Management Award (Corporation) — Project EBRREES 2014 FHRRAEEE (D F)
Management by the Hong Kong Green Council (HKGC), 2014 —HEERE

. Silver and Bronze Awards . R I S 5%

20th Considerate Contractors Site Awards, Development Bureau ZERE=-T+EAEBEFTE

. Outstanding Environmental Management & Performance . BRERIZEERR R
Silver Award

2014 Construction Innovative Environmental Award by the Hong FEZEF 220142 EXBRAIZAE
Kong Construction Association

. Merit Award . BRE

Green Building Award 2014 by the Hong Kong Green ERRCERZERRER KK 2014
Building Council

Building Completed [E5-30% ¢4

. Merit Award . BRERER

Building under Construction g

¢ Merit Award - EER

WasteWiSe Scheme by the Hong Kong Productivity Council

. Gold Award . &€
. Classes of Excellence . S4B

(1l1) OPERATING PRACTICES () &EEH
Supply Chain Management HEgEEE
We recognise that supply chain management is essential to HMTER HEREERDREAEERET
operational efficiency, and therefore we work closely with AT SRR A — IR - AP B KA
suppliers and contractors to meet our customers' needs in an EEREE B RUITZBERRSHER
effective and efficient manner, while emphasizing responsible FROEEFPHFR  ARERROEE

operating practices.
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Supply Chain Management (continued)

We are stringent in selecting qualified suppliers to ensure that
their whole production process is in line with our standards and
specifications. Not only do we require our new suppliers to submit
all relevant documents for review, we also run background checks
to evaluate their reliability. We conduct regular inspections and
evaluations to review the standards of our suppliers and cease
cooperation with unqualified suppliers. We are committed to
developing and maintaining effective and mutually fruitful working
relationships throughout our entire supply chain.

Product/Service Responsibility

We recognize good customer relationships and after-sales
services are keys to the success and sustainability of a
corporation. Following this belief, the Group has established a
Quality Management System with the implementation of reliable
business teams such that the compliance of our products and
services quality can be realized and the handling of any queries
from our customers can be more efficient.

The business heads of individual units will discuss any particular
incident related to our products or services with relevant
managers, supporting departments and committees to share
views regarding various aspects of good standards or statutory
compliance. Corresponding improvements will be established and
implemented throughout all levels. Senior management also
regularly conducts reviews with business units and takes
necessary precautionary measures whenever applicable.

We also keep reliable electronic and hard copy recording systems
in various stages of work including material delivery notes, origin
certificates, method statements, traceability records, inspection
and testing reports, etc. to facilitate any needs for a recall. Recall
procedures are traced through our recording system to get
relevant information to decide any further action that may be
necessary.

Data Protection and Privacy Policies

All employees are prohibited from disclosing any confidential
information such as customer data under our privacy protection
policy. Consumer data including project-related information and
other sensitive information is subject to access rights controls to
ensure its security and prevent any abuse or misuse.
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TEAEETRS

(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Anti-corruption

The Group believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are
important contributors to the value of the assets of the Group in
business. It is therefore important for all employees to ensure that
the Group's reputation is not tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or
corruption.

All employees should decline an offer of a gift if acceptance of it
could affect their objectivity in conducting the Group's business,
induce them to act against the interest of the Group or lead to
allegations of impropriety. If an employee wishes to accept a gift
with the amount greater than the maximum limit as stated in our
Human Resources Policy, he/she should seek permission in
writing from the managing director of the particular subsidiary or
the Group. Any employee in breach of the code of conduct in the
Staff Handbook will be subject to disciplinary action including
termination of employment.

Periodic written reminders will be sent to the business partners/
suppliers about the Company's policy regarding “No Acceptance
of Advantages.”

Conflicts of Interests

All employees should avoid any situation which may lead to an
actual or perceived conflict of interest, and should make a
declaration in writing to the managing director of the subsidiary or
the Group when such a situation arises. Failure to do so may give
rise to criticism of favoritism, abuse of authority or even
allegations of corruption.

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

60

Chun Wo has been passionate about contributing to the
community in which we operate. We treasure the opportunities to
engage with the stakeholders whose lives are impacted by our
work. It is believed that through community involvement, we can
understand more about the stakeholders’ needs and manage our
construction projects in harmony with the community for the
betterment of the people in Hong Kong. The Group has adopted a
wide diversity of ways to increase our involvement in the
community.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

Achieving harmony in the community

Chun Wo has made consistent efforts in the “Harmony
Community Program” to foster stronger ties with the local
community and minimizing the adverse impact of our
construction projects. Through this program our staff stationed at
the project sites in the 18 districts of Hong Kong serve the
community by participating in a broad range of volunteering
projects so as to extend our reach to the people in need and
improve the living environment in the districts. Thus, the Group
has greatly strengthened communication with various
stakeholders at its many project sites throughout Hong Kong's 18
districts during the Year.

A number of activities demonstrate our strong dedication to
community involvement. For example, in collaboration with the
Housing Authority, our staff members at the Home Ownership
Scheme Project at Wang Yip Street West, Yuen Long, have
engaged in the decoration work for hoarding to beautify the living
environment with some primary school students from Yuen Long
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. In addition, the workers and Project Managers

from our project of Building Services for the Kennedy Town MTR Station expressed their care to the single and poor
elderly living in Kennedy Town. Our staff from Liantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point Site Formation and
Infrastructure Works showed strong enthusiasm in repairing the pedestrian crosswalk at Nam Wah Po to enable
easier gravesite visits, beautifying the nearby temple and regularly visiting the home for the elderly there.
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Under our “Harmony Community Program”, about 350 employees
have participated in more than 45 social enterprise events. Our
staff from all the districts of Hong Kong have taken an active role
in joining the activities, enabling us to work together with various
NGOs and government departments to interact with the
community for the betterment of Hong Kong. Nearly 2,500 people
in the local community have benefited from this meaningful
program.
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TEAEETRS

----------------------------------------------------------

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT
(continued)
“Love in Art — Building
Strength, Sharing Dream”
The Group has collaborated with St.
James' Settlement to organize a “Love
in Art — Building Strength, Sharing
Dream” program with the support of
volunteers and a HKS300,000 donation.
It aims to benefit the children with
special learning needs or the children
from low-income families. Through the activities, we also intend to strengthen the ties between the two generations
— children and the elderly.
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A series of interesting and meaningful activities
have been organized, such as “Joining
Upcycling Workshops” to create artwork with
recycled materials through our Chun Wo
volunteers to beautify the elderly’s homes and
visiting scenic spots as The Hong Kong
International Airport Terminal Two and the
Peak where Chun Wo is the main contractor,
Our engineers have helped with the program by
introducing relevant construction methods.

Through a range of activities and collaboration
with a number of organizations, this highly meaningful program has cultivated children’s artistic potential,
strengthened their self-esteem, raised their awareness about environmental protection, and developed their
knowledge and interest in the construction industry. Most importantly, they showed the care of the Group for the
elderly. Our staff, the children and the elderly involved all expressed their joyfulness and satisfaction after joining this
program.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

Donating to Charity

Chun Wo understands that charity plays a key part in providing
assistance and help for the needy in society. Monetary support has
been offered for a number of worthy causes. In this financial year,
the Group has donated and sponsored over HK$1,000,000 to
various charitable and professional organizations in Hong Kong.
The beneficiaries included The Community Chest of Hong Kong,
Oxfam Hong Kong, Habitat for Humanity China, Youth Outreach and
the Funds operated for the construction industry, including The
Lighthouse Club Hong Kong Benevolent Fund, Construction Charity
Fund, etc.
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(V)

Scholarship to Students & Industry Members
Aware of the importance of supporting the local students and the
professional growth of the members in the construction industry,
Chun Wo has demonstrated its concern and provided numerous
scholarships to the relevant institutions, including The University
of Hong Kong, The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology, Vocational Training Council, Construction Industry
Council, and “Future Stars — Upward Mobility Scholarship”
programme launched by Commission on Poverty of Hong Kong
Government, etc.

Caring Company

With the nominations from St. James' Settlement, Habitat for
Humanity in Hong Kong, HKYWCA, Senior Citizen Home Safety
Association, Caritas and Youth Outreach, Chun Wo is proud to
have been awarded the 10 Years Plus Caring
Company Award for 2014/2015. This is the tenth
consecutive year that the Group has earned this
recognition. Chun Wo was vetted for its endeavors
in volunteering, being employee-friendly, caring for
the environment and mentoring its employees. As
we realize the importance of extending our reach to the
community, we have been showing our care to the people in need.
Having garnered this award is a milestone as well as motivation
for us to continue with our consistent efforts in community
involvement.
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Hong Kong Corporate Citizenship BEBLENR
Chun Wo was awarded the "Hong Kong Corporate Citizenship” MR 20145F12 AEBEEBEELELAR]
logo in December, 2014. This program aims at Bk BACELARFEARRE
encouraging corporations in Hong Kong to . HEAEBCEBRIFLELAR
integrate good corporate citizenship concepts H ( _ AN BomARERZEFR  DE
into their business operations and promote 2 _ l = \E‘@iﬁﬂ%iﬁﬁ’ﬂﬂ FEERE -
sustainability of the economy and Drive for Corporate Citizenship ==t Z@ZHE T TAEBENRHEE
environment. This logo is the recognition of eRaru U THIERMEECEMER
the Group and our colleagues’ continuous efforts in pursuing the ERHERHNE T -
right direction for CSR.

THE FUTURE KRR B A

Chun Wo Group for its part recognizes the importance of CSR and EFEESECEH@EXENEEN - AETE

strives to improve its performance in this area going forward. BORAEEN T EARE -

Some initiatives already identified for implementation in the future  BEHEBNIEHRBEEEOESIEHERIE
include the following:

— Introducing guidelines requiring suppliers to comply with =  #EHEIIEREEFETAHEREER
sustainable environmental practices;

—  Enhancing the Occupational Health & Safety standards; - IR EREENT R

—  Continuing to ensure a positive contribution to good CSR  — #EmERgEMEEENRERKRME - &
practices commencing from the tendering stage of each project; REFCEMASEERRELHERER &
and

—  Continuing compliance with human rights, anti-discriminationand — TEE&EERE > TEEHEFNE D EHE
anti-corruption practices, not only internally but in our relations WEER  BEEFTAE REBEKRE
and transactions with suppliers and subcontractors. VIR e

Chun Wo Group will regularly review this Corporate Social Responsibility (EMEE S FHeTHMEL S EHE  #
Policy to ensure our CSR initiatives and performance address the needs (R E (> ¥t & & (1 1 2 R I AL 47 T T 2L 1)
of society in the changing environment. BREREEHERE -
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEEEIEAEBEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

XU JIANHUA, JERRY Co-Chairman

Aged 46. Obtained Bachelor's degree in Law from the China University
of Political Science and Law, a Master degree in Business
Administration from Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics
and a Master of Laws degree in International Economic Law from City
University of Hong Kong. He was qualified as a lawyer in the People's
Republic of China (“PRC") in 1994 and a senior economist in the PRC in
2003. He has over 10 years of human resources management
experience and over 10 years of corporate management and investment
and financing experience in the science technology industry. He was a
director of a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and two
companies listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He has been appointed as Co-
Chairman and Executive Director of the Company in January 2015 and
holds several directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group.

IR DR. PANG YAT BOND, DERRICK BSc, MEng, MBA, PhD, MICE, PE(US)
Deputy Chairman

Aged 40. Graduated from the University of California, Berkeley in 1997
with a Bachelor of Science degree and obtained a Master of Engineering
degree in Civil and Environmental Engineering from Massachusetts
Institute of Technology in 1998 and a Master degree in Business
Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2007. He
also obtained a Doctor of Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in 2014. He is a member of
the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom and the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers and a Registered Professional Engineer in
the State of California, U.S.A. He has over 15 years of geotechnical
design and construction experience in United States of America and
Hong Kong. He has been appointed as a non-official member of the
Land and Development Advisory Committee for a three-year term from
1 July 2015. He has joined the Group in 2001 and holds several
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group. He has been
appointed as Deputy Chairman and Executive Director of the Company
since April 2070 and is also the Chairman of the Management
Committee and a member of the Executive Committee of the Company.
He is the brother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the Co-Chairman of the
Company, and also the son of Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina, one of the
senior management of the Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

KWOK YUK CHIU, CLEMENT BSc(CEng), MICE, MHKIE, RSE, RPE Managing
Director

Aged 62. Graduated from The University of Hong Kong in 1974 with a
Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and is a Registered Structural
Engineer. He has joined the Group in 1981 and has over 41 years'
experience in the construction industry. He has been appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in July 1992 and Managing Director
of the Company in February 1999. He holds several directorships in
certain subsidiaries of the Group and is also the Chairman of the
Executive Committee and a member of the Management Committee of
the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

PANG YAT TING, DOMINIC BA, MBA, JD Co-Chairman

Aged 42. Graduated from the University of Columbia, New York in 1995
with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, Political Science and
Mathematics, received Juris Doctorate from the New York University
School of Law in 1998 and a Master degree in Business Administration
from Kellogg-HKUST in 2010. After working at a well-known law firm for
2 years in Wall Street, New York, he moved on to set up three IT
systems and solutions companies. He has joined the Group in 2003 and
was appointed as Assistant to the late Chairman, Dr. Pang Kam Chun.
He holds several directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group and
is in charge of evaluating new business opportunities, and management
of the Group's property development ventures local and abroad. He has
been appointed as Chairman and Executive Director of the Company in
April 2070 and re-designated as Co-Chairman and Non-Executive
Director of the Company in January 2015. He is also the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Management
Committee and the Executive Committee of the Company. He is the
brother of Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Deputy Chairman of the
Company, and also the son of Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina, one of the
senior management of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

ZHANG XIAOLIANG

Aged 47. Graduated from Jilin University of Technology in 1988. He has
over 15 years of investment and corporate management experience. He
is the legal representative of &I TTERERIE & B A A (transliterated
as Shenzhen Huilongyuan Investment Co., Ltd.) and SR ELZ E X B
‘A Al (transliterated as Shenzhen Jinan Industrial Co., Ltd.). He has been
appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company in February 2015.

CHOW WING KIN, ANTHONY SBS, JP

Aged 65. He is a solicitor admitted to practice in Hong Kong and
England and Wales. He has been a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong for
over 34 years and is currently the Senior Partner of the law firm Messrs.
Peter C. Wong, Chow & Chow in association with Guantao Law Firm
(Hong Kong). He is a China Appointed Attesting Officer, and an arbitrator
of the South China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission/Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration. He is currently
the deputy chairman of the board of stewards of The Hong Kong Jockey
Club. He is also an Independent Non-executive Director of The Link Real
Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 00823) and Fountain Set
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 00420), a Non-executive Director of
Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited (stock code: 01170), all of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is the former
president of The Law Society of Hong Kong and the former chairman of
the process review panel for the Securities and Futures Commission.
He has been appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company in
February 2015 and is also a member of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHAN STEPHEN YIN WAI

Aged 52. Obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering
from Columbia University, New York. He obtained his accounting
qualification from The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 20 years of experience in the fields of
accounting, investment banking, corporate financial management, fund
raising and property fund management. He held senior management
role with regional responsibilities for a major investment bank. He was
also a Managing Director of Macquarie Real Estate Asia Limited and
Head of Acquisitions Greater China for LaSalle Investment
Management.

In addition, he served as a board director of Shanghai Dajiang Food
Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600695), which is listed on The Shanghai
Stock Exchange. He was elected by a panel consisting of Bloomberg,
Fortune Magazine China, and China Business Network to receive the
“Top Ten Outstanding Financial Professionals in Promoting the Growth
of the China Real Estate Industry Award” in 2007. He has been
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
February 2015 and is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

KWAN RINGO CHEUKKAI

Aged 45. Obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in business-economics
with a minor in accounting from the University of California, Los Angeles
with honors in 1996 and a Master degree in Business Administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2008. He has over 17
years of experience in corporate finance and investment banking and
worked in a number of investment banks in Hong Kong. He is currently
the Head of Investment Banking in KGI Capital Asia Limited, being a
registered license holder to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities) and
Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). He has been appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in February 2015 and is also the Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

WU WILLIAM WAI LEUNG

Aged 48. Obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration degree and a
Master of Business Administration degree from Simon Fraser University
in Canada. He was qualified as a chartered financial analyst of The
Institute of Chartered Financial Analysts in 1996. He was appointed as
executive director and chief executive officer of RHB Holdings Hong
Kong Limited (formerly known as OSK Holdings Hong Kong Limited) on
1 April 2011. Prior to that, he was chief executive officer of Sunwah
Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (stock code: 00188) (formerly known
as SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited) from April 2006 to
September 2010. He previously worked for a number of international
investment banks and possesses over 20 years of experience in the
investment banking, capital markets, institutional broking and direct
investment businesses. He is currently being a registered license holder
to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities)
and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). He was appointed as a member of the Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference in January 2013. He has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in February 2015
and is also a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHAN SING CHO PhD, MSc, DIC, BSc(Eng), MIStructE, MHKIE, RPE(Struct),
PEng

Aged 63. Graduated from The University of Hong Kong in 1973 with a
BSc degree in Civil Engineering. He also possesses a PhD degree in
Systems Design Engineering of the University of Waterloo, Canada and
a MSc degree in Management Science of the Imperial College, the
United Kingdom. He is a Registered Professional Engineer (Structural)
with memberships of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, the
Institution of Structural Engineers and Professional Engineers Ontario.
He has 34 years’ experience in civil engineering and building
construction and 8 years' experience in operations research, pattern
analysis and machine intelligence. He was previously an Executive
Director of the Company and has rejoined the Group as Director of Chun
Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited since September
2008.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

CHONG HOK YUEN, STEVEN BSc, MSc, MHKIE, RPE

Aged 48, Graduated from the South Bank University, the United
Kingdom in 1995 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Construction
Management and obtained a Master of Science degree in Project
Management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2003. He is
a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a Registered
Professional Engineer. He awarded the Gold Award Winner of the
Construction Manager of the Year Awards in 2008. He has joined the
Group in 2011 and has over 24 years' experience in project management
of large scale building projects in Hong Kong. He has been appointed as
Director of Chun Wo Elegant Decoration Engineering Company Limited
since November 2014.

EDWARD PETER SLACK FCHKRI, MPWI

Aged 72. Graduated from Sheffield College of Technology in 1961. He is
a fellow of the China Hong Kong Railway Institution. He has more than
54 years in the construction industry covering many large industrial
projects. He came to Hong Kong in 1977 to work on the Modified Initial
System of the Mass Transit Railway Corporation. He has since worked
on many schemes for the Mass Transit Railway Corporation and
Kowloon-Canton Railway Corporation but has kept his hand in civil
engineering working on the Island Eastern Corridor, Kowloon
Reclamation, Terminal Eight and the Lotus Bridge in Macau amongst
others. He first worked with Chun Wo as Joint Venture Project Manager
in 2000 on West Rail and completed a total of 4 such joint ventures, he
has joined the Group as Director of Chun Wo Railway Engineering
Limited and Chun Wo (Thailand) Co., Ltd. since March 2009.

KAM SHEUNG LAM, JEREMY

Aged 58. Graduated from The University of Manitoba, Canada in 1981
with a BSc degree in Civil Engineering. He has 34 years' experience in
construction industry, 15 years' experience as Operation Director, for
tendering, supervision and project management in local and overseas
market in Hong Kong, Macau and the UAE. He has joined the Group in
July 2012 and been appointed as Director for Chun Wo Engineering
(Macau) Company Limited since December 2012.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

KO WING NIN, KEN BSc(Eng), MSc(Eng), CEng, MICE, FHKIE, RPE(Civil),
AFCHKRI

Aged 51. Graduated from Chu Hai College in 1986 with a degree of
Bachelor of Science and Engineering in Civil Engineering. He also
obtained a Master degree in Civil and Structural Engineering from the
University of Sheffield, the United Kingdom in 1994 and a Master Degree
in Construction Law from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
2011. He is a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United
Kingdom, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a
Registered Professional Engineer in civil discipline in Hong Kong and
Associate Fellow of China Hong Kong Railway Institution. He has 28
years' experience in the construction industry including civil, building,
foundation and marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau and
the UAE. He has joined the Group in March 2006, promoted as General
Manager (Construction) of the Group in August 2012 to take charge of
special projects and trackwork and been appointed as Director of Chun
Wo Foundations Limited since September 2014 to take charge of
foundation works.

LAI KAM HUNG, JOSEPH

Aged 57. Graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1980. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. He has
over 39 years’ experience in the building and civil engineering works
including construction supervision, project management and subletting.
He has joined the Group during 1984—1987 and rejoined the Group in
1989. He has been appointed as Director of Chun Wo Construction and
Engineering Company Limited since April 2006.

LAM CHI WING, ERIC BscCivil, MHKIE, RPE(Civil)

Aged 60. Graduated from the University of Calgary, Canada in 1980 with
a Bachelor degree in Civil Engineering. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers and a Registered Professional Engineer.
He has more than 34 years' experience in construction industry
including project and construction management and tendering of
different types of large-scale civil engineering projects. He has joined
the Group in 2005 and been appointed as Director of Chun Wo
Construction and Engineering Company Limited since September 2007.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

LAU TAI WAI, DAVID FHKIE, FHKIHT, CEng, MICE, MIStructE, MCIArb,

RPE (Civil, Structural)

Aged 56. Graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1982
and obtained CEI Part 2 in 1983. He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers and the Hong Kong Institution of
Highways and Transportation and a member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers, the Institution of Structural Engineers and the Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators, a Registered Professional Engineer in civil and
structural disciplines. He has 33 years' experience in a wide range of
civil engineering works from a diversified perspective of management,
construction, design as well as build operate and transfer in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Taiwan. He has joined the Group in 2013 and been
appointed as Director (Construction) of Chun Wo Construction and
Engineering Company Limited since March 2013.

LEE CHUN FAI, RAYLAND BSc, MHKIE, MICE, CEng, PEng, RPE

Age 60. Graduated from The University of Manitoba, Canada in 1979
with a BSc degree in Civil Engineering. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers, the Institution of Civil Engineers and The
Association of Project Managers. He has 35 years' experience in heavy
construction industry on tendering, supervision and project
management in local and overseas market. He has joined the Group as
Director of Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited
since 2010 to take charge of the Civil Division.

LEE KA LUN, STEPHEN BA(AS), B Building, Dip Proj Man (RICS), FRICS, FHKIS,
ACIArb, RPS(QS)

Aged 57. Graduated from The University of Hong Kong in 1980 with a
Bachelor of Arts (Architectural Studies) degree and with a Bachelor of
Building degree in 1982. He is a Registered Professional Surveyor (QS)
with fellow membership of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
and The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and membership of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators. He is on the Lists of Arbitrators of the
Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre and the joint Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors and Hong Kong Institute of Architects. He has 34
years' experience in quantity surveying and commercial management
working in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Taiwan, Macau, Singapore and
Malaysia. He has joined the Group during 1998—2005 and rejoined the
Group in 2011. He has been appointed as Director (Commercial) of
Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited since August
2011.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

LEUNG WAI HO, ALFRED BSc, MASCE, FHKIE, FHKIHT

Aged 58. Graduated from Costa Rica Institute of Technology in 1982
with a Bachelor degree in Construction Engineering. He is a member of
the American Society of Civil Engineers, a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers and the Hong Kong Institution of
Highways and Transportation. He is the Deputy Honorary Secretary of
Hong Kong Construction Association from 2015-2017 and currently the
Honorary Secretary of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers in civil
discipline. He has joined the Group in 2013 and has over 30 years'
experience in the construction industry at corporate level for business
strategy as well as tender, project and construction management of
civil, building, foundation and large scale design and build projects in
Hong Kong and Mainland China for international contractor. He has
been appointed as Director (Construction) of Chun Wo Construction and
Engineering Company Limited, Director of Chun Wo Foundations
Limited and Hong Kong OVM Engineering Company Limited since April
20183.

LEUNG YIN BUN, FRANCIS MBA, RPE, MHKIE, REA

Aged 58. Graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1980 and obtained a Master degree in Business Administration from
The Open University of Hong Kong in 2005. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers in building services discipline and a
Registered Energy Assessor from Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department of The Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. He has more than 35 years' experience in project
management, sales and marketing, operations management and
engineering design for electrical and mechanical projects in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and the Middle East. His project portfolio includes
various infrastructural, industrial and commercial construction projects
of Railway, Airport, Highway, Bridge, Tunnel, Pumping Station, Hospital
and Hotel Casino. He has joined the Group in February 2010 and been
appointed as managing director of Chun Wo E & M Engineering Limited
since December 2011.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

LI WAI HANG, CHRISTINA

Aged 64. Joined the Group since 1975 and has over 36 years'
experience in the construction industry. She was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in July 1992 and resigned with effect from 1
February 2015. She still holds several directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Group. She is the mother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Co-Chairman and the
Deputy Chairman of the Company respectively.

MALCOLM IAIN MCGREGOR BEng(Hons), CEng, MICE

Aged 69. Graduated from the University of Sheffield, the United
Kingdom with a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) degree in Civil
Engineering and a member of the Institute of Civil Engineers, the United
Kingdom. He has 46 years' working experience in the construction
industry for international clients and contractors in Southeast Asia,
Europe and Africa in the fields of civil, building and foundations with
positions in senior corporate and project management. He has rejoined
the Group as Director (Projects) in early 20009.

NG MAN LEE, KEVIN Bsc

Aged 56. Graduated from the University of Leeds, the United Kingdom in
1981. He has over 32 years' experience in the construction industry
including civil, water works and building construction projects in Hong
Kong, Macau, China and Singapore. He has joined the Group as Director
of Chun Wo Building Construction Limited since October 2012.

POON CHI CHOI, ANTHONY BA(AS), B.Arch, HKIA, Registered Architect HK,
Authorized Person — Architect, PRC Class 1 Registered Architect Qualification
Aged 53. Graduated from The University of Hong Kong in 1986 with
degree in Bachelor of Arts (Architectural Studies) and Bachelor of
Architecture. He is a Registered Architect HK and Authorized Person
(List of Architects) with PRC Class 1 Registered Architect Qualification.
He has more than 29 years' experience in architectural and interior
design, project management and property development aspects for
many projects of various sizes and complexity in Hong Kong and China.
Prior to joining the Group in 2008, he had worked as director in two big
architectural practices and also served a public listed property
development company in Hong Kong, responsible for the design and
project management of projects in China. He is a Director of Chun Wo
Property Development Limited and certain subsidiaries companies of
the Group, responsible for the property development projects in China,
Hong Kong and the UAE.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

SHEA CHUN LOK, MARTIN BBus., MEcon., FCPA(Aust.), CPA, CTA, ACMA,
ISCA, ATIHK, CGMA

Aged 48. Graduated from Monash University of Australia with a
Bachelor degree in Business. He completed a postgraduate programme
of Public Finance (Taxation) and obtained a Master degree in
Economics from Jinan University, China in 2013. He is a fellow member
of CPA Australia, a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants of the United Kingdom, Institute of
Singapore Chartered Accountants and Chartered Global Management
Accountant. He is also a Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong and a
China Tax Committee member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong
and obtained a Certificate of Pass in Practice Training Examination for
Hong Kong Certified Tax Advisers Serving in Shenzhen — Hong Kong
Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone, Qianhai, Shenzhen jointly
issued by Shenzhen Municipal Office of the State Administration of
Taxation and Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau. He worked as company
secretary and qualified accountant in various Hong Kong Main Board
listed companies for many years. He has been appointed as
independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group
Limited (stock code: 00371) since 2002, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. He has joined the Group as Financial Controller of property
development in 2008 and been appointed as the Chief Financial Officer
of the Group since February 2015.

TO KAI YIN, KELVIN MCIOB, MAIB

Aged 54. Graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1983
and obtained an associateship in building technology and management
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1987. He has over 31
years' experience in the construction industry including construction
supervision, management, quantity surveying and tendering. He has
joined the Group in 1991 and been appointed as Director of Chun Wo
Building Construction Limited since March 1999.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

TSE TAK MING, HERMAN BEng(Hons), MSc(C.Mgt), MBA, MHKICM, MHKIVM,
C. Build E MCABE, BEAM Pro

Aged 46. Graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor
of Engineering (Honours) in Building Engineering (Construction
Engineering and Management) and obtained a Master of Science
degree in Construction Management (Construction Project
Management) in 2008 and in 2010 respectively. He obtained a Master
degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 2014. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction Managers, the Hong Kong Institute of Value Management,
a Chartered Builder Engineer of Chartered Association of Building
Engineers and accredited to BEAM Professional by the Hong Kong
Green Building Council. He has joined the Group in 2008, and been
appointed as Director of Green Solution Interior Design and Decoration
Company Limited since April 2011.

WONG HIN MING, RAYMOND BSc, MICE, CEng, MCIArb, MHIE, RPE(Civil)
Aged 60. Graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1978 and continue the study in Brighton Polytechnic, the United
Kingdom with a Bachelor degree (First Class Honors) in Civil
Engineering. He is a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers,
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators and the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers. He has over 34 years' experience in construction industry. He
has joined the Group in 2004 and been appointed as General Manager
(Construction) of Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company
Limited since February 2009 to take charge of the maintenance and
minor works division.

WONG WING TONG, MICHAEL MISM, MIPSA

Age 59. He has more than 18 years' experience in the executive level of
security industry and a member of International Professional Security
Association. He was the Chief Training Instructor of the Hong Kong
Military Service Corps in the former British Garrison with various
professional military qualifications and skills. He has joined the Group in
1997 and been appointed as Managing Director of City Security
Company Limited and City Professional Management Limited since
June 2006 and June 2007 respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

YEUNG KA YIN, EDWARD MBA, BSc(Eng), MHKIE, MICE, RPE(Civil)

Aged 61. Graduated from The University of Hong Kong in 1977 with a
Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering and obtained a Master
degree in Business Administration in 1995 from Asia International Open
University (Macau). He is a member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers and the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom and
also a Registered Professional Engineer, Hong Kong. He has more than
38 years' experience in the construction industry including developer
and contractor, project management and tendering of large scale civil
engineering and building construction projects as well as large scale
design and build projects. He has joined the Group during 2002-2006
and rejoined the Group in 2011. He has been appointed as Director of
Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited since May
2012.

YIU CHI SANG, ANDY Dip(Eng), LLB(Hons), MA(ArbDR), MSc(C.Mgt), MRICS,
MICE, MHKIE, MASCE, FCIArb, FHKIArb, CEng

Aged 59. Graduated from The Hong Kong Baptist University in 1981
with a Diploma in Civil Engineering, obtained a Master of Arts degree in
Dispute Resolution and Arbitration in 1995 and a Master of Science
degree in Construction Management in 1998 both from City University
of Hong Kong, a Bachelor of Laws degree in 2004 from the University of
Wolverhampton of the United Kingdom. He is a member each of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, the Institution of Civil
Engineers, the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers,
the American Society of Civil Engineers, a fellow member each of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, the United Kingdom and the Hong
Kong Institute of Arbitrators. He has rejoined the Group in 2008 with
over 34 years' experience in the construction industry including civil,
building, foundation and marine engineering projects in Hong Kong,
Macau, Vietnam and Mainland China. He has been appointed as
Director of Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited
since December 2008 and Deputy Managing Director (Construction) of
Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited since November 2011.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company has made continued efforts to incorporate the key
elements of sound corporate governance in its management structures
and internal control procedures. The Company is committed to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, the principles of
which serve to uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, and to ensure that
affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules") throughout the Year except for the deviations from the code
provisions A.4.7. and A.4.2 of the Code as below.

Code provision A.4.1 of the Code stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election while
one of our Chairmen who is also the non-executive director of the
Company, was appointed with no specific term and not subject to re-
election. Moreover, pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of the Code, every
Director should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. The Board considers that the Chairmen and the Managing
Director of the Company are not subject to retirement by rotation in
order to maintain the stability and continuity. However, the Board may
consider to amend the Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws") when
appropriate in order to enhance the corporate governance.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 (the “Model
Code") to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, after a
specific enquiry made by the Company, that they have fully complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
Year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company on behalf
of the Shareholders. Key responsibilities include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The Board confines itself to
making broad policy decisions and also exercising a number of reserved
powers as mentioned below, while delegating responsibility for more
detailed considerations to the Management Committee of the Company
under the leadership of the Chairmen:

those functions and matters as set out in the terms of reference
of various committees (as amended from time to time), in which
Board's approval must be sought from time to time;

those functions and matters in which Board's approval must be
sought in accordance with the Group's internal policy (as
amended from time to time);

consideration and approval of the consolidated financial
statements in interim reports and annual reports, announcements
and press releases of interim and annual results;

focusing its attention on matters affecting the Company's overall
strategic policies, finances and Shareholders;

consideration of dividend policy and dividend amount; and

reviewing and monitoring the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and
regulatory requirements.

The Board had duly performed its duties relating to the corporate
governance functions. Save for the deviations from the Code as
aforesaid, it was not aware of any other code provisions of the Code
being violated during the Year.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information,
including regular reports from the Board committees and briefings on
significant legal, regulatory or accounting issues affecting the Group.
Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, which will be paid for by the Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of nine
Directors including three executive directors (“Executive Director(s)"),
three Non-executive Directors (“NED(s)") and three Independent Non-
executive Directors ("INED(s)"), with INEDs representing one-third of the

Board. The Board members are listed below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Co-Chairman)

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang

Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai
Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Each of the NEDs (except one NED who is also a co-chairman of the
Company) and INEDs has a service agreement for a term of three years.
The agreement is renewable subject to consent given by the Company
and the respective Directors. The NEDs (except one NED who is also a
co-chairman of the Company) and INEDs are also subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from each
INED to confirm his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and accordingly, the Company is of the view that all INEDs are
independent under the Listing Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board, other than Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick being brothers.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance and maintain a
sustainable development in long run. In this regard, the Nomination
Committee has endorsed a Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

Board diversity shall be achieved through consideration to a number of
factors and measureable objectives as set out in the Policy, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional expertise, industry experience, skills and knowledge.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the Policy and will review the Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.

Attendances at Meetings
During the Year, fourteen board meetings and three general meetings
(including annual general meeting and special general meetings) were
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held by the Company. The attendance of individual members of the &)
Board and other Board committees at the respective meetings during

the Year is set out below:

ExghEtEFEETNZES 2@
KRERAFEADFIHFEH 2 RBEIMT

Meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HEEERY ETERRY

Audit  Nomination Remuneration Annual Special
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General General
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ENZEE REZEE FMZEEE BRRAF RR%EH
B2 Ezgel g% Ef g3 N1 AE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Co-Chairman)' R %5 (B EEE) 4/4 - - - - 01
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick y—AETIEM
(Deputy Chairman) (B1Ef) 914 - - 01 11 1/2
Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement PEEI%E
(Managing Director) (EFp45E) 14/14 - - - I 1/2
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina? E3 ¥l e 1212 - - - N 01
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic TERE
(Co-Chairman)® (BELTE) 14/14 - 3/3 - N 2/2
Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang* ROREE! 0/2 - - - - 0/1
Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony* AxEEE! 22 - - - - 1
Independent Non-executive BUINTEE
Directors
Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Waf® REREL 2/2 I - - - I
Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai® BEREE 22 1 - - - 01
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung? il 212 1 - - - 17
Mr. Au Son Yiu® [Feg e 1112 2/2 3/3 111 N 1N
Mr. Chan Chiu Ying, Alec? RBEEL® 1212 2/2 - I I I
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, Stephen® SRR LS 12/12 22 - - N 11
Mr. Lee Shing See® o 12/12 - 3/3 - 11 1
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Attendances at Meetings (continued)
Remarks:

1 Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry was appointed as Executive Director and Co-
Chairman on 3 January 2015.

2 Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina resigned as Executive Director with effect
from 1 February 2015.

3 Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic was re-designated from Executive Director and
Chairman to NED and Co-Chairman on 3 January 2015.

4 Messrs. Zhang Xiaoliang and Chow Wing Kin, Anthony were appointed as
NEDs with effect from 1 February 2015.

5 Messrs. Chan Stephen Yin Wai, Kwan Ringo Cheukkai and Wu William Wai
Leung were appointed as INEDs with effect from 1 February 2015.

6 Messrs. Au Son Yiu, Chan Chiu Ying, Alec, Hui Chiu Chung, Stephen and
Lee Shing See resigned as INEDs with effect from 1 February 2015.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development
Each of the newly appointed Directors is provided with concise
induction to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
operations and businesses of the Company as well as his
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expense. During the Year, all Directors are regularly briefed
in the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of
good corporate governance practices. All Directors had participated
seminars and/or studied materials for developing and refreshing the
Directors' knowledge and skills in order to ensure compliance and to
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices. The
Company has received from all Directors of their respective training
records for the Year.

CHAIRMEN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

The Chairmen of the Board are Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry and Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic and the Managing Director is Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu,
Clement. The role of the Chairmen are separated from that of the
Managing Director. The Chairmen are responsible for overseeing the
functioning of the Board while the Managing Director is responsible for
managing the Group's business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, inter alia, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. The respective terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the Code and are available on
the Company's website. All committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Management Committee was established in April 1993. It operates
as a general management committee with overall delegated authority
from the Board in order to increase the efficiency for the business
decision and facilitate the approval of certain corporate actions.

As at the date of this report, the Management Committee comprises
three members, two of whom are Executive Directors and one member
is NED.

Members of the Management Committee are:
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)

Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee was established in March 2007 to assist the
Management Committee in the running of the day-to-day business of
the Company. It is responsible for the development and implementation
of the business plans for corporate and business units. The Executive
Committee is also supported by the heads of Project Management
which cascades performance management down to project level.

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprises four
members, two of whom are Executive Directors and one member is
NED.

Members of the Executive Committee are:
Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement (Chairman)

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Martin
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was formed on 6 April 2005. The primary
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are, inter alia, to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies and structure
for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management of the
Group and determining, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and the senior management
of the Group. When the remuneration package of an individual Director
is under review, such Director will abstain from voting.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
three members, two of whom are INEDs and one member is NED.

Members of the Remuneration Committee are:
Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai (Chairman)

Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony

Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee recommended the
remuneration packages of each of NEDs to the Board for approval and
approved the remuneration package of Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry.

Details of the emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. In
addition, pursuant to the code provision B.1.5 of the Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group
by band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration Band
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Number of Senior Management

FHER

Up to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000 #7T

BEEEABAY

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 78 72 % 2,000,000 % 7T 11
HK$2,000,001 to HKS$3,000,000 2,000,001 % 7T % 3,000,000 % 7T 6
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 7T % 4,000,000 % 7T 5
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was formed on 6 April 2005. The
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and the succession planning for Directors, to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and to ensure fair and
transparent procedures for the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors.

In case of necessity, the Nomination Committee will propose an
appointment of any candidates to the Board for consideration and the
Board will review the qualifications of the relevant candidates for
determining the suitability to the Group on the basis of his/her
qualifications, experience and background. The decision of appointing a
director must be approved by the Board and all Board appointments will
be based on merit while taking into account diversity.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises
three members, one member is NED and two of whom are INEDs.

Members of the Nomination Committee are:
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)

Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

(i)  reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board and
performed the measurable objectives assessment for the year
ended 31 March 2014;

(i)  assessed the independence of the INEDs;
(i)  proposed rotational retiring Directors who were eligible for re-
election at the 2014 annual general meeting for Shareholders’

approval;

(iv) recommended the appointment of one Executive Director, two
NEDs and three INEDs to the Board for approval; and

(v)  considered the redesignation of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic as
NED, with a recommendation to the Board for approval.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 17 December 1998. The Audit
Committee provides an important link between the Board and the
Company's external auditor in matters coming within the scope of the
Group's audit. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial and accounting policies and practices of the
Group. It also reviews the effectiveness of both the external audit and of
internal controls and risk management system.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three
INEDs, one of whom with appropriate professional qualification,
accounting or related financial management expertise as required under
the Listing Rules.

Members of the Audit Committee are:
Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai (Chairman)

Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year:

(i) reviewed the annual report and the annual results announcement
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2014, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

(i)  reviewed the external auditor's independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process, with a recommendation to
the Board for the re-appointment of the external auditor at the
2014 annual general meeting;

(i) approved the remuneration and the terms of engagement letters
for the purpose of appointing the external auditor in connection
with the statutory audit and review of the results announcement
by the external auditor;

(iv)  reviewed the interim report and the interim results announcement
of the Group for the six months ended 30 September 2014, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

(v) overseen the Group's financial reporting system and internal
control procedures; and

(vi) considered the appointment of Messrs. Ernst & Young (“Ernst &
Young") as auditors of the Group to fill the vacancy following the
resignation of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”), with
a recommendation to the Board and subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the special general meeting.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the Group's internal control and has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control of the
Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, Deloitte had resigned as auditor of the Company with
effect from 13 February 2015 and Ernst & Young had been appointed as
auditors of the Company on 26 March 2015 to fill up the casual
vacancy. Ernst & Young provided statutory audit services for the Year
and the annual audit services and other audit service amounted to
approximately HKS3,518,000 and HKS$350,000 respectively.

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR ACCOUNTS

Statements of the Directors' responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements and the auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities are set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Ms. Chan Sau Mui, Juanna, the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”), undertook no less than fifteen
hours of relevant professional training to update her knowledge and
skills.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Requisitioning a Special General
Meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company have rights to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition which must be signed by the requisitionist(s). The requisition
must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda (the “Registered
Office") for the attention of the Company Secretary. To ensure that the
requisition is received by the Company at the earliest opportunity, a
copy of the signed requisition should also be deposited at the head
office of the Company in Hong Kong at C2, 5/F., Hong Kong Spinners
Industrial Building, 601-603 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan,
Kowloon (the “Head Office") for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Company Act”),
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-twentieth of the total voting right at general meetings of the
Company or not less than one hundred Shareholders may provide a
written requisition to the Company stating the resolution intended to be
proceeded at the general meeting. The requisition must be deposited at
the Registered Office for the attention of the Company Secretary. To
ensure that the requisition is received by the Company at the earliest
opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition should also be deposited at
the Head Office for the attention of the Company Secretary.

As regards to proposing a person for election as a director of the
Company by Shareholders, please refer to the procedures available on
the Company's website.

Shareholders can also refer to the detailed requirements and
procedures as set forth in the relevant sections of the Companies Act
and the Bye-laws when making any requisitions or proposals for
transaction at the general meetings of the Company.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company's share registrars. The addresses of the Company's share
registrars are set out in the section “Corporate Information” on page 4
of this annual report. Shareholders may at any time make a request for
the Company’s information to the extent that such information is
publically available. Shareholders may also send written enquiries or
requests to the Head Office or by fax to (852) 2744 6937 or by email to
info@chunwo.com for the attention of Corporate Communication
Department.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities. The Company's annual and interim reports and circulars are
printed and sent to all Shareholders. Moreover, announcements,
circulars, publications and press releases of the Company are published
on the Company's website (www.chunwo.com). The Company’s website
disseminates corporate information and other relevant financial and
non-financial information electronically on a timely basis.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders and the Directors and the
members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at the general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with Shareholders and other stakeholders. The
Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted for ensuring the
Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company in order
to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to allow Shareholders to engage actively with the Company. The
Shareholders Communication Policy, subject to regular review by the
Board, is available on the Company's website and will be amended (as
appropriate) to reflect current best practice in communications with
Shareholders.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the special general meeting of the Company held on 26 March 2015,
the Shareholders approved the amendments of the Bye-laws in relation
to, among other matters, remove the requirement of convening a special
general meeting to appoint a new auditor to fill the casual vacancy. The
updated version of the Company’'s Memorandum of Association and
Bye-laws is available on the websites of the Company and Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited respectively.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
FELHS

The Board are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in civil engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, foundation and building construction work, property
development and investment, professional services (including provision
of security and property management services) and other activities.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
105 and 106.

On 31 December 2014, as one of the conditions precedent to fulfill in
connection with the sale of the Company’s ordinary shares by a major
shareholder of the Company to a third party, the Group distributed all of
its equity interest in Excel Value International Limited (“Excel Value”, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (the “Privateco Share(s)") to
the Shareholders by way of a distribution in specie (the “Distribution In
Specie”). The Distribution In Specie was approved by the Shareholders
at a special general meeting of the Company held on 19 December
20174.

Pursuant to the Distribution In Specie, total 1,092,5676,176 Privateco
Shares were distributed to the Shareholders whose names appeared on
the register of members of the Company on 30 December 2014 in
proportion to their shareholdings in the Company . Upon the completion
of the Distribution In Specie, Excel Value and its subsidiaries ceased to
be subsidiaries of the Company.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Year (2014: HK1.7 cents per share).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group are set out on pages 20 to 39 of the
Management Discussion and Analysis.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

During the Year, the Company has issued (i) 100,000,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company at a subscription price of HK$0.463 per share
and the convertible bonds in the principal amount of HKS84.3 million
due in 2017 on 31 December 2014 and (ii) 130,000,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company at a subscription price of HKS1.427 per share
and the convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$94.9 million
due in 2018 on 30 March 2015, respectively. The net proceeds after
deducting the professional fees and estimated expenses payable by the
Company, was approximately HK$409.8 million which are applied as
bellows:

—  approximately HKS$280.2 million was used for partial payment of
the consideration for the acquisition of 90% equity interest in
China City Construction (Zhuhai); and

—  the balance of HK$129.6 million was applied as additional working
capital of the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on page 241.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the revalued investment properties of the Group as at 31
March 2015 are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment at a
cost of approximately HK$98.9 million for the purpose of expanding the
Group's business.

Details of these and other movements during the Year in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements during the Year in the share capital and share
options of the Company are set out in Notes 36 and 37 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Details of the Group's borrowings are set out in Notes 31 and 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Interest capitalised by the Group during the Year is set out in Note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT OPERATIONS AND
ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries and the Group's
principal joint operations and associates as at 31 March 2015 are set
out in Notes 47, 48 and 49 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RESERVES

The Company's reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at
31 March 2015 were as follows:

BRRERLZFE
REEBZBRFBHENGEMBIREM TR
34

RAFER  NREBEXNMCZF EHREEMH
BRMET -

HEAT  SEEBREEAT

MR2015F3A31H  ARBZEBHBRRMN
MAEEZ EBAEEBRBERRZFEE  »
RIS R G BTSRRI 5E 47 ~ 48 )2 49 »

]
MR2016F3A31H  ARB AR FREZ
R -

HKS'000
T

BARER
RE it 7

Contributed surplus
Retained earnings

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 50 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 109 and 110 respectively.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Particulars of the share option schemes which were adopted on 28
August 2002 (the “Old Scheme”) and 3 September 2012 (the “New
Scheme") by the Company respectively and the details of the
movements in share options which were granted under these schemes
are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 65 to 77.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry (appointed on 3 January 2015)

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina (resigned on 1 February 2015)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
(re-designated as non-executive director on 3 January 2015)
Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang (appointed on 1 February 2015)
Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony (appointed on 1 February 2015)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai (appointed on 1 February 2015)
Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai (appointed on 1 February 2015)
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung (appointed on 1 February 2015)
Mr. Au Son Yiu (resigned on 1 February 2015)

Mr. Chan Chiu Ying, Alec (resigned on 1 February 2015)

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, Stephen (resigned on 1 February 2015)
Mr. Lee Shing See (resigned on 1 February 2015)

As a result of the change in control of the Company, Madam Li Wai
Hang, Christina resigned as Executive Director and all of Mr. Au Son VYiu,
Mr. Chan Chiu Ying, Alec, Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, Stephen and Mr. Lee
Shing See resigned as INED with effect from 1 February 2015. Each of
them had confirmed to the Board that he/she had no disagreement with
the Board and that there were no other matters in relation to his/her
resignation that need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders
and the Stock Exchange.

In accordance with the Bye-laws 86(2) and 169(2), Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang,
Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony, Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai, Mr. Kwan
Ringo Cheukkai and Mr. Wu William Wai Leung will hold office until the
AGM and retire from office by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election. The remaining Directors will
continue in office.

Each of Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang, Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony, Mr. Chan
Stephen Yin Wai, Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai and Mr. Wu William Wai
Leung has a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years which commenced on 1 February 2015.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors being proposed for re-
election at the AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The Directors’ emoluments are in line with market practice. The Group
adopted the following main principles of determining the Directors’
remuneration:

No individual should determine his or her own remuneration;

Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
whom the Group competes for human resources; and

Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility with
a view to motivating and retaining high performing individuals and
enhancing of the value of the Company to its Shareholders.

In addition to the basic salaries, a share option scheme is adopted for
rewarding and retaining Directors for the continual operation and
development of the Group.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in Note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements, no contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its holding company, or any
subsidiaries of its holding company was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31
March 2015 or at any time during the Year.

CHANGE IN DIRECTOR'S INFORMATION

Change in Director's information since the publication of the 2014
Interim Report of the Company is set out below:

— Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, being an Executive Director and a
Deputy Chairman of the Company, has been appointed as a non-
official member of the Land and Development Advisory
Committee for a three-year term from 1 July 2015.

Save as the information disclosed above, there is no change of

information of each Director that is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

As at 31 March 2015, the interests of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Interests of the Directors in the Ordinary Shares of
the Company (Long Positions)
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Personal Corporate Total LA A

Directors interests interests interests B RTRA
BE= B A 22 AEER EntiER AatE
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic TRERE 5,680,000 102,442,884+ 108,122,884 8.16%
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick & —#B{#+ TF2AD 7,326,000 - 7,326,000 0.55%

* GT Winners Limited is 45% owned by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and he is
deemed to have interest in the ordinary shares of the Company held by GT
Winners Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Details of the movements in share options granted under the Old
Scheme to Directors and chief executive of the Company during the
Year are as follows:

Exercise
price per
option

Date of
grant

Exercisable
Directors period
=1
THEE
HKS
BT

E= RHAM i

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick 13/8/2004 0.904 21/8/2004-12/8/2014

i ]

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina* ~ 2/4/2007 1.01 10/4/2007-1/4/2017

FEMLL*

Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement 13/8/2004 0.904 21/8/2004-12/8/2014

HEsI%E

Others 13/8/2004 0.904 21/8/2004-12/8/2014

Hith

2/4/2007 1.01 10/4/2007-1/4/2017

* Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina resigned as Executive Director on

1 February 2015.

Save as disclosed above and other than the New Scheme as set out in
Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors and chief executive of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. In addition,
none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company or their
spouses or children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for
the securities of the Company or had exercised any such right during
the Year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF SUBSTANTIAL

SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2015, the following shareholders (other than Directors
or chief executive of the Company) were recorded in the register kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO as being interested or
deemed to have interest in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the

Company:

Shareholders

RER

New Way Strategic Investment Ltd.
FEREIRERR AR

China New Way

aaleikiy:d

New Way International Investment
Holdings Limited

BRI E TR AR AR

China City Construction (International)
Co., Limited

B R (B ) AR AR

B TR RS E AR A A

(transliterated as China City
Construction Holding Group Co., Ltd.)

GT Winners Limited

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina

FEMRLZL

Capacity

&t

Beneficial owner
BEmEA A

Beneficial owner and interest of
controlled corporation

Emla ARZIEEERER

Interest of controlled corporation

XA E s

Beneficial owner

i

TSR A

\

Interest of controlled corporation

R AE L

Beneficial owner

BEmEA A

Beneficial owner and interest of
controlled corporation
EnfB ARSI EE RS
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BERGB
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1 100,000,000

1 831,544,830

1 831,544,830

2 281,500,000

2 281,500,000

3 102,442,884

4 113,323,759
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7.55%
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62.82%
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7.73%
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes:

Save
been
chief

These represent (i) an interest in 740,544,830 ordinary shares of the
Company (100,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company of which is held
by New Way Strategic Investment Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of China
New Way), representing approximately 55.95% of the issued share capital
of the Company; and (i) an interest in 91,000,000 underlying shares of the
Company, representing approximately 6.87% of the issued share capital of
the Company. China New Way is wholly-owned by New Way International
Investment Holdings Limited. These underlying shares were converted to
the ordinary shares of the Company on 17 April 2015 subsequently.

These represent (i) an interest in 130,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company, representing approximately 9.82% of the issued share capital of
the Company; and (i) an interest in 151,500,000 underlying shares of the
Company, representing approximately 11.44% of the issued share capital
of the Company. China City Construction (International) Co., Limited is
wholly-owned by /1 BI35 i 2 5% 1% AR S B B PR A &) (transliterated as China
City Construction Holding Group Co., Ltd.).

GT Winners Limited is 45% owned by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and he is
deemed to have interest in the ordinary shares of the Company held by GT
Winners Limited.

These represent (i) a personal interest in 10,880,875 ordinary shares of the
Company, representing approximately 0.82% of the issued share capital of
the Company; and (ii) an interest in 102,442,884 ordinary shares of the
Company held by GT Winners Limited, representing approximately 7.73%
of the issued share capital of the Company. GT Winners Limited is 45%
owned by Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina and she is deemed to have
interest in the ordinary shares of the Company held by GT Winners
Limited.

as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, the Company had not
notified of any other person or corporation (other than Directors or
executive of the Company) as being interested or deemed to have

interest in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company or

short

position in shares or underlying shares of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neith
redee

er the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
med any of the Company's listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and

there
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is no restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float throughout the Year as
required under the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(1) The Company entered into a subscription agreement (the
“Subscription Agreement”) with China New Way on 16 September
2014 that China New Way conditionally agreed to subscribe, in
cash, for (i) 100,000,000 new ordinary shares in the Company and
(i) the convertible bond with the principal amount of
HK$84,266,000 subsequently after China New Way and GT
Winners Limited (the then controlling shareholder of the
Company) entered into a sale and purchase agreement in relation
to the sale and purchase of 510,000,000 ordinary shares in the
Company (“SPA"). The Subscription Agreement constituted a
connected transaction that was approved by the Shareholders in
a special general meeting of the Company held on 19 December
2074. Details of the convertible bond are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(2) On 23 November 2011, the Company issued a bond with a
principal amount of HK$150 million to Talent Effort Limited
("Talent Effort”), which is 45% indirectly owned by Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic, a director of the Company. The bond is unsecured,
bears interest at 7.25% per annum payable semi-annually in arrear
and is wholly repayable on 23 November 2015, as extended from
22 November 2014 pursuant to an interim bond extension
agreement and a bond extension agreement entered into between
the two parties during the Year. The issue of the bond constituted
an exempted connected transaction while the bond extension
constituted a special deal under the Hong Kong Code on
Takeovers and Mergers and was approved by the Shareholders in
a special general meeting of the Company held on 19 December
2014.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(8) As one of the conditions precedent to the SPA, the Company
agreed to distribute the shares in Excel Value under the
Distribution in Specie to the Shareholders which was approved by
the Shareholders in a special general meeting of the Company
held on 19 December 2014. Excel Value is the indirect owner of
the 37/40th share of the building located at 55—-57 Wing Hon
Street and 84—86 King Lam Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon,
Hong Kong (the “Property”). The acquisition of the Property was
financed by a bank loan with Smart Wealth Asia Pacific Limited as
borrower (the “Privateco Subsidiary”, together with Excel Value,
the "Privateco Group”) and secured by a corporate guarantee
given by the Company. The outstanding amount of the bank loan
was HKS176 million as at 24 November 2014. After completion of
the Distribution in Specie, the Privateco Group became non-group
companies. The guarantee from the Company should be released
accordingly. In this connection, the Company extended a
shareholder’s loan of about HKS$127.26 million to the Privateco
Subsidiary and the vendor of the SPA, GT Winners Limited, would
extend an unsecured loan of about HK$50.5 million to Privateco
Subsidiary (the “GT Winners Loan") before the Distribution in
Specie for the full repayment of the bank loan of approximately
HKS$176 million. GT Winners Limited is 45% owned by Mr. Pang
Yat Ting, Dominic, a Director of the Company. The GT Winners
Loan, as a financial assistance to the Company, constituted a
connected transaction to the Company and was approved by the
Shareholders in a special general meeting of the Company held on
19 December 2014.

Details of related party disclosures are set out in Note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other related party transactions constitute
any connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the
Group's five largest customers accounted for approximately 71% of the
Group's total turnover and the turnover attributable to the Group's
largest customer accounted for approximately 46% of the Group's total
turnover. The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the
Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders (which to
the knowledge the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's share
capital) has any interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations
totalling approximately HKS1,354,000.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

M

On 17 April 2015, China New Way, the controlling shareholder of
the Company, has converted its convertible bonds in full in the
principal amount of HK$42,133,000 at the conversion price of
HKS0.463 per share pursuant to the exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the convertible bonds due 2017 of the
Company. After such fully conversion, 91,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company were issued to China New Way. China New Way
is totally interested in 831,544,830 ordinary shares of the
Company, representing approximately 58.78% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

On 13 January 2015, Wisdom Year Investments Limited (“Wisdom
Year"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
disposal agreement with two purchasers (the “Purchasers”), to
conditionally dispose of (i) all its equity interest in Profit City
International Limited (“Profit City"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company; and (i) the loans of HK$27,635,175 in aggregate
due from Profit City to the Group, to the Purchasers for a total
consideration of HK$230,000,000 (the "Disposal”). The major
assets of Profit City are 20% equity interest in two associates
which individually holds a piece of land in Macau.

Pursuant to the extension letter signed between Wisdom Year and
the Purchasers dated 22 May 2015, both the long stop date and
the completion date for the Disposal both are extended to 31 July
2015. Details of the Disposal, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 15 January 2015 and 22 May 2015.

On 3 June 2015, Leading Top Investments Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a memorandum
of understanding with China City Development Investment Limited
in relation to the proposed acquisition of all or part of (i) direct or
indirect equity interest in; and/or (i) assets of; and/or (iii) business
of B T RIZEMREE B R QA (transliterated as China City
Construction Holding Group Company) (the “Proposed
Acquisition”). Details of the Proposed Acquisition, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 3 June 2015.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
Ernst & Young which would retire at the conclusion of the AGM, and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be
proposed to the Shareholders to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditors
of the Company and to authorize the Board to fix their remuneration at
the AGM.

During the Year, Ernst & Young had been appointed as auditors of the
Company with effect from 26 March 2015 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Deloitte which took effect from 13 February
2015. Such appointment was approved by the Shareholders at the
special general meeting held on 26 March 2015. Deloitte had confirmed
in its letter of resignation dated 13 February 2015 that there were no
matters connected with its resignation which it considered should be
brought to the attention of the holders of securities of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change in auditors of
the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Ernst & Young

22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EYzx

To the shareholders of Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chun Wo
Development Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries set
out on pages 105 to 240, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2015, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’'s preparation of consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at
31 March 2015, and of their financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
25 June 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COI\/IPREHENSIVE INCOME

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains, net
Fair value gain on investment
properties, net
Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Other expenses, net
Finance costs
Share of profits and losses of associates

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences:
Translation of foreign operations
Reclassification adjustments for gains
included in profit or loss upon
deregistration of subsidiaries
Share of movements in exchange
fluctuation reserves of associates

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX
OF NIL

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR
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Year ended 31 March 2015
BZE2015F3 31 HLEFE

2015 2014
20155 2014 5
HK$'000 HKS'000
FExT FHET
8,317,087 6,551,240
(7,870,728) (6,136,466)
446,359 414,774
54,699 50,881
9,344 34,750
(6,168) (15,004)
(359,395) (313,818)
2,850 (485)
(39,728) (41,405)
37,204 10,128
145,165 139,821
(41,894) (46,498)
103,271 93,323
5,915 9,074
(1,024) (22,313)
83 (216)
4,974 (13,455)
108,245 79,868




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
refBmMEMEE WS

Year ended 31 March 2015
BZE2015F3 31 BLEFE

2015 2014
20155 2014 5

HK$'000 HKS$'000
FE7 FET

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LA FE A

Shareholders of the Company Z/NEIL S 102,518 93,009
Non-controlling interests IR 753 314
103,271 93,323

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR EhREEREBAALE:

THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Shareholders of the Company ZAN/NG] i3 107,492 79,554
Non-controlling interests S 753 314
108,245 79,868
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AATBRREEEREF HK cents HK cents
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13 4l AL
Basic LN 9.20 8.95
Diluted 3 8.94 8.90
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties

Investments in associates

Amount due from an investee company
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Costs and deposits paid for acquisition of
a land use right for property development
Land held for property development
Properties under development
Properties held for sale
Amounts due from contract customers
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Income tax recoverable
Equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss
Restricted cash and pledged deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Non-current assets and assets of a
disposal group classified as held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Amounts due to contract customers

Trade payables

Deposits received from sales of properties

Other payables and accruals

Income tax payables

Bank borrowings

Unsecured bond payable to a related
company

Hire purchase contract and finance lease
payables

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS
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TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BE&ERAEBAME
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14
15
16
17
35

18
19
20
21
22
23
24

23
26
27

28

22
29

30

31

82

34

ON

2015 2014
2015 & 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FET
320,289 279,237
250,276 60,982
267,055 169,694
158,200 154,200
617 7768
996,437 671,887
224,805 224,880
362,705 323,573
250,924 449,669
22,032 233,741
1,730,396 1,466,461
1,457,137 1,175,154
523,802 254,092
6,690 8,254
165 220
590,426 504,584
702,661 820,930
5,871,743 5,461,558
27,530 353,800
5,899,273 5,815,358
816,172 893,991
1,216,490 996,784
4,539 14,632
540,394 410,110
38,618 49,774
2,140,392 2,030,576
150,000 150,000
29,672 18,642
4,936,277 4,564,509
962,996 1,250,849
1,959,433 1,922,730




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Are MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

2015 2014
2015 & 20144
Notes HKS$'000 HKS'000
{h=a TExT FABTT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEABERAREEE 1,959,433 1,922,730
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnBAE
Other payable H Ah e 5K 30 41,627 -
Bank borrowings IRITE 31 115,000 231,284
Convertible bonds AR ES 33 146,458 =
Hire purchase contract and finance lease MBSO RBERERNTIA
payables 34 51,470 28,305
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIAEE 35 19,771 18,595
Total non-current liabilities EmB B EERE 374,326 278,184
Net assets BEFE 1,585,107 1,644,546
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to shareholders AR RREMER
of the Company
Issued capital B3 1TAR AN 36 132,362 108,310
Reserves &t 38(a) 1,451,328 1,535,572
1,583,690 1,643,882
Non-controlling interests FEFERR M 7 1,417 664
Total equity T ARER 1,585,107 1,644,546
=—3 By S|
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
/\\/T\/\HXﬁjdk/\/\ mnm@)%

Year ended 31 March 2015
BZE2015F3 31 HLEFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Share Share Convertible

Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  Specill  option bondequty  Capital fluctuation  Retained controling Total
capital  account  reseve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve  profits Total  interests equity
BET BlE f juL]
o kbl i il AARE & REGEF s
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000 | HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000 HKS000
Thr Thér  TEn BT TEr  Thr  TEn BT Thn
(note 38(b)) (note 33) (note 38(c))
(H&E38(0) (RiE33) (HiEas()
At1 April 2013 R2013E4A1H 9777 389659 2900 7,659 - 8531 96034 927055 1530615 360 1530965
Profit for the year REERT - - - - - - - 93009 93009 34 9338
Othercomprehensive  AFEEA2E
income/(loss) for WA/ (%)
the year:
Exchangedifferences:  EXZ%E
Tranglation of foreign B SH K
operations = = = = = = 9074 = 9,074 = 9,074
Reclassification Mg
adjustments for NGl 6:vd
gain upon Exipp ]
deregistration of (;AE&)
subsidiaries included
in profit or loss = = = = = - M) - (M) - (231
Shareof movements  EEEEAA
in exchange INEREEE
fluctuation reserves B
of associates = = = = = = (216) = (216) = (216)
Totalcomprehensive ~ AEERE
income/(oss) for WA/ (F%) %
the year = < < = = - (13455 93009 79,554 314 79868
lssueof sharesupon ~ REETREESER
exerciseof share options {7 {3 36(0)() 6% 2039 = = = = = - 2607 - 0697
Issueof sharesupon ~ ERARERETHE
exerciseof warrants — MEfIRA B)i) 8875 36503 = = = = = - M3 - W37
Equity-settled share option [RALE 2 FR
armangements i 37(b)(i) - - - 516 - - - - 516 - 516
Transfer of shareoption ~ RERIE R i35
reserve upon the MEBERERE
forfeiture or expiry of
share options 37 = = - (7085 = = = 7,085 = = =
Fral2013dividend 20135 %8R8 - - - - - - - (13818 (1387) - (1387)
ANach 0l RAE3A3N 108310 47201 2000 100F - 8K ST 0BT T68B0 664 16MBlS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AR RS R

Year ended 31 March 2015
BZE2015F3 31 BLEFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
ARARRES
Share Share Convertible Exchange Non-
Issued premium  Special option hondequity  Capital fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital  account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve  profits Total interests  equity

TR

BE ] BRE EHEs #E R
kx ROEE HARE e fiff EXRE RBRE REEN a5 £ 2
Notes  HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
i Tén Tz TEr TEx TEx T  TEx  TEn  TEx TR TEx
(note 38(b)) (note 33) (note 38(c))
(HizE38(h)) (R&£33) (W3E38(c))

At T April 2014 201454418 108310 427,201 2900 1,09 8531 82579 1013271 1,643,882 664 1,644,546

Profit for the year RERE - - - - - -
Other comprehensive ~ AEEEH2T
income fortheyear. WA :
Exchange differences; ~ EXZE :
Translation of foreign ~ BEBINER

102518 102,518 753 103,271

operations = = = = = - 5915 - 5915 - 5915
Reclassffication B

adjustments for Nl

gain upon EFipay

deregistration of ARG
subsidiaries included ~ 18%)

in profit or loss = = = = = - (1,029 - (1,029) - (1,024)
Shareof movements BB A
in exchange SNERENEE
fluctuationreserves 28
of associates > = = = = = 83 = 83 = 83
Total comprehensive ~ AEEZEUNA
income for the year bk = - - - - - 4974 102518 107,492 753 108,245
Issueof convertible bonds BHTAIARMES 33 = - - - 33938 - - - 33938 - 33938
Issueof sharesupon — REBIRIEEF (T
exercise of share options - Z47/R (3 B0 1052 1% = (404) = = = - 8843 - 883
Shareplacements  RIVEE B0)ii) 23000 208810 - - - - - - 231810 - 21810
Reduction in share AR RER
premium account 36(0)(iv) - (200,000) = = = = - 200,000 > o o
Equity-settled share option A &Z.2
arrangements BREZE  31b)W) = = = 281 = = = = 21 = 281
Transfer of share option  REERRIE R et 228
reserve upon the MEpBRERR
forfeiture or expiry of
share options 37 > = = (967) = = = 967 > = =
Distributioninspecie WA R 12(3) - - - - - - - (423991) (423991) - (423991)
Fral 014 diidend 20145 KBRS - - - - - - - (18565  (18,565) - (18565)
M3TMach 2015 R015%3A31 8 18360 M4206 2000+ ¢ 3303 GEYF  BTSS STA200F 158360 1417 1585107
% These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBROBMGREMBRARANZEGEFE
HKS$1,451,328,000 (2014: HKS1,535,572,000) in the consolidated 1,451,328,000/87T(20144F : 1,535,572,000/87T) °

statement of financial position.

110 chun Wo Development Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014/15



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:

Share of profits and losses of associates

Bank interest income

Gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment, net

Fair value gain on investment
properties, net

Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries

Finance costs

Depreciation

Write-down of land held for property
development

Write-down of properties held for sale

Write-down of deposits paid for
purchase of properties held for sale

Reversal of impairment of other
receivables

Fair value loss on equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss

Share-based payment expense

(Increase)/decrease in properties under
development, land held for property
development and costs and deposits

paid for acquisition of a land use right for

property development

Decrease in properties held for sale

Net (increase)/decrease in balances with
contract customers

Increase in trade receivables

Increase in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Increase in trade payables

Increase in other payables and accruals

Decrease in deposits received from
sales of properties

Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Income taxes paid

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating
activities

Notes

B &

B B AT )
énﬁk
FE(R B R B ) R B 18
RITHE WA 6
HEME KSR HHIEAEE
2 Wias F R 6
WEWMER T EW=FE
15
BUB T M B A Bz Yz 6
Bh& A A 7
e 8
MO E R 2 i
8
MO VESH B W 8
MO EREEEME 2
Bt 8
18 [0 HL th FE W SR IE 2 R E
8
BAFEFABRZBAEE
Z A{EEE 8
B ERI AR 8

BRTOFR  BENRBRZ
T MR B RE
A AR 2 AR I
BffiRe (En),md

BEHENERD
BHEP L (M), HD
$4

5 MR ]

AN - ke KA
KB N

5 15 SR
SR R A SRR
HEMETRR 2 B

Wb

(AR RERLEBZRE
BN AEH

(AR, RERLEB 2R

N —E\nrg
e FEE

BANXEREEERAT 2014/15FR

NF

E%ﬂiuw

Zi

Year ended 31 March 2015
BZE2015F3 31 HLEFE

2015
2015 &

HK$'000
FHERT

2014
20144
HKS'000
FBTT

145,165 139,821
(37,204) (10,128)
(12,147) (12,489)
(3,447) (956)
(9,344) (34,750)
(1,024) (22,313)
39,728 41,405
6,601 6,859

- 6,490

- 8,290

- 1,225
(7,003) -
55 121
281 516

121,661 124,091

(311,545) 68,860
46,441 89,122

(265,392) 304,425

(281,983) (307,529)

(255,746) (195,189)
219,706 149,474
217,107 188,096
(10,093) (81,954)

(519,844) 339,396
(45,243) (82,365)

(565,087) 257,031
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mARBETRER

Year ended 31 March 2015
BZE2015F3 31 BLEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Dividend received from an associate

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties

Proceeds from disposal of non-current
assets classified as held for sale

Increase in amounts due from associates

Increase in amount due from an investee
company

Increase in restricted cash and pledged
deposits

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of new ordinary
shares

New bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Repayment of mortgage loans

New trust receipt loans

Repayment of trust receipt loans

(Repayment to)/advance from the partner
of a joint operation

Advance from a non-controlling
shareholder

Capital element of hire purchase contract
and finance lease rental payments

Interest element of hire purchase contract
and finance lease rental payments

Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds

Distribution in specie

Dividends paid

Interest paid

Net cash flows from financing activities

REREEBHZRERE

B WS
ELH NI ¢ Pl 85

BEME  #EMREEE

HEME  #HELREERE

PR1SAIA
HEREYEMZHR

HENERFHEHEFRBEE

P 508
JRE Wi Bt i X B RIEE hn
JE W AR IR & ) R FRIEHE AN

ERHIR S RN
G

ke (AR)REESZ
REmeFaE

REMEETDZRERE
BITHE BRAISRIA

MERRITER
ERIRITER
ERZBER
G EERIRER
BREEYIBRER

(B&)/RE—HaE%EH

BHZBR

KA — IR AR 2 Bk

HEAEHMkREHEES
Rz EAREL D
HEEHMRERE
ME N ZF S FED
BITAMRESF ISR
EMnik

BEREE

BEAFE

KERMERBZRERE TR

112 chun Wo Development Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014/15

2015
20155

LY
FTExT

2014
20144
HKS'000
T

12,147 12,489
7,753 9,080
(39,184) (60,430)

7,118 3,804

- 51,157

373,800 6,321
(108,946) (1,825)
(4,000) (154,200)
(85,780) (207,143)
162,908 (340,747)

36(b)(i).

(i) 240,653 47,075
1,670,565 2,175,793
(1,792,987)  (1,856,402)
- (15,474)

1,575,837 1,562,170
(1,459,883)  (1517,612)

(10,000) 10,000

- 10,000
(25,564) (22,263)
(1,853) (1,245)

179,190 -

12(a) (131) -
(18,565) (13,878)
(68,891) (73,169)

288,371 294,995




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances
Time deposits
Less: Restricted cash and pledged
deposits

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial
position

RERERSZEEE (BD)/
12 0% 5
FORRE MERSEEER

SN TE R BB BIF R

FRERSNERESEHEER

RERERSEEHEBERIN

B MRTTHES
BHERK
o ZR IR S R E IR ER

RAEMBARRNRARIRE K
ReEERA

Notes
B 5E

27
27

27
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Year ended 31 March 2015

2015
2015 &

HK$'000
FHERT

HZE201F3A31HIEEFE

2014
20144
HKS'000
FETT

(113,808) 211,279
820,930 607,615
(4,461) 2,036
702,661 820,930
675,461 918,200
617,626 407,314
(590,426) (504,584)
702,661 820,930




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Are SRR M AL

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

114

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda, and the principal place
of business of the Company is located at C2, 5/F, Hong Kong
Spinners Industrial Building, 601—-603 Tai Nan West Street,
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”), joint operations and associates were involved in the
following principal activities:

provision of services in areas of civil engineering, electrical
and mechanical engineering, foundation and building
construction in Hong Kong;

property development and investment in Hong Kong,
mainland of the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC") and
the United Arab Emirates (the "UAE");

provision of security, cleaning and other property
management related services in Hong Kong.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint
operations and associates are set out in notes 47, 48 and 49,
respectively.

At 31 March 2015, the immediate holding company of the
Company is China New Way Investment Limited (“China New
Way"), which is incorporated in Hong Kong, and, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the ultimate holding company of
the Company is New Way International Investment Holdings
Limited, which is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the "BVI").
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Despite that the Company had a net current liability position of
HKS141 million and the Group had capital and other
commitments of HKS$423 million in aggregate as at 31 March
2015 as detailed in notes 50 and 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group will have adequate funds available to enable it to
operate as a going concern, based on the Group’s cash flow
projection which, inter alia, takes into account the historical
operating performance of the Group and the following:

(@) the existing banking facilities available to the Group as at
the date of approval of these financial statements and on
the assumption that such facilities will continue to be
available from the Group's bankers;

(b) proceeds from the sale of all the Group's interest in Profit
City International Limited (“Profit City", a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group) (note 28(b));

(c) certain of the above-mentioned total capital commitments
are expected to be fulfilled by the Group after 31 March
2016 with reference to the terms of respective agreements
and the current status of the projects; and

(d) the Company will consider equity financing when necessary.

Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the going concern basis which assumes, among
other things, the realisation of assets and satisfaction of liabilities
in the normal course of business.

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

2.1 2HEZ%E

BE FEERE B3R M50 & 42 5 BIFT
it - RRARINR2015F3 A3 BZRiea
& F 587K F 4 141,000,000 7T - fiAER
2 BAR K H A # S $£ 5 423,000,000%
T ARRIEERE ERAEENE S
IER - ST R(EREE) AEERTEE
RENURTHEEE  AEBEEEERR
B o AR ERE AR

(@) AKERZFHREVHRRELER
HZRBRARITRE - WRKREH
BEBBERANRE 2 RITIRME

(b) HEAREER Profit City International
Limited ([ Profit City | » AEBHEE
MEBRR) z A= (FizE28(b)) 2
FrSsk0E

(c) Z2=EHRBHEEFIEEEEENE R
M ANREBIEFER2016F3 A
31 BE MR bl T E AR RIEARE
X

(d)  ARFFNETERERETRAR

Elt - ZERANBRRDEBEERSLEE
RS WRR(ETPEE)RBEEEKA
RASHEERSNEE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

116

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("‘HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention except for (i) investment properties and equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value; and (ii) non-current assets and a disposal
group classified as held for sale which are stated at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further
explained in note 3.3. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2015. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014/15
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described in the accounting
policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised standards and new
interpretation for the first time for the current year's consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
Non-Financial Assets

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation
of Hedge Accounting

HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies

Amendment to HKFRS 2 included in Definition of Vesting Condition’
Annual Improvements 2010-2012

Cycle

Amendment to HKFRS 3 included in Accounting for Contingent Consideration
Annual Improvements 2010-2012 in a Business Combination’
Cycle

Amendment to HKFRS 13 included in Short-term Receivables and Payables
Annual Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle
Amendment to HKFRS 1 included in Meaning of Effective HKFRSs
Annual Improvements 2011-2013
Cycle

! Effective from 1 July 2014

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
amendments to HKAS 32, HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 and certain
amendments included in Annual Improvements 2010—2012 Cycle
and Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle, the adoption of the
above revised standards and the new interpretation has had no
significant financial effect on these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@)

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently
has a legally enforceable right to set off" for offsetting
financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendments
also clarify the application of the offsetting criteria in HKAS
32 to settlement systems (such as central clearing house
systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms that
are not simultaneous. The amendments have had no impact
on the Group as the Group does not have any offsetting
arrangement.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability
for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as
identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. The
interpretation also clarifies that a levy liability is accrued
progressively only if the activity that triggers payment
occurs over a period of time, in accordance with the relevant
legislation. For a levy that is triggered upon reaching a
minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no
liability should be recognised before the specified minimum
threshold is reached. The interpretation has had no impact
on the Group as the Group applied, in prior years, the
recognition principles under HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets which for the levies incurred
by the Group are consistent with the requirements of
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21.

The HKFRS 2 Amendment clarifies various issues relating to
the definitions of performance and service conditions which
are vesting conditions, including (i) a performance condition
must contain a service condition; (ii) a performance target
must be met while the counterparty is rendering service; (iii)
a performance target may relate to the operations or
activities of an entity, or to those of another entity in the
same group; (iv) a performance condition may be a market
or non-market condition; and (v) if the counterparty,
regardless of the reason, ceases to provide service during
the vesting period, the service condition is not satisfied. The
amendment has had no impact on the Group.
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3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

120

©)

The HKFRS 3 Amendment clarifies that contingent
consideration arrangements arising from a business
combination that are not classified as equity should be
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss
whether or not they fall within the scope of HKFRS 9 or
HKAS 39. The amendment has had no impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 13 Amendment clarifies that short-term
receivables and payables with no stated interest rates can
be measured at invoice amounts when the effect of
discounting is immaterial. The amendment has had no
impact on the Group.

In addition, the Group has early adopted the amendments to The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules") issued
by the Stock Exchange relating to the disclosure of financial
information with reference to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current financial year. The main
impact to the consolidated financial statements is on the
presentation and disclosure of certain information in the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments*
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?
Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 (2011) Consolidation Exception*

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations®
HKFRS 14 Requlatory Deferral Accounts®
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative?
Amendments to HKAS 16 and Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation?
Amendments to HKAS 16 and Agriculture: Bearer Plants?
HKAS 41
Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee

Amendments to HKAS 27 (2011)

Annual Improvements 2010-2012

Contributions'

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements?

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs!

Cycle

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Amendments to a number of HKFRSS'
Cycle

Annual Improvements 20122014 Amendments to a number of HKFRSs?
Cycle

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

g Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual
financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and
therefore is not applicable to the Group
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

122

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

(@ In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of
HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous
versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects to
adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group expects that
the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have an impact on the
classification and measurement of the Group's financial
assets. Further information about the impact will be
available nearer the implementation date of the standard.

(b) The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 April 2016.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(c)

The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer of
an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the
joint operation constitutes a business must apply the
relevant principles for business combinations in HKFRS 3.
The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest
in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of
an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint
control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been
added to HKFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not
apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the
reporting entity, are under common control of the same
ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both
the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and
the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint
operation. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 April 2016.

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply
to revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract asset and
liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all
current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs.
The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2017 and
is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon
adoption.
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

124

(e)

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus
improvements in respect of the presentation and disclosure
in financial statements in five areas, including materiality,
disaggregation and subtotals, notes structure, disclosure of
accounting policies and presentation of items of other
comprehensive income arising from equity accounted
investments. The amendments further encourage entities to
apply professional judgement in determining what
information to disclose and how to structure the disclosure
in the consolidated financial statements. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2016.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the principle
in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of
economic benefits that are generated from operating
business (of which the asset is part) rather than the
economic benefits that are consumed through the use of
the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot be
used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may
only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise
intangible assets. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The amendments are not expected to have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group upon adoption on 1 April 2016 as the Group has not
used a revenue-based method for the calculation of
depreciation of its non-current assets.

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle issued
in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs. Except for those described in note 3.1, the Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2015. None
of the amendments are expected to have a significant
financial impact on the Group. Details of the amendment
most applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments clarifies that an entity must
disclose the judgements made by management in applying
the aggregation criteria in HKFRS 8, including a brief
description of operating segments that have been
aggregated and the economic characteristics used to
assess whether the segments are similar. The amendments
also clarify that a reconciliation of segment assets to total
assets is only required to be disclosed if the reconciliation is
reported to the chief operating decision maker.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associates, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is
included as part of the Group's investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over
the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale,
it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale”.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly;

its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising
from the joint operation;

its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the
joint operation; and

its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the
Group's interest in a joint operation are accounted for in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person's
family and that person (i) has control or joint control over
the Group; (ii) has significant influence over the Group; or (iii)
is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a holding company of the Group; or
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NOTESTT)CONSOUDATEDFWUWMNALSTATEMENTS
e MR

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a holding company, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)~ the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the
entity).

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy
by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is
classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale”.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation of leasehold land under finance leases and buildings
are calculated on the straight-line basis to write off their costs (i)
over the shorter of the lease term and 50 years in respect of
leasehold land; and (ii) over the shorter of the lease term and 25
years in respect of buildings.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is calculated
on the reducing balance basis to write off the cost of each item of
other property, plant and equipment to its estimated residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated depreciation
rates per annum of different categories of other property, plant
and equipment are as follows:

Plant and machinery 156% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 15%
Motor vehicles 25%
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or
loss in the period the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment

property are recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

When a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, any difference between
the carrying amount and the fair value of the property at the date
of change in use is accounted for as follows:

(@) any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the
property is recognised in profit or loss in the period the
change in use takes place; or

(b) any resulting increase in the carrying amount is credited to
profit or loss, to the extent that the increase reverses a
previous impairment loss for that property, or restores the
carrying amount of the property to an amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the property in prior
periods; and any remaining part of the increase in the
carrying amount is credited directly to equity in the property
revaluation reserve. On subsequent disposal of the property,
the relevant portion of the property revaluation reserve
realised is transferred to retained profits as a movement in
reserves.

For a transfer from investment properties to properties under
development or properties held for sale, the deemed cost of a
property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of
change in use.

The Group transfers a property from properties under
development or properties held for sale to investment property
when there is a change in use to hold the property to earn rentals
or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary
course of business, which is evidenced by the commencement of
an operating lease to another party. For a transfer from properties
under development or properties held for sale to investment
properties, any difference between the fair value of the property at
the date of change in use and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through
a sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to
be the case, the asset or disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for the sale of such assets or disposal
groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets and
liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with
the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases are included in non-current assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing

nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases, net of
any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the
entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and
buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale

Land held for property development and properties under
development are intended to be held for sale after completion of
the property development. Land held for property development
and properties under development are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the normal
operating cycle. On completion, the properties are transferred to
properties held for sale.

Land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost include prepaid land lease
payments and cost of land/land use rights together with any other
direct costs attributable to the development of the properties, and
borrowing costs capitalised during the development period. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to estimated selling
price based on prevailing market conditions less (i) anticipated
cost to completion of the development in respect of properties
under development; and (ii) estimated costs to be incurred in
marketing and selling the properties.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than investment
properties, land held for property development, properties under
development, properties held for sale, deferred tax assets,
financial assets, amounts due from contract customers and non-
current assets/disposal groups classified as held for sale), the
asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of a non-financial asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior periods. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or
available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets, except in the case of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

(a)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. These
net fair value changes do not include any dividends or
interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
‘Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date of
initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

136

(b)

©

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in interest income in profit or loss.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised as other
expenses in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial
assets in unlisted equity investments. Equity investments
classified as available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair value
through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss in other income/
other expenses, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to
profit or loss in other expenses. Dividends earned whilst
holding the available-for-sale investments are reported as
dividend income and are recognised in profit or loss as other
income in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost
less any impairment losses.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the statement of financial
position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the assets. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred assets to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

(a)  Loans and receivables

For loans and receivables, the Group first assesses whether
impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or
not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Impairment (continued)

(a)  Loans and receivables (continued)
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the amount
of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in profit or loss.

(b)  Available-for-sale investments carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on the unlisted equity investment that is not
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at
fair value and net of directly attributable transaction costs.
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POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included as finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issue of the guarantee. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period and (i) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Convertible bonds containing an equity component

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share capital at
the option of the holder, where the number of shares that would
be issued on conversion and the value of the consideration that
would be received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain both a liability
component and an equity component (conversion option).

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics
of a liability is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial
position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible
bonds, the fair value of the liability component is determined using
a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and this
amount is carried as a non-current liability or a current liability, as
appropriate, on the amortised cost basis until extinguished on
conversion or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds, net of
transaction costs, is allocated to the conversion option (the equity
component) which is recognised and included in the Company's
convertible bond equity reserve. The carrying amount of the
conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent years.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bonds based on the allocation of
proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are first recognised.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included as finance
costs in profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at
the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above; and
(ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@)

from construction services, on the percentage-of-completion
basis, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Construction contracts” below;

from the rendering of other services, when services have
been performed;

from the sale of properties, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the properties sold;

rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest rate method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset; and

dividend income, when the equity holders' right to receive
payment has been established.
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POLICIES (continued)

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and costs are recognised in profit or loss by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the
end of the reporting period, which is measured by reference to
surveys of the value of work carried out to date as certified by
external valuer. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
payments are included to the extent that the amount can be
measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of
contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.
Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which
they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from contract customers. For contracts where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
amounts due to contract customers. Amounts received before the
related work is performed are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received.
Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the
customer are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under trade receivables.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates two share option schemes for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors of the Company) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using Black-Scholes option pricing model,
further details of which are given in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in
employee benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
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POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

Upon the exercise of share options, the resulting shares issued
are recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the
nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price
per share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the
Company in the share premium account. In addition, at the time
when the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to the
share premium account.

Share options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or
lapse are deleted from the register of outstanding options. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
the share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits as a
movement in reserves.

The diluted effect of outstanding share options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees' basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the
PRC are required to participate in central pension schemes
operated by the local governments, the assets of which are held
separately from those of the Group. Contributions are made by
the subsidiaries based on a percentage of the participating
employees’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension schemes. The employer contributions vest fully once
made.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the activity of a
construction contract are included as part of the contract costs.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

150

POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been
approved by the shareholders in general meetings.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar,
which is the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the consolidated financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries and associates
established in the PRC and overseas are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC and
overseas are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of these subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements and have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are set out below:
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4.

152

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.

ESTIMATES (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that
management has made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxes

The Group has adopted amendments to HKAS 12 which include a
presumption that the carrying value of investment properties that
are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting date will be
recovered through sale for the purposes of measuring deferred
taxes. This presumption may be overcome if the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
over time rather than through sale. The directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts
of the investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.

ESTIMATES (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)
Joint arrangements

The Group has numerous joint arrangements with third parties for
construction work and leasing of certain car parking spaces in
Hong Kong and under which decisions about the relevant
activities of such arrangements require the unanimous consent of
all parties to the arrangements. For accounting purposes, the
directors of the Company assessed whether such arrangements
are joint operations or joint ventures under HKFRS 11. After
considering the rights and obligations of parties to the joint
arrangements with reference to the structure, the legal form of the
arrangements, the contractual terms agreed by the parties in the
arrangements, and the relevant facts and circumstances, the
directors of the Company concluded that all of the Group's joint
arrangements should be classified as joint operations under
HKFRS 11 as the relevant contractual agreements for these joint
arrangements specify that the parties to the joint arrangements
have rights to the assets and obligations to the liabilities relating
to the joint arrangements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year:
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4.

154

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.

ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Construction contracts

Management estimates the amount of foreseeable losses or
attributable profits of construction works based on the latest
available budgets of the construction contracts with reference to
the overall performance of each construction contract and
management’s best estimates and judgements. The Group
recognises contract revenue and profit on a construction contract
according to the management's estimation of the total outcome
of the project as well as the percentage of completion of
construction works, which are determined based on independent
surveys of work. Estimated construction income is determined in
accordance with the terms set out in the relevant contract.
Construction costs which mainly comprise sub-contracting
charges and costs of materials are estimated by the management
on the basis of quotations from time to time provided by the
major contractors/suppliers/vendors involved and the experience
of the management. Because of the nature of the construction
industry, management reqgularly reviews the progress of the
contracts and the estimated construction income and costs.

The Group also monitors the collectivity of payments from
contract customers against variation works and claims, which
highly depends on whether the values of work carried out are
certified by the employers’ engineers of the respective projects. If
there is indication that the construction cost incurred become
irrecoverable, the Group will reassess the outcome of the
contracts and recognise impairment losses if necessary.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.

ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 March 2015 at their fair value of
approximately HK$250 million (2014: HKS61 million). The fair
value was based on valuation of these properties conducted by
the independent qualified professional valuers using property
valuation techniques which adopt the direct comparison approach
by making reference to comparable sales transactions as
available in the relevant markets or, by capitalising the net rental
income derived from the existing tenancies with due allowance for
reversionary income potential of the respective properties.
Favourable or unfavourable changes to the assumptions such as
rental yield and estimation of future rentals would result in
changes in the fair value of the Group's investment properties and
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss.

Determination of net realisable value of land held for property
development, properties under development and properties held

for sale

Land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale remaining unsold are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net
realisable value is the estimated selling price (based on the direct
comparison method) less estimated selling expenses and
estimated cost of completion (if any), which are determined based
on best available information and valuation performed by
independent professional valuers. Where there is any decrease in
the estimated selling price, revision in estimated selling expenses
and/or estimated cost of completion arising from any changes to
the property market conditions in Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC
and the UAE, additional loss may be recognised on the land held
for property development, properties under development and
properties held for sale in profit or loss. As at 31 March 2015, the
cumulative write-down of HKS$6,490,000 (2014: HKS85,183,000)
has been recognised for land held for property development,
properties under development and properties held for sale, mainly
attributable to the decrease in estimated selling price having
considered the current market condition in the UAE.
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4.

156

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.

ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Income tax

As at 31 March 2015, deferred tax assets in relation to unused tax
losses of HK$12,812,000 (2014: HKS$146,268,000) in aggregate
have been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position (note 35). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of tax losses of HK$271,989,000 and HK$397,006,000 as
at 31 March 2015 and 2014, respectively, due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the
deferred tax assets mainly depend on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future. In cases where the actual future profits generated are less
or more than expected, a material reversal or further recognition
of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in
profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal or recognition
takes place.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group's operating businesses are
structured and managed separately according to the nature of
their operations and the products and services they provide. Each
of the Group's operating segments represents a strategic
business unit that offers products and services which are subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of the other
operating segments.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company and certain
senior management (collectively referred as the “CODM"). For the
purpose of performance assessment and resource allocation by
the CODM, the Group's business activities are categorised under
the following three reportable operating segments:

Construction = provision of services in areas of
work civil engineering, electrical and
mechanical engineering,
foundation and building
construction

Property = sale and leasing of properties
development
and
investment

Professional - provision of security, cleaning and
services other property management

related services

During the year, the CODM assessed the performance of the
previously reported “property development” segment and the
“property investment” segment and allocated resources to them
on a combined basis and these two previously reported operating
segments had been combined to a single reportable operating
segment during the current year accordingly. The comparative
figures have also been reclassified to conform to the current
year's presentation.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RXES\ER (EF)
(continued)
Segment revenues and results PEEXEREE

REFZAT2REEDRED
EEOMWAT

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by D2 BTN

reportable operating segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2015

BZE201563A31HLLFE

158

Property
Construction development Professional
work and investment services Total
BETE MXBERRE SERE &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TERT TR TET
Segment revenue: 2R
Sales to external customers RINBEFHE 7,863,286 93,335 360,466 8,317,087
Segment results DEEE 125,309 49,413 19,155 193,877
Bank interest income HRITH WA 12,147
Corporate and other PEREMKSBERX
unallocated expenses (21,131)
Finance costs BERA (39,728)
Income tax Frig R (41,894)
Profit for the year REFHF 103,271
Other segment information; Hittp &R :
Share of profits and losses of FERE AR
associates i A g 1R (1,271) 38,475 - 37,204
Depreciation e 5,401 195 1,005 6,601
Fair value gain on investment REMEZ A TE
properties, net Wean % - 9,344 - 9,344
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HEME - HER
items of property, plant REEEWE/ (FE)
and equipment, net Pt 3,704 86 (343) 3,447
Reversal of impairment of B E  EURIR 2
other receivables HE - 7,003 - 7,003

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014/15



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR AR BT et

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2014

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers

Segment results

Bank interest income

Corporate and other
unallocated expenses

Finance costs

Income tax

Profit for the year

Other segment information:

Share of profits and losses of
associates

Depreciation

Fair value gain on investment
properties, net

Gain on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Write-down of land held for
property development

Write-down of properties
held for sale to net realisable
value (included in cost of
properties sold)

Write-down of deposits paid for
purchase of properties held
for sale

S
PR

PRRE

RITFIEMA
EERAMRDERX

BERA
FT{3 Rt

RER N

Hittp BEHR :
FEEHE N
i A KR
e
REWEZAYE
Wz F 5
HEME  #ER
R B s
WRFHEN R R R 2 L3

MR EREMEE
ERFEGARE
UEPES)

MRBERSIEHENR
ZENEE

Construction
work

BETE
HK$'000
FET

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

5. \; ﬁ*sl'(mﬁ)

PEEEENEE (E)
BZ2014F3A31HILLEE

Property
development
and investment
MEZRRRE
HK$'000

THET

Professional
services
EXRT
HKS'000
THET

Total
ait

HK$'000

TR

5:891,362 368,727 291,151 6,551,240
57,223 115,120 16,955 189,208
12,489

(20,561)

(41,405)

(46,498)

93323

(1892) 12,020 - 10128
5537 370 952 6,859
- 34,750 - 34,750

783 120 53 956

- 6,490 - 6,490

- 8290 - 8,290

- 1225 - 1225
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5.

160

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies adopted in preparing the reportable
segment information are the same as the Group's accounting
policies described in note 3.3.

Segment result represents the gross profit/(loss) generated from
each segment, net of selling expenses and administrative
expenses directly attributable to each segment without allocation
of corporate expenses, interest income and finance costs. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities
Total segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as they are
not reqularly reviewed by the CODM.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Hong Kong B
Macau YT
The PRC ==}
The UAE Fa]Bsk 28

The revenue information disclosed above is based on the
locations of the customers.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
Geographical information (continued)
(b) Non-current assets

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

\; ﬁ*sl'(mﬁ)

it B ()
b) FEFBEE

Hong Kong B
Macau B
The PRC =a
Other jurisdictions Hith B AR

The non-current asset information disclosed above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the year, two customers located in Hong Kong and from
the construction work segment contributed more than 10% of the
Group's revenue for the year and the revenue earned from these
two customers amounted to HKS3,786,752,000 (2014:
HKS$2,540,562,000) and HKS1,175,242,000 (2014:
HKS$1,071,827,000), respectively.

2015 2014
2015 & 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
THxT T
584,590 403,165
598 27,798
4,137 4,948
248,295 74,002
837,620 509,913

LR ERBEERRIRIEE
EMEREERTANMRLERALE)
PR R D48

ERXEREF2EH

RAFE  EMEREREIRESHBNE
BEPAEBARFEWREBBI0% M
MREEFPFPRIZEKED A A
3,786,752,000% 7L (20144 :
2,540,562,000 % 7T ) & 1,175,242,000 % 7T
(20144 : 1,071,827,000%7T) °
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6.
Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents: (1) an
appropriate proportion of contract revenue of construction
contracts for the provision of services in areas of civil engineering,
electrical and mechanical engineering, foundation and building
construction; (2) the invoiced value of properties sold, net of
business tax and government surcharges; (3) gross rental income
from leasing of properties; and (4) service fees from the provision
of security, cleaning and other property management related
services.

ERE - HWAR KRS FHE
BEUARIAEEZ S¥8) 3 : ()3
RELATR REIR HERETE
BTROBREZBELHZEE LIS
BIEA QB ENEZEREEGIHE
EBRBAHNE)  QREAENE
MEWABE : R(A)REES - BRRE
s B AR 2 RIS -

AEBMZERE  HMRARKSFEZ

An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income and gains, net, is

162

as follows: DT -
2015
20154
HKS$'000
THxT
Revenue —E
Construction work TR 7,863,286 5,891,362
Sale of properties SHE W 81,418 356,297
Gross rental income He WA Bz 11,917 12,430
Rendering of services AR T TR 360,466 291,151
8,317,087 6,551,240
Other income Hug A
Bank interest income FRITH B WA 12,147 12,489
Rental income He WA 929 3,354
Construction work supervision fee FRETIZERS 24,964 -
Management fee EEE 3,960 3,920
Sundry income I A 8,228 7,849
50,228 27,612
Gains, net Wz F AR
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant  H&EW% - WRERREER 2
and equipment, net WS F 58 3,447 956
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries BUBE M E A 72 W 1,024 22,313
4,471 23,269
Other income and gains, net H 4o WA B Mz 558 54,699 50,881
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31 March 2015
201543 A31H

FINANCE COSTS 7. BERAK
2015 2014
2015 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHET FHET
Interests on: NI EEZFE
Trust receipt loans and other bank loans ErESBEER R EMRITER 57,921 61,831
Unsecured bond payable to a related e —RHERRZ
company EIERES 10,875 10,875
Hire purchase contract and finance lease ~ FABAXREMNRERE
payables 1,853 1,245
Amounts due to other partners REEEBEMBHFIA
of joint operations 95 463
70,744 74414
Imputed interest on convertible bonds AHRRES 2 HE RS 1,206 -
Total finance costs BELE P AR 71,950 74,414
Less: Amount included in cost of W EFAREIRKAZ
construction work EEE] (29,077) (27,654)
Amount capitalised in properties BREARZBRRIDYEZHEE
under development (3,145) (5,355)
39,728 41,405

BANREEMARAT 2014/15%F% 163



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. PBRBIANER
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEEZBRERAEFENE(GEA) T3
(crediting): 217
2015 2014
2015 £ 20144
HKS$'000 HKS'000
FHBxT FETT
Cost of construction work EETIREKA 7,497,487 5,612,175
Cost of properties sold B EWEKA 51,451 255,725
Cost of services provided B R AR A AN 321,790 253,786
Depreciation e 14 54,222 45,183
Less: Amount included in cost of W T ABRETIRENAN 2
construction work g (47,621) (38,324)
6,601 6,859

Write-down of land held for property ~ #UBIFEM ¥R 2 LihE

s=4

development to net realisable value AT &I % (E (5 A

(included in cost of properties sold) EEWEKA) - 6,490
Write-down of properties held MORIFIEIHE MR
for sale to net realisable value AEEEE GTA
(included in cost of properties sold) EEWERAR) - 8,290
Write-down of deposits paid for WORE EFHESHE MR
purchase of properties held for sale ~ Z Bz & - 1,225
Reversal of impairment of other $¢ [0 HL th FE U SR IE 2 R E
receivables 24(b) (7,003) =
Fair value loss on equity investments 2R {EzF A8z
at fair value through profit or loss R E 2 N TEEE 55 121
Minimum lease payments under EEMRNT 2 RERERNK
operating leases 123,113 116,206
Less: Amount included in cost of W FFABRELZRA 2B
construction work (114,188) (108,750)
8,925 7,456
Auditors’ remuneration: BRI 2 -
Current year RNEE 3,518 3,717
Underprovision in prior year BEFERETNR - 1,169
3,518 4,386
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

Employee benefit expense (including
directors' remuneration — note 9)
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Equity-settled share option expense
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

Total employee benefit expense
Less: Amount included in cost of
construction work
Amount capitalised in properties
under development

Foreign exchange differences, net

Direct operating expenses (including repairs
and maintenance) arising from
rental-earning investment properties

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules and sections 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

8.

BERIAX (BRESEME

BRBL AR R ()

2015
20155

HK$'000
TER

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

2014
20144
HKS'000
T

L))
e R REMEA 1,625,002 1,348,393
R A 4 SRR AR AE A S 281 516
RINEFFT B 49,122 37,218
EERMAT AR 1,674,405 1,386,127
W ST AR TR 7 8
(1,123,608) (916,120)
BREAZERERYE
ZEE (223) (7,7119)
550,574 462,288
&&= FE 371 203
BiEREAE 2 REYE
FTEAEEEERY
(BIEEBRE) 3,479 1,443
9. EEME

BT

BB ET R B R EE R F KPS 383(1)
@ b)) RO AFEZEEMEHR

Fees

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

Total directors’ remuneration

Hisf & -
e ERREEYERN
RIRAR M ET B K

EEMomsE

BANXEREEERAT 2014/15FR

2015

2015 &

HK$'000

FHBxT
1,212 888
10,664 11,139
153 60
10,817 11,199
12,029 12,087
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2015643 A31H

9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEMS ()
An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named basis, is as NAZFAEH 2 EZMEDTAT :
follows:
2015 20154
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
ek RIEF
we Hit @ FHEIHR #HEE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
THET THET FHET FHERT
Executive directors: HITES
Xu Jianhua, Jerry * G - 587 5 592
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Z—H = 3,224 60 3,284
Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement B S = 2,692 60 2,752
Li Wai Hang, Christina * TE /A - 1,678 15 1,693
= 8,181 140 8,321
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic® TR 55 2,483 13 2,551
Zhang Xiaoliang * RAONRF 37 - - 37
Chow Wing Kin, Anthony # K 37 - - 37
129 2,483 13 2,625
Independent non-executive BIUFMTES
directors:
Chan Stephen Yin Wai # PRERE 37 - - 37
Kwan Ringo Cheukkai # B R 37 - - 37
Wu William Wai Leung # Rz 37 - - 37
Au Son Yiu A I £ 4 A 243 = - 243
Chan Chiu Ying, Alec * PREA LA 243 - = 243
Hui Chiu Chung, Stephen FrHRH A 243 - - 243
Lee Shing See F AN 243 - - 243
1,083 = = 1,083
Total Rk 1,212 10,664 153 12,029
* appointed as a director on 3 January 2015 * 20151 A3REZTAES
2 re-designated as a non-executive director on 3 January 2015 @ 2015%F1 A3 R ERERIFNITES
& appointed as directors on 1 February 2015 B 20152 A1 BEZEARES

resigned as directors on 1 February 2015 201542 A1 BEHIES
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9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

2014

Executive directors:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement
Li Wai Hang, Christina

Independent non-executive
directors:
Au Son Yiu
Chan Chiu Ying, Alec
Hui Chiu Chung, Stephen
Lee Shing See

Total

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2014: Nil).

HITESE:
2
Z—H
e sl
TEM

BUIFPTES -

BRI
Eiile
£

Frake]

e

=
AR

A

& B SRR MR

31 March 2015

20153 H31H

9. EEM= (B

Fees

12k
HKS'000
TET

20145

Salaries
and other
benefits

FENk
H it 1@ 7
HKS'000
TEx

Retirement
benefit
scheme
contributions
RIRAEA
SHEIHR
HKS'000
THT

Total

HK$'000
TAT

- 3177 15 3192
- 3,296 16 3311
- 2,663 15 2,678
- 2,003 15 2,018
- 11,139 60 11,199
222 - - 222
222 - - 222
222 - - 222
222 - - 222
888 - - 888
888 11,139 60 12,087

RAFEE > WEEMTHEEESEILRE
KRB RETEMME (2014F : &) -
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one
director (2014: two directors) of the Company, details of whose
emoluments are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2014: three) non-
director highest paid employees are as follows:

168

10.

TEERETMES

AEE AT MEEREARA—
HZEE(2014F  MBESE) HEMFE
BN ESCHIFE9 - FEAREARIMA (20144 ¢
—R)FEEHELTHREREZTHMFREN
T

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e R M EMEF]
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRFEFIET B3R

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
THxT T
13,450 10,454
113 30
13,563 10,484

e FTIBENZIFEFHFHE
B2 N8BT :

Number of employees

EEAH
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$3,000,001 to HKS$3,500,000 3,000,001 B 7L E 3,500,000 /87T 3 1
HK$3,500,001 to HKS$4,000,000 3,500,001 7L & 4,000,000 /57T 1 2
4 3
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11. INCOME TAX 11.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2074: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

PigE
EBFEHR IR AEENERBEE 2 M
= FE AR B 0% A A 16.5% (2014 4F : 16.5%)
ETIRE MR o b H b [ B SR B S RS 2
I DIRBAREBGE 2 Al ERRIRAT
REFTE -

which the Group operates.

2015 2014
20154 20144

HK$'000 HKS'000

Current — Hong Kong
Charge for the year
Under-provision in prior years

Current — PRC
Charge for the year
Under-provision in prior years

Current — Elsewhere
Charge for the year

Land appreciation tax ("LAT")
Charge for the year

Deferred (note 35)

Total tax charge for the year

BIER — &B
AEERX
BEFEREETR

BIER — B
REFR
BEFERETR

BIER — EAdith Ty
REFR

TR ER ([ LR (ER )
RERR

AT (PE35)

REEHIAR A
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TR THET

15,677 9,795
6,359 92
22,036 9,887
5,899 18,968
518 1,818
6,417 20,786
2,693 4,355
4,505 8,574
6,243 2,896
41,894 46,498
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2015643 A31H

11. INCOME TAX (continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory rates to the tax expense at the Group's effective

170

tax rate is as follows:

11.

Frig® (&)

A TE R R E 2 B AT F 8 A 5 18 5
YERBEAEEERHEAEZHERALZ
AR ¢

Profit before tax

Tax expense at the statutory
tax rates

Profits and losses attributable
to associates

Expenses not deductible for tax

Income not subject to tax

Under-provision in prior years,
net

Tax losses not recognised

Tax losses available to set off
the assessable profits of
joint operations

Other tax losses utilised from
previous period

PRC LAT

Tax effect of LAT

Others

Tax expense at the Group’s
effective tax rate

P A5 A1t )

BEREBER 2 BIAMX

NGl X =P

i | e 518
RRIMBFX
BRGTZ WA
BEFERETR
HER
AR 2 HIBAEE
AIREREEE

R Z R  F
ZRIAEE

el R
HAb AR
B IR (AT
THRERRAYE
Hity

BAKBERNEGE
ZBIAF

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$'000 % HKS'000
TET FHIT
145,165 139,821
27,093 18.7 28,492 20.4
(4,859) (3.3) (1,671) (1.2)
4,618 3.2 13,874 9.9
(5,561) (3.8) (10,716) (7.7)
6,877 4.7 1,910 1.4
11,614 8.0 11,458 8.2
- - (3,432) (2.4)
(997) 0.7) (2,048) (1.5)
4,505 3.1 8,574 6.1
(1,126) (0.8) (2,143) (1.5)
(270) (0.2) 2200 16
41,894 28.9 46,498 333
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12. DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE AND DIVIDEND

EYMnIk
EEANRE - &

Distribution in specie
Proposed final — Nil
(2014: 1.7 cents) per ordinary share

Notes:

(@)  On 31 December 2014, as part of the conditions precedent to fulfill
in connection with the sale of the Company's ordinary shares by a
then major shareholder of the Company to a then third party, the
Group distributed all of its equity interest in Excel Value International
Limited (“Excel Value”, a then wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability) to the Company's shareholders by way of a distribution in
specie. The distribution in specie was approved by the shareholders
of the Company at a special general meeting held on 19 December
2014.

Excel Value and its subsidiary (collectively, the “Excel Value Group”)
are involved in property acquisition and redevelopment of an
industrial building located at 55-57 Wing Hong Street and 84-86
King Lam Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Upon the
completion of the distribution in specie, Excel Value ceased to be a
subsidiary of the Group and the retained profits of the Group was
reduced by HK$423,991,000, which is equivalent to the then
consolidated net book value of the Excel Value Group, as
summarised below:

(20144 : % 1.77800)

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

12. EYIDIREKRE

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET T
(a) 423,991 -
(b) - 18,565
423,991 18,565

Bt

(@) 20145128318 tEARARERE
ERRHEARRAEBRRTERE=H 2
SR 2 — 3D - ANE B H R Excel
Value International Limited ([ Excel
Value] * RRBIEKZ2EWBREF - A
REBRZHSFMKIZERAGF) 2
2 ERELAEY DR R DK T AR FRR
R BYHIKARRARRN 2014512
A19 BRI 2 RERRIARE LB -

Excel Value & H K & 2 7] ( £t 78 [Excel
Value EE ) K EMEWE REEMNE
BRIk BEH55-57 5% & 18 M
84-865 2 THEAE - REXEY H K
% ' Excel Value "B AAEE 2K B A
Al MAEBZREB&EF TR D
423,991,000% 7T - 18 & 1 Excel Value &
EEEZGARIFE BT

HK$'000
TAT

Net assets of the Excel Value Group deconsolidated
and the amount of reduction in the Group's

HUH%R A ABR 2 Excel Value £ &
BEFEHRSNEBREEF

retained profits: 5 Bl R 2 BRE

Property under development RPN 463,147

Cost and deposits paid for acquisition of certain MOEFERYEE THAEF

office units for property development ZRARENRE 11,083

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERRIE -« BE REMBKRFIE 308

Cash and cash equivalents ReRERSEETEE 131

Other payables and accruals H At FE T RRIE R FE ST R0IE (50,678)
Total #aEt 423,991
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

12.

13.

172

DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE AND DIVIDEND

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(@  (continued)
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in

respect of the deconsolidation of the Excel Value Group as a result
of the distribution in specie is as follows:

12.

BY 2 IRkKRE ()
MiaE - (4)
(@ (&
H Excel Value EEE B KM A BE7E

ARZHS ARG EERE REFES
W :

HKS$'000
TAT

Cash and bank balances deconsolidated and net outflow BUE4E& ABRZ IS RIBTETFURR SR

of cash and cash equivalents

Further details of the distribution in specie are set out in the
Company's circular dated 26 November 2014 and announcement
dated 31 December 2014.

(b)  The board of directors (the “Board”) did not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014:
HK1.7 cents per share).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company, adjusted to reflect the effect of the deemed conversion
of all the Group's dilutive convertible bonds at the respective dates
of issue. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the total of (i) the number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation; and (ii) the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise of all dilutive share options and warrants of the
Company, as appropriate, and the deemed conversion of all
dilutive convertible bonds into ordinary shares, at the beginning of
the year or the date of issue, whichever is the later.
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REEEYRLFE 131

BHEENDRZEZFHBEHNAAR B
B2014F 1M A28 2@ K&K B 8 A
201412 A31 B Z A% »

by EBEg(EZFg)TEZRMNEZE2015
FI3A3NHILFE 2 RBARE (20144 :
BRT.7H8) o

RRARREEERER

BEREAREF - HIREARNQBRRENSF
& M J 5 A AT B SRR INHE T 15 Bt
o

FREFERNTIBRBEARRBIRELFE
wmMEE WRAEBREEEE#EE LA
BEREFRERSHBERTAREL RN
fEH AR » FFEATA M T BT I8
BT Z @M () FRABHTHEBRE
B(EFE8REABMMERERR)
R)RENFENHETZH(ABRBRES
%) RRBAAEEEEBIRERBRE
& (WER) G EITE R BB
BEESFRGFELER ST BB NEER
TTEE BN K -
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31 March 2015
201543 A31H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13. XA RAELEBRER (E)
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share BRERKEFRATIEEATBBRAE

amounts is based on the following data:
Earnings ZF

2015 2014
2015 F 20144

HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders & AR A1 REREF] - F{E

of the Company, used in the basic earnings FTEEREREF

per share calculation 102,518 93,009
Imputed interest on convertible bonds A]RER 2 HEFE 1,206 =

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders A2 BIAX B FE (5 AN FE i Al - F1E

of the Company, used in the diluted STEEREERT
earnings per share calculation 103,724 93,009
Number of shares idnip 4=
2015 2014
2015 F 20144
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FRE /T EBINEFHE - BiE
in issue during the year, used in the basic ATEERERRF
earnings per share calculation 1,114,182,615 1,038,788,979
Effect of dilution — weighted average number ~ #588/ 2 — @A hNiE T L
of ordinary shares:
Convertible bonds AR ES 45,042,466 -
Share options Bz 809,488 1,980,936
Warrants R REE = 4,440,341
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, E@EAINEFHE - AEtEERK
used in the diluted earnings per share HERT
calculation 1,160,034,569 1,045,210,256
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

174

31 March 2015

At T April 2074;
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

Net carrying amount:
At April 2014
Additions
Depreciation provided

during the year
Disposals and write-off
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2015

At 31 March 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

V% Rk B R

201563H8318
201454818 :
KA
ZETE

REFE

REFE
1201454818
RE
FRGHRZITE

HE R sH
[ 50 EE

2015638318
1201563 8318

AR

ZETE

R E

THREF

Land and Plant and
buildings

machinery

RIER MR
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER
(note (b)) (notes (a) and (b))
(M&E®)  (WE@R (D)

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
B £8
e
HK$'000
A

14, Y% - IR RE

Motor
vehicles

"E
HK$'000
TER
(note (a))
(M (a))

ag
HK$'000
TRR

62,005 603,994 59,890 80,585 806,474
(26,975) (417,997) (38,658) (43,607) (527,237)
35,030 185,997 21,232 36,978 279,237
35,030 185,997 21,232 36,978 279237

- 66,384 8,692 23,367 98,943
(1,532) (36,560) (3,642) (12,488) (54,222)
- (2,827) (282) (562) (367)
- - (16) 18 2

33,498 213,494 25,984 41313 320289
62,005 632,054 67,020 98,456 859,535

(28,507) (418,560) (41,036) (51,143) (539,246)
33,498 213,494 25,984 47313 320,289
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

Land and
buildings

Plant and
machinery
THRET RERES

HK$000 HKS000

THT TEL

(note (b))  (notes (a) and (b))

(FrsE () (Hak(@) R (b))

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

14. Y% - EBERRE (&

Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
equipment vehicles

R k&
FEL E
HKS'000 HKS'000
TAT TAT
(note (a))
(Pt ()

31 March 2014

At T April 2013;

201453A31H

2013% 4818 :

Cost AR 62,005 540,307 53,786 67,032 723130
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (25,442) (390,837) (36,812) (38814) (497905)
Net carrying amount EnFE 36,563 149,470 16974 28218 231,225
Net carrying amount; REFE
At 1 April 2013 R201354R1H 36,563 149470 16974 28,218 231225
Additions AR - 68,852 7,695 19,760 96,307
Depreciation provided ERFHRZITE
during the year (1533) (31,208) (3,055) (9,387) (45,183)
Disposals HE = 117 (380) (1613) (3110)
Exchange realignment 3Tt - - 2) - (2
At31 March 2014 "2014%3A31R 35,030 185997 21232 36978 279,237
At 31 March 2014: M201463A318 :
Cost KA 62,005 603,994 59,890 80,585 806,474
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (26,975) (417997) (38,658) (43607) (527,237)
Net carrying amount REFE 35,030 185,997 21232 36978 219,237
Notes: gL
(@)  The net carrying amounts of the Group's property, plant and (@) AEBTFIA20159F3 831 A Z &8 R
equipment held under finance leases included in the total amounts BREAEVAENZBEREEEREY
of plant and machinery and motor vehicles as at 31 March 2015 ¥ BERRKEBEZ2EEEHE 53K
amounted to HK$58,718,000 (2014: HK$40,368,000) and 58,718,000/ 7T(20144F : 40,368,0007%7T)
HKS$34,476,000 (2014: HK$18,175,000), respectively. 134,476,000 7T (20144 : 18,175,000 7%
JT) °
(b) At 31 March 2015, certain of the Group's land and buildings and (b) M2015F3A31H AEBKEEFHE

plant and machinery with net carrying amounts of HKS$6,184,000
(2074 6,665,000) and HK$33,637,000 (2014: HK$39,175,000),
respectively, were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 31(d)).

B 46,184,000/ 7T (20144 : 6,665,000
# 7t ) J33637,0005% JT(20144 :
39,175,000 70) 2 & T L RIEF AR
BB REBREEET - (FRAASEER—
MIRTTIEE 2 R&E (FIEE31(d)) °
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e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REWE
2015 2014
2015 % 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHET FHET
Carrying amount at beginning of year G #]8RHE £ %8 60,982 386,595
Net gain from fair value adjustments (B & U 5558 9,344 34,750
Transfer to non-current assets EEHBAREHEEZ
classified as held for sale FEMBEE 28(a) - (353,800)
Transfer from deposits paid for EEREHEMFEZ
properties held for sale BEfi&RE 21,565 =
Transfer from properties held for sale ¥ E & {EE W% 158,400 -
Disposals HE - (6,547)
Exchange realignment P 3 5 2 (15) (16)
Carrying amount at end of year FRIRE SR 250,276 60,982
Notes: T
(@)  The Group's investment properties consist of residential properties () AEEKREVEDEMBEZEEMER
in the UAE and car parking spaces in Hong Kong and are held for BERZEEN - DABRNGESIREER
capital appreciation purpose or are leased to third parties under ERTE=AZBNMEHE - BRARRED
operating leases, further summary details of which are included in EZBRFBEHALE MWK T
note 41(a) to the consolidated financial statements. 41(a) ©
(b) At 31 March 2015, the Group's investment properties were (b) M20154F3A31H  REBUBESLSEA
remeasured based on valuations performed by Cluttons, LLC and & (& {ERT Cluttons, LLC K @i i& T8 ERF 4
Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited (2014: Asteco Property EERE B IR R A (2014 4F : Asteco Property
Management LLC and Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited), Management LLC K gk #& & & 2= 5T & B2 )
independent professionally qualified valuers, using the direct BRAR)FAEELEERREE R
comparison approach or income capitalisation approach. Each year, EETZAE  AREEREFEHEE
the Group's senior management decides which external valuer to be M AEEREEEESEREZEIN
appointed for the external valuations of the Group's investment SEEMAE  UAREEREYFET
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, SNERIEME - BRI BIETIS A - BY
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. MREEFEZZRL - REEBES
The Group's senior management has on-going discussions with the AEESRERE —ERGEEMBEER
valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results during BRIEESE 2 AREITHR

the course of the valuation.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

At 31 March 2015, fair value measurements of all of the Group's
investment properties are using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) as defined in HKFRS 13. During the year, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 (quoted
prices in active markets) and Level 2 (significant observable inputs)
and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of the Group's investment properties:

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs
fh{E BT ERRABERAYE

Residential units in the UAE

PR E
Direct comparison approach Selling property unit rate

(per square feet)
HELBE HEMFELEEB(BFAR)
Income capitalisation method Capitalisation rate (per unit)
Wz &AM % Bt R (BEA)

Monthly rental income

FAMESKA

Car parking spaces in Hong Kong

BB FE

Income capitalisation method Capitalisation rate (per unit)

W E A% ERet R (FE8AL)
Monthly rental income
FABESKA

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

15. REY = ()

BeE - (A8)
() (&)
NP EEREE

HR2015F3A318  AEBHEREY
¥ AFENEFEAEAT I BRG AR
B(E=R) (ERREAMBRELERE
135%) « FR - A FEFEE R CER™
HRIE) B — 4 (EAR ERHAZE)
2N EER - TEEAREEE =R -

AN RARR B E W E M A S E R
REIEBABBRIHME :

Key inputs

TEBAE
2015
2015

Emirati Dirham AED1,094
(“AED") 1,501 (equivalent to
(equivalent to HKS2,317)

HK$3,170)
1,501 A8 (AR 1) 1,004 3548
(HHEMN3170%8 ) (HHER 2311 %7T)
7.38% per annum N/A
TERA

F%7.38%

AED460,996 N/A
(equivalent to NiERA
HK$973,589)

460,996 3 1 1}

(181 973,58978 )
8.7% per annum 9.50% per annum
FE8T% F#9.50%

HK$434,000 HK$398,000

434,000 & 7T 398,000 7T
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e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

178

(b)

(continued)

The valuations were arrived at by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant markets or, by
capitalising the net rental income derived from the existing
tenancies with due allowance for reversionary income potential of
the respective properties. In the valuation under direct comparison
approach, the comparable properties are made by reference to
those of similar properties in the neighbourhood. In the valuation
under income capitalisation approach, the market rentals of all car
parking spaces and properties are made by reference to the rentals
achieved by the Group in the car parking spaces and properties,
respectively, the capitalisation rate adopted is by reference to the
capitalisation rates observed by the valuers for similar properties in
the locality and adjusted for the valuers' knowledge of factors
specific to the respective properties. There has been no change
from the valuation technique used in the prior year.

Residential units in the UAE were valued under the direct
comparison approach, market price is one of the key inputs, taking
into account the time, location, and individual factors, such as
frontage and size, between the comparables and the property. A
slight increase in the market price used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value measurement of the investment properties,
and vice versa.

During the year, some residential units in the UAE were transferred
from properties held for sale to investment properties upon the
commencement of operating leases. The valuation technique used
for these properties and the Group's interest in car parking spaces
in Hong Kong was income capitalisation approach and the key
inputs used in the valuation were the capitalisation rate used and
monthly unit rent. A slight increase in the capitalisation rate used
would result in a significant decrease in the fair value measurement
of the investment properties, and vice versa. Moreover, a slight
increase in the monthly unit rent used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value measurement of the investment properties,
and vice versa.

Included in the investment properties of the Group as at 31 March
2015 is a 49% ownership interest in certain car parking spaces in
Hong Kong with a then carrying amount of HK$60,000,000 (2014:
HK$50,000,000). The leasing of these car parking spaces are
carried out under a joint operation with a joint venture partner,
which is the registered owner of these car parking spaces. Pursuant
to the agreement with the joint venture partner for the joint
operation, the Group holds a 49% ownership interest in these car
parking spaces.

As at 31 March 2014, the Group's interest in these car parking
spaces, which had a then carrying amount of HK$50,000,000, was
pledged to secure certain bank loans granted to the Group (note
31(d)). The bank loans were fully repaid and the pledge was released
during the year ended 31 March 2015.
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15. REY=E ()

BfaE - ()

(b)

(%)

ERGED2BRREENS LIRS ZHE
X5 FHREBLHMEF B RN FE
BRMEHE  TROZERIEEMEZE
BENRER - RERLEAGHER - 7
LB T A B AR B ERSE -
BB ERMOEGER - AERLEY
K2 MISAETIAREBIMZER K%
BE2HERSE  IRBZER X
D2 ZHEMEE AU EBRRMSZ
BEARfeR - Wt HEME ENEFERR
ZIEBELAE - hERDEBEFERR
RE—-

PP EE 28 2 (FE B AR B R L BUAS(E
MISERAETERAE L~ Wit KA
EMERZMEZER R REBRE
UATETTE R ARAE o P R T S5 (B AR R R
SERREAMEQNFEAERELT - &
Z IR

FRN - NEEBRORAR - BTN
BENEEEME AR FHENXBREER
BYE - RREVELARERBREE
IS ERMGED AR KRB
& METHEMBZEZRAE BT
EREAMELLRREMAME - FIEAER
L R EBE NS EHUR B W ¥ A FERT
ERERD - RZIFA ° WoN - PAEME
iz AL NS SBRE Y E R FER
BAELET  RZIA -

MR2015F3 A3 A ZAEBIEEMEE
P BREBBZETEBEZIO%MEB
B ZEEFEMNEREESEA
60,000,000 7T (20144 : 50,000,000
) ZEEBEMRBHREERHEZEE
FRAHE MAEKBHANSEEMNZE
HEBA  REREEBHREEILZ
W AEERBEZEEENN 2 49%F1E
MR o

MR2014F3A31H  AEBHELEEE
7 2 #E s (8 R BRE © %8 4 50,000,000 7
To)EEERR  UREFEAEEERE TR
TERKFE3IM) - RITEREREE
2015F3A3NALFEANZEEE K&
BREIERINE AR o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Investments in associates, included in A& AT 7 &

non-current assets: GrAJERBEE) :
Share of net assets PMEBEFE
Due from associates BN F) 2 KR
Due from associates, included in /N A& 4
current assets GTARBEE)
Due to associates, included in KBS N R) 2 5B
current liabilities GtARBAR)
Total interests in associates B E R A s AR

Notes:

(@)  Particulars of the principal associates as at 31 March 2015 are set
out in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b)  The balances with associates are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the amounts advanced to associates included in the
investments in associates above are considered as the Group's
investments in the associates.

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

16. RE{E N TR

2015
2015

2014
20145
HKS'000
FBT

HK$'000
FHET

(@) 95,534 66,083
(b) 171,521 103,671
267,055 169,694
(b), 24 29,151 16,055
(b), 30 (19,741) (20,151)
276,465 165,598
MisE

(@) BEBHEQRN2015F3A31BZF
BEEPR R A BT RRMIFE 49 o

(b) EEERNFEBIEHRAEER 28R
WEEEESDPR - KARREERS - B
& ARz FOA (A LB 2 A R
BN EEASREENBEAFZIKE -
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)  Summarised financial information of associates
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, all the Group's
associates are not individually material. The following table

16. REE N TR (&)
D))

() HEARHEFBAR
ARBERRR  AEEMABLERFY
TEERER - TREFIAEEEZ AR

pu)

illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group's 2 EBBIEER
associates:
2015 2014
2015 20144
HKS$'000 HKS'000
THExT AT
Share of the associates’ comprehensive EhBEATEZERARER
income or loss
Profit for the year REEHF 37,204 10,128
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hibz2mEmb A (FxR) 83 (216)
Total comprehensive income 2HEWALLEE 37,287 9,912
Share of the associates’ assets and liabilities FE{RHE AT EER AR
Non-current assets IEMBEE 168,215 172,244
Current assets MENEE 255,887 34,154
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (308,796) (112,032)
Current liabilities MEAE (19,772) (28,283)
Aggregate share of net assets of L& AR EEFEZLTE
the associates 95,534 66,083

17. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN INVESTEE COMPANY

180

The investee company is a joint venture company established by
the Group and five independent third parties for the purpose of
carrying out a residential development project on a land in Hong
Kong acquired by the joint venture company. The Group has a
10% equity interest in the investee company and the investment in
which of HKS10 was accounted for as an available-for-sale
investment.

The amount due from the investee company represents an
advance made to it in accordance with the shareholders’
agreement signed with the joint venture partners, pursuant to
which, the joint venture partners of the investee company shall
provide funds to the investee company in proportion to their
equity interests, for the purpose of providing it with adequate
working capital to support its residential development project in
Hong Kong. The balance is unsecured, interest-free and will not be
repayable within the next twelve months.
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17. BIRE DB 2R

WRERBA R MR AREEABTE
=ML EERE  UEAGE QA
B-RAEMMLBRR—EEER - A&
EHBERIRE AR Z10% kM - BHKE
10 TTHRSIBR A —HAHHERE -

BRERERBZRAERREEBHEELZ
PR e B T IR E AR 2 FOR - Rt
BRIRERB 2 A BEBHRIBBRERELD
ARREARREESD  RERSEHE
EBET  RNHEBBEERREBBME
ZERBREER RERTARKRK
TEARMEE -



18.

19.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COSTS AND DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION
OF A LAND USE RIGHT FOR PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT

Amount represented costs incurred and deposits paid to
independent third parties for the acquisition of the use right of a
piece of land located in Abu Dhabi, the UAE, for future property
development by the Group. At 31 March 2015, the acquisition of
the land use right had not been completed as the deadline for the
settlement of the final instalment sum of AED5,149,000
(equivalent to HKS$10,875,000) has been extended to
25 September 2015 or until the registration of land with the Abu
Dhabi Municipality has been completed, whichever is sooner, as
mutually agreed between the Group and the vendor.

LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

The Group's land held for property development is leasehold land
or land use rights acquired by the Group for future property
development for sale. An analysis of the Group's land held for
property development by geographical area as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

Hong Kong B
The PRC =n
The UAE BB

At 31 March 2015, the carrying amount of the Group's land held
for property development in the UAE carried at fair value less
costs to sell amounted to HKS$44,067,000 (2014: HK$43,844,000).

18.

19.

BANXEREEERAT 2014/15FR

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

RUEBRUBIHEREZ
BAERENERE

S EIEAEBEARRYEZERWELR
o B 24 o 47 AL bt — 8 A Hb 2 £ {5 AR AE AT
EACKARABLIE= X N2iEs -
7K2015F3 8310 AREN&E—BA
205,149,000 38 17 48 (48 & 510,875,000 7
T0) FOEZ BREAEA S B E 5K g
BB ZE 201549 B 25 B E & 7k M
Htbz T ER(AREEAE)  5F
b {55 PR 2 WA 1 AR SERK ©

FrEMRB R 2 1t
AEEBENERRZ it DAREA
RRMEBREHEARERZEE L1
St 3 PO o BB s IR A R EE
MEHE L T BREATT -

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
THxT TFHTT
33,402 -
285,236 279,729
44,067 43,844
362,705 323,573

MR20154F3 A31 B © NEB KB
EMHEER 2 T 2 REESRBE AR F
1B R 85 & Ak AR 51 BR - € %8 & 44,067,000
FEIT (20144 : 43,844,000 7T) o
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

20.

21.

182

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

The Group's properties under development as at 31 March 2015
represented a residential development project in Hong Kong,
which is expected to be completed within normal operating cycle
and hence is classified as a current asset.

At 31 March 2015 and 2014, the Group’s properties under
development were pledged to banks to secure certain banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 31(d)).

At 31 March 2014, the Group's properties under development
represented a redevelopment project of an industrial building in
Hong Kong, which was disposed of through a distribution in
specie on 31 December 2014. Details of the distribution in specie
are disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group's properties held for sale are all residential properties in
the PRC.
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20. BEHBYE

21.

R2015F 3 31 B Z AEEEEFR YL
—EAEBEEHREEE  HBEFAHRES
LBERSANTK  EME 2 BARESEE -

M 20154 K% 201443 A31H » AN &% E 3%
ERWMECERFRT  (EAXEEER
ZETRITEEZRFE (KIFE31(d)) °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CONTRACT

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

22. Bl BENENEFRE

CUSTOMERS
2015 2014
2015 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
FE&xT FAET
Gross amounts due from contract customers JEW A AR FE5E 1,730,396 1,466,461
Gross amounts due to contract customers  JEf & XE P 4A5E (816,172) (893,991)
914,224 572,470
Contract costs incurred plus recognised EEEESHAKAME ERmF -
profits less recognised losses B FERE 1R 26,354,054 23,132,552
Less: Progress billings B EE R (25,439,830) (22,560,082)
914,224 572,470

At 31 March 2015, retentions held by customers for contract
works included in trade receivables of the Group amounted to
HK$528,666,000 (2014: HKS441,861,000) (note 23).

At 31 March 2015, advances received from customers for
contract works included in other payables of the Group amounted
to HK$56,943,000 (2014: HKS91,820,000).

M20156F3A3TH HEETIEAHEK
FHEAEZRESEFTAREEZESE
W R IE - A 81528,666,000 7 7T (2014 4F
441,861,000 7T) (Bi5E23) °

MN201643A3TH MELIREEER
FRGZHAEEFALRNEB Z MR
3 IE - B 856,943,000 7T (2014 4 -
91,820,000 7T) °
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4= AR

AN = /\Zl-ﬂz%i&%% MTJE\I

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

23.

184

TRADE RECEIVABLES

MR IR (MR B 2 BRS)

Trade receivables other than

retention receivables (@)
Impairment A (b)
Retention receivables FEWRE S (©

Notes:

(@)  Except for the rental income from lease of properties which are (a)
payable in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements,
the Group generally allows a credit period of not exceeding 60 days
to its customers. Interim applications for progress payments on
construction contracts are normally submitted on a monthly basis
and are normally settled within one month.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed
periodically. The majority of the Group's trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired relate to customers that have good
credit quality with reference to respective settlement history.
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23. ESERRIE

2015
2015

2014
20144
HKS'000
F&IT

HK$'000
FHET

929,005 733,827
(534) (534)
928,471 733,293

528,666 441,861
1,457,137 1,175,164

BIREA B IEREN 2 EEYRES
WASN » REE—RAETPRETES
60 HZEEH - AARESHNTHER
REBE—RIRARZEN—ERNEE -

REMERTEE A - ANEESFEEE
BEPNEREERRETEPAEEERE
BRG0P ERIR 5 0 E IR AT o ARIR
HEBE LS - NREB AR W EA K
RENEZERREDRABRIFEES
ENEFBM -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@  (continued)

The aged analysis of the trade receivables (other than retention
receivables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

23. EZEWKIE (&)
HaE © ()
(@) (8

RBEPREREEDRREFRZIES
JE YRR (AR B S BRIM) BRER D AT 51| 8

invoice date and net of impairment, is as follows:

Within 1 month
1to 2 months
2 to 3 months
Over 3 months

—fEAR

—=mEA
MZE=1EA
=fEARMKE

The aged analysis of the trade receivables (other than retention
receivables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the due
date and net of impairment, is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired

Past due but not impaired:
1 —30days
31 — 90 days
91 — 180 days
Over 180 days

EBMERRERE

1-30H
31-90H
91-180H
#2838 180 B

o
2015 2014

20155 20144

HK$'000 HK$'000

FB FET

830,547 694,054

92,919 25,925

1,589 7213

3,416 6,101

928,471 733,293

BESR - REIHEAELEHRBEE
2 B 5 EMGRIR (YR E 2 BN Rk

MHNEAT -
2015
2015 £
HKS$'000
FET
885,591 695,790
33,747 29,793
5,717 3,989
746 3,220
2,670 501
42,880 37,503
928,471 733,293

BANXEREEERAT 2014/15FR
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e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(@  (continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in
respect of these balances as there have not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

(b) There was no movement in provision for impairment of trade
receivables (other than retention receivables) during the years
ended 31 March 2015 and 2014.

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables
is a provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
HKS$534,000 (2074: HKS$534,000) with a carrying amount before
provision of HK$534,000 (2014: HK$534,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers that
were in financial difficulties or were in default in both interest and/or
principal payments and only a portion of the receivables is expected
to be recovered.

(c)  Retention receivables held by contract customers arose from the
Group's construction work business and are settled within a period
ranging from one year to three years after the completion of the
construction work, as stipulated in the construction contracts.

The due date for settlement of the Group's retention receivables as
at the end of the reporting period is analysed as follows:

—FREH
—FREH

Due within one year
Due after one year
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23. B 5 BUWYEIE (&)
GERRC)

(@

(#)

WA B R B ERFRER A TR &
SMEBMEEREHE I AETFER -

ERHIERREZ BRIREE TEARE
EhERIFUNELHZBIEFERM - 1R
BAEKR ARREZERA BEEH
EWEEREE - URDAEEZEER
AAEBKE - RBERZSERIELE
TR BB -

REZE2015% K% 2014463 531 B IE/R A
FE - BHEWEIE (BRIRERERIN R
BRI ) o

B 5 REREIERERERERE @R
BB 2 B 5 FE WG IE 534,000 % 7T (2014
4 : 534,000/ 7T) FHR 2 il - HRRE
Al 2 BR T & %8 /4 534,000 7% 7T (2014 4F ¢
534,000 7T) °

E AR E 2 B 5 I WK IR A AR R
BFBRINFER " REEZEFE
7 - WTRET R AR E A —#R 0 FRUGOR ©

ANEERAZRKRES NELEAE
B RETIRER  YRERETRAK
FiE  RRETERTANT—F5=
B POREA o

R EPRAEE R YRE S B AN Z
HRDHT

2015 2014
2015 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
FBT FET
20,810 2,627
507,856 439,234
528,666 441,861




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS
iR MR AR BT et

demand.

(b)  The movement in provision for impairment during the year is as
follows:

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

(b) FRREBEZEZHNOT :

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. FANRIE - REREMEWF
RECEIVABLES 15
2015 2014
2015 % 20144
HKS$'000 HKS'000
FERT FAT
Prepayments B FOE 47,906 53,296
Deposits and other debtors e RE A EWIRIE 182,971 72,858
Deposits paid for purchase of BEREHEHEMEZ
properties held for sale [=ANE &R 2,637 24,404
Due from associates ‘éﬁéﬁ@ AIRAK 16(b) 29,151 16,055
Due from other partners of joint B EEREAM B
operations 2R (a) 259,460 98,752
Due from fellow subsidiaries of BEEBHMBH L
other partners of joint operations B RZMB AR 2R (a) 6,750 803
528,875 266,168
Impairment RIE (b) (5,073) (12,076)
523,802 254,092
Notes: Ft 5
(@) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on (a) SRIRREER  RERARENRESR

At beginning of year REY]
Impairment losses reversed (note 8) Rl 2R EEE (Fi3Es)
At end of year RER

Included in allowance for impairment of other receivables are
individually impaired advance payments in relation to development
costs of property development projects with an aggregate amount
of HKS$5,073,000 (2014: HKS$12,076,000). The directors of the
Company believe that the recoverable amount of these receivables
are in doubt as these amounts have been outstanding for a number
of years and accordingly have made allowance for the full amounts
of the advance payments.

BANXEREEERAT 2014/15FR

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHR T
12,076 12,076
(7,003) -
5,073 12,076
Hi W IEREREPRIEAYEER

BB B#RKAE B2 EERIRERNE
#2808 5,073,00077C (2014 4F : 12,076,000
L) ° AR ZFRUHIAD RIERBEF -
AR 7%%@1*52%%1?27 @HSZ%%E
RRER - ELEE 2 ERE AN R
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

25. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss of the Group
as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 were equity investments listed
outside Hong Kong, which were classified as held for trading and
stated at quoted market value, which is a Level 1 fair value
measurement.

26. RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

25. BRAFEFABREZRERE

MR2015%F % 2014F3A318  AKEE®
ANEEFABZEZBRARE BB BEINE
MRARE - EoBERFEE SR RUEE
mEHE (BE—RAFEFE) -

26. SRFB[REREEHRER

2015
2015 &

HK$'000
FET

Restricted cash for issuance of

SEHERZZRGIBRS

guarantees
Pledged deposits for general banking st —#&R1TRLE 2
facilities EHERER

Restricted cash and pledged deposits R $13R & & 2 E K

Notes:

(@)  Inrespect of the sale of the properties held for sale in the PRC, the
Group entered into agreements with certain banks in the PRC to
arrange mortgage loans to eligible purchasers of the Group's
properties held for sale and pursuant to which, the Group is required
to place at designated bank accounts certain amounts as guarantee
deposits for potential default in repayment of mortgage loans
advanced to property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will be
released after the property ownership certificates of the relevant
properties have been passed to the banks. At 31 March 2015, such
guarantee deposits amounted to RMB5,544,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,035,000) (2014: RMB5,530,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,955,000)).

(b)  The pledged deposits have been placed in designated banks as part
of the security to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 31(d)).
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(@) 7,035 6,955
(b) 583,391 497,629
590,426 504,584

Mk -

() HPEBEHEMEZHENS  A5E
AR EETIRITEI W - AAEERE
HEMEZEERERTHIRIBEN ' &
b AEBEABERTRITEFOTEALET
HIE - ERYEBERG I RERERRE
B 2 IRIBE R 2 ERTR - ZSER
GFHHEREREMEZ MEMBEFERDE
RIRITEMRK - R2015F3A31H &
RAERTFFUE AR 5,544,000 T (ABE R
7,0350005% 7T ) (2014 : A R #&
5,530,000 7T (#E 7 6,955,000/87T)) °

(b) BIEAFRFRAETERIT - EARBIRA
SE-RBITEERE 2 B EM (M T
31(d)) °
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27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances other than
time deposits
Time deposits

Total cash and bank balances
Less:Restricted cash and pledged
deposits (note 26)

Cash and cash equivalents

Notes:

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

27. BEREBREEEER

Re MRTTHES (TEREERER)

He MIRITAE AR
B ZREIE S R EBER
(P 26)

RAe kR $FERE

(@)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") amounted to
approximately HK$562,009,000 (2014: HKS$S456,332,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under the
PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of
between 7 days and 1 year depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

(b)

BANXEREEERAT 2014/15FR

2015
2015

2014
20145
HKS'000
FH&T

HK$'000
FHET

675,461 918,200
617,626 407,314
1,293,087 1,325,514
(590,426) (504,584)
702,661 820,930

MNBEMR  AEBAARE TARKE D)
EZRERERSEERENAR
562,009,000 7T (20144 : 456,332,000
BIL) e ARETREBBRLMREMEE -
AT AR AR R BICHNE B TR ) ) B S KA EE
EERMEETERTE)  AEEEAE
BRI INERT 2 RITHARB LK
HitpEH -

RITREBREE A RTERFEGFEZ
TFENFEERERAE - RFARENERE
FR EMERZERBNFERE—F
TE - WRH B B E A SR R BRI A
B o SRITERTTFE NI A 812 D48k
ZA(FBIRIT -
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2015643 A31H

28. NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND ASSETS OF A
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

SALE

Non-current assets classified as
held for sale

Assets of a disposal group
classified as held for sale

Non-current assets and assets
of a disposal group classified
as held for sale

Notes:

DERFEHEZ

FMBEE (@)
DREBREHEZ

HESEEE (b)

DERFHEHE ZIFRBEE
MHEREEE

(@  In December 2013, the Group entered into an agreement with an (a)
independent third party to dispose of certain investment properties
for a total consideration of HK$353,800,000. As the transaction was
expected to be completed within one year from the date of
agreement, these properties were reclassified from investment
properties to non-current assets classified as held for sale as at
31 March 2074 accordingly (note 15). The transaction was
completed in June 2014 and all the sale proceeds were received

during the current year.

(b)  On 15 January 2015, the Group publicly announced that it had (b)
entered into a disposal agreement on 13 January 2015 with two
individuals independent to the Group, to conditionally (i) dispose of
all its equity interest in Profit City , a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group; and (ii) assign the Group's interest in loans of
HK$27,635,000 in total owed by Profit City, to the two individuals for
a total consideration of HK$230,000,000. The major assets of Profit
City are 20% equity interests in two associates which individually

holds a piece of land in Macau.

Deposits of HKS$20,000,000 in total have been paid by the two
purchasers as at 31 March 2015 in accordance with the terms of
the disposal agreement and the long stop date for the transaction is
31 July 2015, as extended pursuant to an extension letter signed
between the Group and the two purchasers on 22 May 2015.
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28. DERBFEHEZERDEE
RHEEEEE

2015 2014
2015 & 20144
HKS'000

FETT

HK$'000
FET

- 353,800

27,530 -

27,530 363,800

MR2013F 128 AEBEEBLE=FF]
S — A% ¢ bATR 484X {8 353,800,000 7%
THEETREYE - ANBEAZERS
AR A R —FRER - MEED
¥R2014F3 A3 HEBRREYMESEH
PHEAREHEE ZERBEE (MIFE15) °
RHEMR2014F 6 A% » HEWEER
ANEFE R EURER -

R2015F 18150 AKEELAHASMHE
ER2015F 1 A13HEMBBILINAE
Em AT ERE - ARG HEE
A Profit City (AL E 2 &K B A7) /AT
AR ¢ R (i) # Profit City &R ANEBE &
27,635,000 T2 B2 EE T M
% AL % 1K {8 A230,000,0007% T °
Profit City 2 = B & E A M & A 7
79 20% BXHE - 2/ R 4 A RS R PTE
B i@t o

MR2015F3A318  MBEHEREHL
E IR A ££20,000,000 7% 7T HY
Be ZRXINREEIEBHA201567
A3 NREASEEREEHFR
2015 5 A 22 HEE 2 IER HHTER -
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31 March 2015
201543 A31H

28. NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND ASSETS OF A 28. P HARBEHEZERBEE
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR RHEEEEE (&)
SALE (continued)
Notes: (continued) Mtz - (&)
(b)  (continued) (b) (&
As the transaction was expected to be completed within one year ARTEFZIER 5 0l A % A B s— 4
from the date of agreement, Profit City is classified as a disposal AFERL + #Profit City /4201543 A 31 H
group held for sale as at 31 March 2015. The assets of the disposal ERDBERFEHEZHESE -
group classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2015 are as follows: 20153 A31H 2 EAFEHEZD
EEEMEEWT
HKS'000
FAET
Assets of Profit City: Profit City Z B E :
Investments in associates REEE R RIRE 27,530
Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale DEARBFIEHEZHEEEEE 27,530
Further details of the disposal transaction are set out in the HERXRGHNEZFHBHARERARBHE
Company's announcements dated 15 January 2015 and 22 May 2015%F1 8150 K2015F5 4228 2 R4 ©
2015.
29. TRADE PAYABLES 29. ESZRANRIE

2015
2015 &

HK$'000
FERT

Trade payables other than retention & 5 e~ 7118

payables (ERHREZERIN (a) 827,214 730,758
Retention payables EHRES (b) 389,276 266,026
1,216,490 996,784
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

29. TRADE PAYABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@)  The Group's trade payables (other than retention payables) are non-
interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

An aged analysis of the Group's trade payables (other than retention
payables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

29. B 5 EARER)

BT

(@

AEEE 5 EMNFIEA(BARESRIN B
R BIAAFLRI0ORAHEER -

RBERR  AKBZEZENFE(E
RHRESBRIN ABEEB R AEEFE 2
BRECDITHIEAN T

Within T month —@AR

1to 2 months —ZMEA
2 to 3 months ME=18A
Over 3 months BB=1EA

(b)  Retention payables held by the Group arose from the Group’s
construction work business and are settled to subcontractors within
a period ranging from one year to three years after the completion
of the contract work by the subcontractors, as stipulated in the
subcontracting contracts.
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(b)

2015 2014
2015 2014 %
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FHEIT
398,888 495,845
327,290 165,297
68,392 38919
32,644 30,697
827,214 730,758

AREMRERNRESNEEEANEE
ZEETIRER  URESBTIEELM
HE - RAFRATREMZETREN
F—EE2=FRRDFAEHEN -
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iR MR AR BT et

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS HiEAFRIE R EFTRKIE
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHET TET
Accruals JEET A 287,365 217,678
Deposits received B L& 59,609 96,203
Deposits received for sale of a MHEE @SR AREE
disposal group classified as HEHESEZ
held for sale BiIEE 28(b) 20,000 -
Other liabilities Hih & 67,103 35,752
Due to associates YNNG Bz 16(b) 19,741 20,151
Due to other partners of joint operations /R & % %ﬁ%,ﬁ\’r&%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ (a) 14,234 19,763
Due to fellow subsidiaries of REEBEBHMBE 2
other partners of joint operations G %Mﬂ%’&ﬁ%’\fﬁ (a) 72,342 10,657
Due to non-controlling shareholders R JEIRBXAX R 7K (b) 41,627 10,006
582,021 410,110
Portion reclassified as current liabilities E¥ D ARE A EHH (540,394) (410,110)
Non-current portion IEmENEB D 41,627 -
Notes: Mk
(@)  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, () ZREREER RERPEREER
except for an amount due to the partner of a joint operation of HR2014F3A31H  BREEEBE
HKS$10,000,000 as at 31 March 2014 which carried interest at 3% ££10,000,00078 TR FF K 3%:T EBRIN ©
perannum.
(b)  The amount as at 31 March 2015 is unsecured, interest-free and (b) M201543A31H @ ZABEAREER
repayable in 2021. The amount as at 31 March 2014 was RER 2@5"2021@1%“5;? 201443 A
unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand. 318 ' ZREAEER - R RAENER

H%Eﬁ ©
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2015643 A31H

31. BANK BORROWINGS 31. SRITER
2015 2014
2015 % 20144
HKS$'000 HKS'000
FHET T4
Bank borrowings comprise: RITERELE - (a), (b)
Trust receipt loans, secured ErEiEEN - B 114,910 -
Trust receipt loans, unsecured ErEIEER - EIEE 354,555 353,511
Bank loans, secured RITER - BEA 1,372,081 1,524,053
Bank loans, unsecured IRITEF - EIEH 413,846 384,296
2,255,392 2,261,860
Analysed into: ST :
Bank borrowings that contain a BEREREEEZ
repayment on demand clause RITER (c) 1,976,592 2,030,676
Other bank borrowings repayable: JEEREAMIRITRER -
Within one year —FR 163,800 =
In the second to fifth years, FE_ERF(BEEREME)
inclusive 115,000 231,284
278,800 231,284
Total bank borrowings SRITIEFK4BER 2,255,392 2,261,860
Portion classified as current liabilities DA xREBEZ 25D (2,140,392) (2,030,576)
Non-current portion JEREE D 115,000 231,284
Notes: Bt &
(@)  The Group's bank borrowings are all denominated in HKS. () AEBZRITERZEIANBTIE-
(b)  The trust receipt loans of the Group carry interest at floating rates (b) AEBEFEBEEFRIBFETE - F
ranging from HIBOR plus 1.85% to 3.25% (2014: HIBOR plus 2% to RN FHBIRITRZENRSIN.85%E3.25%
3.25%). (20144 : HHRTRER B M2%E
3.25%) °
The bank loans of the Group carry interest at floating rates ranging REERITEFIZHAEGTE - FEN
from HIBOR plus 1% to 3.8% (2014: HIBOR plus 1% to 3.8%). TEABRITRERZM1%ZE3.8% (2014

F - BBRITAEFRESIN1%E38%)
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31. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()  The expected repayment dates of the Group's bank loans that
contain a repayment on demand clause, with reference to the
schedule of repayments set out in the term loan agreements, are as
follows:

31. R

TR (&)
Mﬁ : ()

() 2Z2ERHERBEMEAE

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

REEE - A&

l@ﬁﬁxiﬁﬁ;ﬂxiZiﬁﬁE%’xZﬁ%ﬁ

ERBENT -

Within one year
In the second year
In the third to fifth years, inclusive

(d)  Atthe end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged
by the Group to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Properties under development

Bank deposits

Non-current assets classified as
held for sale

At 31 March 2014, the Group had pledged its entire equity interest
in a wholly-owned subsidiary to secure certain banking facilities
granted to the Group. The equity interest in the subsidiary had been
distributed to the Company's shareholders as part of the distribution
in specie in December 2014 as further detailed in note 12(a) to the
consolidated financial statements. At 31 March 2015, the Group has
pledged the equity interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary to
secure a new banking facility granted to the Group during the year.

DERFHEHE ZERBEE

=R (REERME)
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2015
2015
HK$'000
TR
1,738,592 1,985,563
37,570 18,419
200,430 26,594
1,976,592 2,030,576

d) RBREPR AEBERATEE (R

REBBERRITRE 2 BIR -
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT TFHIT
14(b) 39,821 45840
15(c) - 50,000
20 250,924 449,669
26(b) 583,391 497,629
28(a) - 353,800
874,136 1,396,938

R2014F3A318  AEBEEBFER—
H2ENBARZEHRE (EAREE

BEETRITHE ZER -
REE R 2014F12 A5
EBEWMDIR—ED

I BHREKMTE12(a)

ZHB ARz
3k FANA AR -

C BEHBENRE

#2015%43A318 -

AEEER —HIFEZENB R R ZBRIEE
B ERFARTARBEZHRTBREZ

PR -
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32.

33.

196

UNSECURED BOND PAYABLE TO A RELATED
COMPANY

On 23 November 2011, the Company issued a bond with a
principal amount of HKS150 million to Talent Effort Limited
("Talent Effort"), which is 45% indirectly owned by Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic, a director of the Company. The bond is unsecured,
bears interest at 7.25% per annum payable semi-annually in arrear
and is wholly repayable on 23 November 2015, as extended from
22 November 2014 pursuant to an interim bond extension
agreement and a bond extension agreement entered into between
the Company and Talent Effort during the year.

Further details of the unsecured bond are set out in the
Company's circular dated 26 November 2014.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Summary information of the Group's convertible bonds is set out
as follows:

Issuance date ZE1THHE

Maturity date F|EAE

Original principal amount (HK$'000) RA&5(FAT)

Coupon rate =K

Conversion price per ordinary share FRANREBE 2
of the Company (HK$) HRE(E (B T)
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32.

33.

B —ERBERQRZEKR
63

R2011F11 23 H » ARARIBITAELRE
/150,000,000 BILHES T A EBR AR
([F#])  THERARREETEZ —FELE
MEFE4% 2w - BEHFAEER &
FBT725%:TE + W E 4 F 2 5 BF 2 A+
R AR 2016411 A 238 (BEARAR KA
HRF NG 2 R E AT R E S
EHHZEE  REA20145611 A228)
EEHIEE -

BEREFCAMFBARAARBHA
2014411 A 26 B 258K °

B RES
AEETRRESEEERBIMT -

Convertible
Bonds B
AR ESB
(note (b))
(M=% (b))

Convertible
Bonds A
ATRARESA

(note (a))
(P 5E (@)

30 March 2015
20153 A30H
30 March 2018
20184 3 A30H

31 December 2014
2014412 A31 H
31 December 2017
2017412 HA31H

84,266 94,924
zero & zero &
0.463 1.569
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31 March 2015
201543 A31H

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 33. WRKRES (&)
For accounting purposes, each batch of these convertible bonds MEH BN HEHRREED
is bifurcated into a liability component and an equity component, H—D A RAEHS RERSTS S
as further described in the accounting policy for “Convertible = A B IS R B EE 3.3 8L [ 2 MY
bonds containing an equity component” set out in note 3.3 to the ARG EL | @RS - TR
consolidated financial statements. The following tables R EE TR E L S R BER

summarise the movements in the principal amounts, the liability
and equity components of the Group's convertible bonds during
the year:

D 2 28 :

Convertible Convertible
Bonds A Bonds B Total
MERRESA TEKRESB s
Notes HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

Bt E T T THET
(note (a)) (note (b))
(KzE(a)) (KizE (b))

Principal amount outstanding HAREERSHE

At1 April 2013, 31 March 2014 201348 1H -

and 1 April 2014 201463 A31H K
2014F4A1H - - -
Issuance of convertible bonds FRBTIRRES
during the year (@), (b) 84,266 94,924 179,190
At 31 March 2015 M201543 A31H 84,266 94,924 179,190
Liability component aEHs
At 1 April 2013,31 March 2014 A 2013%4H81H -
and 1 April 2014 20143 A31H R
2014%F4A1H - - -
Issuance of convertible bonds FRBETABRES
during the year (a), (b) 68,306 76,946 145,252
Imputed interest expense HEREFAE 1,206 - 1,206
At 31 March 2015 M201543 A31H 69,512 76,946 146,458

Equity component (included EEHD (BEETER
in convertible bond equity BEEEEER)
reserve)

At 1 April 2013,31 March 2014 7220134 4H1H -

and 1 April 2014 2014F3H31AK
20144 A1H - - -
Issuance of convertible bonds FRBEITARRES
during the year (a), (b) 15,960 17,978 33,938
At 31 March 2015 R20156%3 831 H 15,960 17,978 33,938
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2 A
wra

V% Rk B R

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

198

Notes:

(a)

The Convertible Bonds A was issued to China New Way on
31 December 2014 pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 16
September 2014 entered into between the Company and China New
Way. Further details of the Convertible Bonds A are set out in the
Company's circular dated 26 November 2014.

To the best knowledge of the Company's directors, on 5 February
2015, China New Way disposed of 50% of the Convertible Bonds A
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$42,133,000 to China City
Construction (International) Co., Limited (“CCCI", a then third party
independent to the Group but a shareholder of the Company as at
31 March 2015) and hence each of China New Way and CCCI has
interest in the Convertible Bonds A with an aggregate principal
amount of HKS42,133,000 as at 31 March 2015.

Subsequent to the reporting period, on 17 April 2015, China New
Way exercised the conversion rights of all its interest in the
Convertible Bonds A with an aggregate principal amount of
HKS$42,133,000 and 91,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company were allotted and issued to China New Way accordingly.

Convertible Bonds B was issued to CCCI on 30 March 2015
pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 13 March 2015 entered
into between the Company and CCCI for the purpose of providing
general working capital to the Group and funding for partial payment
of the consideration in respect of the acquisition of 90% equity
interestin FEIM T EZRIERERE(ZKB) BEFR A A (‘CCC
Zhuhai"), which is a property development company established in
the PRC and engages in the development of a piece of land in
Zhuhai City, the PRC. The acquisition transaction is not yet
completed as at the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements.

Further details of the Convertible Bonds B and the acquisition of
90% equity interest in CCC Zhuhai are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 13 March 2015.
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33. AR ES (&)

GEE

(@

(b)

BIBAR R EP R4 B EHA2014
Fo9R16 B 2RBEZE - TRREFAR
2014612 A3V HEITTHEM# - AJiR
REFAZESHBHRARARBER
20144511 A26 H 2K °

BARQNBEEATA - PR AP EHT
ER(BE) BRA R (R BEHmER

AAEEERZBYE =7 HR2015
F3A3NBEBRABEARRZER) HEAE
#%8 /542,133,000 78 7T 2 50% Al % &5
A At FEFERPERTESRE X
¥ B MN2015F3A31H K& # 58 A
42,133,000 7T 2 AR EHAH 2 s o

HEHA%  R2015F4A178 » A EH
HWITEE N A S 4% 542,133,000/ 70,2
AR ESFAZ A ERNERE - K2
A1 A i ) A B A4 Bl 3% & 397 91,000,000
R @K o

BEBEAAREFBRBRTEZILAEA
2015313 H 2 RE = - ATRRE
FBMR20156F3 308 T FHREMM
BR - URAAEER‘E—REEES - N
EAKBPENMERERER (KE)E
¥ERAR([FBEBMERHKE]) Z90%
RIEZHEHARE - PRRTERKEA
RAPBIR S 2 MR AT A EHREF
BEREz —iEtih - BB FLREMIER
RAETIZEBE - WA S MARTER °

ARRESFBRKEFBERMERKE 2
rBKEZELHBHNRARAIBEA
20153 B 13HZAE °
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34. HIRE PURCHASE CONTRACT AND FINANCE

LEASE PAYABLES

The Group purchases and leases certain of its plant and
machinery and motor vehicles for its construction business under

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

34. ABANRBMEHERNRE

AEEREBHBESOABEMELHREER
REEHRRERBZETREREE LT

hire purchase or finance lease arrangements. These hire purchase B ZSHEGAOREEDEARMEANRS -

contracts and leases are classified as finance leases and have

BTN RS EBEN TRE=F(2014

remaining instalment periods or lease terms ranging from two to FWE=F) -

three years (2014: two to three years).

At 31 March 2015, the total future minimum lease payments
under hire purchase contracts and finance leases and their

present values were as follows:

Amounts payable: AT F e 5RH -

Within one year —F A

In the second years F_F

In the third to fifth years, FE=FERF
inclusive (BEERMF)

Total minimum lease payments &1 18 & < 5k 4258

REmMEEM

Future finance charges

Total net hire purchase contract FA#E & 45 E LRt ETHE

and finance lease payables FEfF B AR R

Portion classified as current DB ATEBE 2D
liabilities

Non-current portion IEmEN D

HK$'000

MR2015F3 831 8 - BREMABEAONRE
HEZARKERAENREEMNERED
T

Minimum
lease payments

RIEBE N

Present value of minimum
lease payments
BREAENRRE

2015 2014 2015 2014
2015 20144 20154 20144
HKS'000 HKS$' 000 HKS'000
FET FHIT FET T

31,541 19,630 29,672 18,642
25,800 16,360 24,716 15817
27,482 12,688 26,754 12,488
84,823 48,678 81,142 46,947
(3,681) (1,731)
81,142 46,947

(29,672) (18,642)

51,470 28,305
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

35. DEFERRED TAX 35. IELEBIE
Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the REETBRARERZELEHRIBEE &
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: BEFEEET
2015 2014
20154 20144
HKS$'000 HKS'000
THExT FHTT
Deferred tax assets BIERIBE E 617 7,768
Deferred tax liabilities BLEHIBEE (19,771) (18,595)
(19,154) (10,827)
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) and their FN - RERBEE (8B 2ERDH
movements during the year are as follows: RESHINT :
Attributable to
FE{h
Other
Accelerated deductible Undistributed
tax Tax temporary  earnings of  Net deferred
depreciation losses  differences subsidiaries  tax assets/
(liabilities)
BEH B
MEBE H ity "] 13 i) PG -1 74
e BIEFE EREEE RORBR (BR)FE
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
THT THET THT THET THT
At 1 April 2013 M201354 818 (33.379) 20,387 11,940 (4702) (5754)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) RERBRA/ (F15)
to profit or loss during ZEERIA (EE11)
the year (note 11) (6,041) 5924 (2,779) = (2,896)
Utilisation of tax losses by AEEBHANIEER
joint operations = 117) = = 2177)

At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014~ R 2014F3A31B Rk

201444818 (39,420) 24,134 9,161 47020 (10827)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) RERBZTA/ (k)
to profit or loss during ZEERIE (3E11)
the year (note 11) 11,539 (19,936) (2,548) 4,702 (6,243)
Utilisation of tax losses by AEXBEANESSE
joint operations = (2,084) = = (2,084)
At 31 March 2015 ®2015F3A31H (27,881) 2114 6,613 = (19,154)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

35. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes:

(a)

At 31 March 2015, deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of unused tax losses of HKS$271,989,000 (2014
HKS$397,006,000) as they have been arisen in the Company, certain
subsidiaries and joint operations that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not assured that taxable profits will be available
against which such tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2015, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
in the PRC for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$27,455,000 (2014:
HKS$27,245,000) as at 31 March 2015.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

35. LL&IE (n\ﬁ)

B A -

(@)

(b)

BANREEMARAT 2014/15%F% 201

20153 A31 A © BHESASAFIBEIR
271,989,000 7T (20144F : 397,006,0007%
ﬁ)ﬁﬁ%i@ﬁwfﬁﬁé CEABEEAAR

AR BETHBARIREEER HER
—EREABESE  AEFEEEES
A B AR B IEE R ERTET)

BB ECEMEHIE - KRB ZIN
AERINRKZEE SRS AR 10%
FEIT  ZIREN 200841 A1 HLER
Y EAR 2007 F 12 A31 BEZBF| - fi§
FEEREEINRIEEE 2 A AR AR
SAEA - RITHR SR BB R BFL - B
SEMmME - BAKEA5%K10% - ALt -
LA B AL 2 5% 5 B A R 5L 2008 F 1
A1BREAZRFNDRBEEME @ A&
BIZASZ AR ©

RK2015F3A31H  IERAEERF
BRK L 2 M A Rl 2 REBTE B A (B
TEMH) 2 BRI ERELERIE - &
DRAIEERE @ ZEMBRRTKRAER
ARRRDIEABEF - R2015%F3 A
31H @ BRERFRANBAR A BEER=
BB (TEREERELEHRBAR) AL
27,455,000 7T (20144 : 27,245,00058

o) ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

36.

202

SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

Authorised: ERE
2,500,000,000 (2014: 1,500,000,000) 2,500,000,000 %
ordinary shares of HKS0.1 each

BEITRARE -
1,323,616976 %

Issued and fully paid:
1,323,616,976 (2014: 1,083,098,976)
ordinary shares of HKS0.1 each

Notes:

(@)  Pursuant to an ordinary resolution of shareholders of the Company
passed on 19 December 2014, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from HKS150,000,000 to HK$250,000,000
by the creation of an additional 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HKS0.10 each, ranking pari passu in all respects with the existing
share capital of the Company.

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014/15

(20144 : 1,500,000,000 /%)
BREEO] BT B

(20144 : 1,083,098,976 1%)
BREEO] BT @R

(@)

36. R4
B

2015 2014
20155 20144
HKS'000

T

HK$'000
FHET

250,000 150,000

132,362 108,310

RIBARRFRENR 2014512 A 19HEB
2 L BORE R BB EME I
1,000,000,000 iR IR EEO0.10B T 2 &
BR(RETEFARARGRBRERAZE
REMA) ARRZEATERAEA
150,000,000 7 753 % 250,000,000 7 7T ©



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Shares (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b) A summary of the movements in the Company'’s issued share
capital and share premium account during the years ended

36. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

31 March 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

36. BRA& (&)
M43 ()
FiE + (48)

(b) REZE2015FK2014F3A31BILFE -
AN BB BT AN R AR5 55 (B B 2 Bk
B ¢

Number of
ordinary Share
shares Issued
capital

premium
in issue account Total

ERT
ZEREE CRTRET RORER et

HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FTET THET FTER

At 1 April 2013 R2013F4A1H 987,765,285 98,777 389,659 488,436
Issue of shares upon exercise REREE T

of share options T EATAR D (i) 6,578,000 658 2,039 2,697
Issue of shares upon exercise  BERRERETHE

of warrants ESL) (i) 88,755,601 8,875 35,503 44378
At 31 March 2014 and MN2014F3 /318 K

1 April 2074 2014%4A1H 1,083,098,976 108,310 427,201 535,511
Issue of shares upon exercise REREE T

of share options i EATAR D (i) 10,518,000 1,052 8,195 9,247
Share placements vl (iif) 230,000,000 23,000 208,810 231,810
Reduction in share premium B R AR B (iv) = = (200,000) (200,000)
At 31 March 2015 M201543A31H 1,323,616,976 132,362 444,206 576,568
Notes: MiE
(i) The subscription rights attaching to 7,790,000 and 2,728,000 (i) 7,790,00017 % 2,728,000 (2014

(2014: 6,578,000) share options were exercised at
subscription prices of HK$0.904 and HKS$0.660 (2014:
HKS0.410) per share, respectively, resulting in the issue of
10,518,000 (2014: 6,578,000) shares for a total cash
consideration, before expenses, of HK$8,843,000 (2014:
HKS$2,697,000). At the time when the share options were
exercised, the fair values of these share options in an
aggregate amount of HKS404,000 previously recognised in
the share option reserve were transferred to the share
premium account. Further details of the share options are set

out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

F 1 6,578,00017 ) AR HEMI 2 R
BREE D RIZRBESR0.9047
JT K% 0.660% 7T (20144 : 0.4107%
JL)T1E - BR{FE 710,518,000 i
(20144 : 6,578,000 %) P& {5 A3
BReRERLB(INKREZAN)
8,843,000 7T (20144 : 2,697,000
EIT) o REBIREEITEERE » ST
REREREERZZSERER
FEAEE 4040008 TEEBER
EER - BREEZFBERE
A IEIRERMIFEST ©
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e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

36. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Shares (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

36. R4 (%)
63 ()
CERC)

(b) (&
BifaE : (8%)

(if)

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2014, 88,755,691 ordinary
shares were issued at a subscription price of HKS0.50 per
share for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
HKS$44,378,000 upon the exercise of 88,755,691 warrants of
the Company.

The Company completed the following share placements
during the year ended 31 March 2015:

pursuant to a subscription agreement entered into
between the Company and China New Way on
16 September 2014, 100,000,000 new ordinary shares
of the Company were allotted and issued at a price of
HKS0.463 per share to China New Way on
31 December 2014 for a total cash consideration,
before any expenses, of HKS46,300,000. Further
details of the share placement are set out in the
Company's circular dated 26 November 2014 and the
Company's announcement dated 31 December 2074;
and

pursuant to a subscription agreement entered into
between the Company and CCCI on 13 March 2015,
130,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company
were allotted and issued at a price of HKS1.427 per
share to CCCI on 30 March 2015 for a total cash
consideration, before any expenses, of
HK$185,510,000. Further details of the share
placement are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 13 March 2015 and 30 March
2015.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the Company's
shareholders at a special general meeting held on
19 December 2014, the share premium account of the
Company was reduced by an amount of HK$200,000,000,
with the credit arising therefrom being applied towards the
retained profits of the Company to facilitate the Company to
effect the distribution in specie as detailed in note 12(a) to
the consolidated financial statements. Further details of the
aforesaid reduction in the share premium account of the
Company are set out in the Company's circular dated
26 November 2014.
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RIBA R A B R
H H A2014%9 A 168 =~
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31 H » PEIF#E R B
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RAR AN R B2 AR B4 Th R RR
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Az R - R20154 3
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14278 T BeRELSR
(M BB X 81) A
185,510,000 7T o f% 10 B
EXBHERARRABAHA
201563 B 13H K& 20154F
3A30AZAE -
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36.

37.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Share options

Details of the Company's share option schemes and the share
options issued under the schemes are included in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Warrants

Pursuant to the resolution passed at a meeting of the Board held
on 16 July 2010, a bonus issue of warrants was made in the
proportion of three warrants for every sixteen ordinary shares of
HKS0.1 each held by members on the register of members of the
Company on 3 September 2010 (the “Warrant(s)"), resulting in a
total of 171,748,312 Warrants being issued on 9 September 2010
at nil consideration. Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to
subscribe for one new ordinary share of the Company at a
subscription price of HKS0.50 per share, payable in cash and
subject to adjustment, from the date of issue to 12 September
20183.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, 88,755,691 Warrants were
exercised for 88,755,691 new ordinary shares of the Company at a
price of HKS0.5 per share and 80,696,334 warrants were expired
and lapsed on 12 September 2013.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September 2012,
the Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the “New
Scheme”). No further options can be granted under the share
option scheme adopted on 28 August 2002 (the “Old Scheme”)
after 28 August 2012.

(@) Old Scheme

The primary purpose of the Old Scheme is to provide the
directors and employees, technical, financial or corporate
managerial advisers and consultants of the Group (the
“Eligible Personnel”) with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company, which will encourage
the grantees of such options to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and the shareholders as a whole. The Board will
set out in the offer the terms on which the option is to be
granted. Such terms may include (i) minimum performance
targets that must be reached before the option can be
exercised in whole or in part; and/or (ii) such other terms
(including the vesting period) as may be imposed at the
discretion of the Board either on a case-by-case basis or
generally.

36.

37.

BAREEMARAT 2014155k 205

e MR

31 March 2015
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

206

(@)

Old Scheme (continued)

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Old Scheme and other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of
the shares in issue from time to time (the “Scheme Limit").
No options will be granted under the Old Scheme at any time
if such grant will result in the Scheme Limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Old Scheme
and all other share option schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 10% of the shares in issue on the adoption date
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit"), subject to the refreshment of
the Scheme Mandate Limit. Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Old Scheme or any other share option
schemes of the Company shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to any Eligible Personnel
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
without prior approval from the shareholders. An offer of the
options shall be deemed to have accepted by way of
consideration of HKS1 payable by the Eligible Personnel
within 30 days from the date of offer.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the relevant date of
grant, in excess of HKS5 million,

such further grant of options must be approved by the
shareholders.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2015
201543 A31H

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 37. BIRREHE ()
(@) old Scheme (continued) (a) E&F&E @&

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the AEEHESe 2 HNBEATTLES

Board in its absolute discretion and will be notified to the ANBAEERAT - T HMFER

Eligible Personnel in the offer and shall be no less than the T =FH &S

highest of:

(i)  the closing price of a share as stated in the daily () RELABEIMEHR2EAH
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on WERXREFHROUTHE :
the date of grant;

(i) the average closing price of a share as stated in the (i) REEELXBHZATLEEE
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange HABRZEM 2B RRER
for the 5 business days immediately preceding the EEFBEzRHETEZ TS
date of grant; and Rk

(i) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant. (i) AELBHRNDEHE -

The Old Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 EEI R R4 B 8R1200248 A 28

years commencing on the adoption date, i.e. 28 August HEFI10FAAR - HR201248

2002 and no further options can be granted under the Old A28 A RBRTBHBEEERE

Scheme after 28 August 2012. FENRHE -

Details of the movements in share options granted under RIBETEIR T 2 BB 2 B85

the Old Scheme are as follows: W

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BZ2015F3 531 HILFE

Number of share options
BRERE

Exercise Outstanding  Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
Eligible Date of grant/ price per Exercisable at during during at
participants replacement ion period 1/4/2014 the year theyear  31/3/2015
2014 F 20155
4A1H 3A31A
B/ BRAE T g2 BATHE  FRTE FRAAR HRTHE

(note iii))

GEAO)

Directors 13/8/2004 0.904 21/8/2004-12/8/2014 9,652,000  (6,326,000) (3,326,000) =

S 2/4/2007 1.010 10/4/2007-1/4/2017 747,000 = (747,000 =

Other (note (i) 13/8/2004 0.904 21/8/2004-12/8/2014 1464000  (1,464,000) = =

i (fer() 2472007 1.010 10/4/2007-1/4/2017 747,000 - (747,000) -

12,610,000  (7,790,000)  (4,820,000) -

Number of options R4 #AR
exercisable at AEZ
the end of the AR iEEN
reporting period -

Weighted average  JIETH91T1E(E
exercise price 0917 0.904 0.937 =
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 37. BRETE (&)
(@) Old Scheme (continued) (a) EB=tEI(#E)
For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE2014F3A31 HILFE
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise Outstanding  Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
Eligible Date of grant/ price per at during during at
participants replacement option Exercisable period 1/4/2013 the year theyear  31/3/2014
R 2013 F 20145
=31 4718 3A318
Bt/ BRAH THEE THEH te R AT B ERTHE EREM fel R AT B
HKS (note (iii))
BT (B2 (i)

Directors 13/8/2004 0.904 21/8/2004-12/8/2014 9,652,000 - = 9,652,000
= 2/4/2007 1.010 10/4/2007-1/4/2017 747,000 - = 747,000
15/1/2010 0.650 15/1/2011-14/1/2014 2,445,000 ~- (2445000 =
15/1/2010 0.650 15/1/2012-14/1/2014 2,445,000 - (2445000) =
15/1/2010 0.650 15/1/2013-14/1/2014 3,260,000 - (3,260,000 =
Employees 17/1/2012 0.410 17/1/2012-16/1/2014 7461600  (3946800) (3,514,800) =
EE 17/1/2012 0.410 17/1/2013-16/1/2014 4974400  (2631,200)  (2,343,200) =
Consultants 15/1/2010 0.650 15/1/2011-14/1/2014 113,400 = (113,400) =
B 15/1/2010 0.650 15/1/2012-14/1/2014 113,400 = (113,400) =
16/1/2010 0.650 15/1/2013-14/1/2014 151,200 - (1571,200) =
17/1/2012 0.410 17/1/2013-16/1/2014 500,000 - (500,000) =
Other (note (i) 13/8/2004 0.904 21/8/2004-12/8/2014 1,464,000 = - 1,464,000
HAt (FIEE()) 2/4/2007 1.010 10/4/2007-1/4/2017 747,000 - - 747,000
16/1/2010 0.650 15/1/2011-14/1/2014 834,600 - (834,600) =
15/1/2010 0.650 15/1/2012-14/1/2014 834,600 - (834,600) =
15/1/2010 0.650 15/1/2013-14/1/2014 1,112,800 - (1,112,:800) =

36,856,000  (6,578,000) (17,668,000) 12,610,000

Number of options R IR
exercisable at Az
the end of the ki
reporting period 12,610,000

Weighted average  IIEF 171 (E
exercise price 0.657 0.410 0.564 0917
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(@)

(b)

Old Scheme (continued)
Notes:

(i) These outstanding share options were held by a former
independent non-executive director and a deceased director.
The Board has approved that these outstanding share
options can be exercised on or before 14 January 2014,
12 August 2014 and 1 April 2017, respectively.

(i) All options referred to in the above tables are not subject to
any vesting period save as the options granted on 15 January
2070 and 17 January 2012, which have vesting dates of
15 January 2011, 15 January 2012, 15 January 2013 and
17 January 2013, respectively.

(i) In respect of the share options exercised during the year
ended 31 March 2015, the weighted average share price at
the date of exercise was HK$0.904 (2014: HKS0.41).

(iv)  No share options were granted or cancelled during the years
ended 31 March 2015 or 2014.

At 31 March 2014, the total number of shares in respect of
which share options had been granted/replaced under the
Old Scheme and remained outstanding under the Old
Scheme was 12,610,000 shares, representing 1.2% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2014.

New Scheme

On 3 September 2012, the New Scheme was adopted by the
Company for the primary purpose of providing Eligible
Personnel with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company, which will encourage the grantees
of such options to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
the shareholders as a whole. The Board will set out in the
offer the terms on which the option is to be granted. Such
terms may include (i) minimum performance targets that
must be reached before the option can be exercised in
whole or in part; and/or (i) such other terms (including the
vesting period) as may be imposed at the discretion of the
board either on a case-by-case basis or generally.
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(b)
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

210

(b)

New Scheme (continued)

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the New Scheme and other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed the
Scheme Limit. No options will be granted under the New
Scheme at any time if such grant will result in the Scheme
Limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the New Scheme
and all other share option schemes of the Company shall
not exceed Scheme Mandate Limit, subject to the
refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit. Options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the New Scheme or any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate
Limit.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to any Eligible Personnel
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
without prior approval from the shareholders. An offer of the
options shall be deemed to have accepted by way of
consideration of HKS1 payable by the Eligible Personnel
within 30 days from the date of offer.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of grant:

(i)  representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the relevant date of
grant, in excess of HKS5 million,

such further grant of options must be approved by the
shareholders.
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(b)

New Scheme (continued)

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion and will be notified to the
Eligible Personnel in the offer and shall be no less than the
highest of:

(i)  the closing price of a share as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant;

(i) the average closing price of a share as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant.
The New Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10

years commencing on the adoption date, i.e., 3 September
2012.

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

(b) ¥ﬁ“|‘2( )
REBERAEEZ 2 EMNIBERELH
Egi’JWLﬁﬂAﬁh/,J\i i &
B ERTII =R 2&aE :

() RELHEHBIMEMAZEAR
WEXRLFAZRHEHE :

(i) REZRRHBAHZAGMEZE

P 2 B R RER

EERZEOEHmEZFY
2R

(i) PEREBHROZEE -
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 37. RS (E)
(b) New Scheme (continued) (b) HEtE (&)
Details of the movements in share options granted under BRI TSR 2 B SB35
the New Scheme are as follows: R
For the year ended 31 March 2015 BZ2015F3 531 HILFE
Number of share options
RREHA
Exercise Outstanding Exercised Lapsed Cancelled  Outstanding
Eligible price per at during during during E
participants Date of grant option Exercisable period 1/4/2014 the year the year theyear  31/3/2015
R20145F R20155
SHERE 4A1R 3A31H
RERSHE RitiAH 1%E T AT ERTE EREA FREH R AT
(note (ii))
BT (Bt i)
Employees 20/2/2013 0.660 20/2/2014-19/2/2017 1,887,600 (1,687,600) (196,200) (3,800) -
&8 20/2/2013 0.660 20/2/2015-19/2/2017 1,887,600 (431600)  (264000)  (1,192,000) -
20/2/2013 0.660 20/2/2016-19/2/2017 2,516,800 (608,800) (352,000 (1,556,000) -

6292000 (27280000 (812200  (2751,800) -

Number of options A& R

exercisable at kG 4
the end of the Bk E
reporting period .

Weighted average ~ METHTE(E
exercise price 0.66 0.66 0.66 0.66 =
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 37. B RERE(8])
(b) New Scheme (continued) (b) HrstE (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZ2014F3H31 HILFE

Number of share options

JBIREHE

Exercise Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding

Eligible price per at during at

participants Date of grant option Exercisable period 1/4/2013 the year 31/3/2014

H20135 K20145

SHERE 4A1H 3A31H

REKSHE THE f i RATHE te R AT BE
HKS

BT

Employees 20/2/2013 0.660 20/2/2014-19/2/2017 2,133,600 (246,000 1,887,600
E& 20/2/2013 0.660 20/2/2015-19/2/2017 2,133,600 (246,000) 1,887,600
20/2/2013 0.660 20/2/2016-19/2/2017 2,844,800 (328,000) 2,516,800

7,112,000 (820,000) 6,292,000

Number of options ~ RIREHE

exercisable at A{IfEZ
the end of the g 2]
reporting period 1:887,600

Weighted average IEFI1THEE

exercise price 0.66 0.66 0.66

Notes: FisE

(i) No share options were granted during the year ended (i) REZE2015F3A31H IEFE
31 March 2015. BRI R ARRE -

(i) All outstanding share options granted under the New Scheme (i) HEEEEEEEEL  MERE
were cancelled during the year as a result of a general offer FEABERITERERER  BIE
made by China New Way to purchase the outstanding share et B 2 BT MR TR R AR
options from the option holders, details of which are set out BERERNEH - BEFBEHRAR
in the Company'’s circular dated 26 November 2014. AIEEA20144511 A26H 2@ ©
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(b)

New Scheme (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i) The vesting period, which is the period from the date of grant
to the first exercisable date, of the share options granted is
determined by directors of the Company at each time when
the options are granted. Holders of share options granted
under the New Scheme may only exercise their options
during the exercisable periods as follows:

Maximum percentage
Exercisable period of share options exercisable

20/2/2014 —19/2/2015 up to 30%

20/2/2015 —19/2/2016 up to 60%

20/2/2016 — 19/2/2017 up to 100%

(iv)  The Group recognised the total expense of HK$281,000 (2014:
HKS516,000) for the year ended 31 March 2015 in relation to
share options granted by the Company under the New
Scheme.

At 31 March 2014, the total number of shares in respect of
which share options had been vested and granted under the
New Scheme and remained outstanding was 6,292,000
shares, representing 0.58% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at 31 March 2014.

38. RESERVES

214

(@)

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The special reserve includes (i) a debit balance of
HKS$7,340,000 recognised in prior years, which represented
the aggregate amount of the non-voting deferred share
capital of Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and the
difference between the nominal amount of the share capital
issued by the Company and the aggregate nominal amount
of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the group reorganisation in 1993; and (ii) a deemed
contribution of HKS$10,240,000 recognised upon the
acquisition of the remaining 62% interest in Mandarin Group
Limited from a then director and then controlling
shareholder of the Company in the year ended 31 March
2010.
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38. f#fE

(@)

AEBRAFERBEFE 2 HER
BREEHNRABRESEHRE
5] o

BRIFEBRE () RAEFEERR 2 E
T8 4% #4 7,340,000 7% T+ BD{& Fl i 58
ITRERAR (AEEZEHBAR)
ZERERELERA - URARA R
TZBEAEEBERKIEINQIFEERSE
HMBAZHB AR RN EHERE
EFE 75 (i) AREE 20104
SA3IBILEFERARR —RERE
E X E R TR AR R I B Mandarin
Group Limited 8% T 62% # &= M & 32
AR A5E & 10,240,000 58 7T



38.

39.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

RESERVES (continued)

(c) The capital reserve mainly represents the amount of profit
capitalisation upon allotment of share capital of Chun Wo
Foundations Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary) during the
year ended 31 March 1997.

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group entered into hire purchase and finance
lease arrangements in respect of plant and machinery and motor
vehicles with a total capital value at the inception of the hire
purchases and leases of HK$59,759,000 (2014: HK$35,877,000).

Save as disclosed above and the distribution in specie declared
during the year (note 12(a)), the Group did not have other major
non-cash transactions of investing and financing activities during
the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014,

38.

39.
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
contingent liabilities, which have not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements:

(a) Corporate guarantees and performance bonds given

HREME
RIS K - AREH T M ARG AH
BRREHERBZAREM

(a) EBEHZRARRRREBHRE

2015 2014
2015 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
FERT FHET
Indemnities issued to financial BT ARIEERETIEELN 2
institutions for performance bonds BHIRTE MR & Bk
in respect of construction contracts TR Z IR -
undertaken by:
— subsidiaries —MBAR 461,710 574,059
— joint operations —AEEB 410,521 94,092
872,231 668,151
Extent of guarantee issued to financial ~ Fi A ARESEERE
institutions to secure credit A& B e <
facilities granted to: EREHE
— associates —BERT] 306,100 20,800
Guarantees for property development — BL¥I¥EREIBE MEE A £
projects given to banks which granted ~ #F{ESHEMHE 2 A TiRIERME
facilities to purchasers of the Group's ZERITIRM 2 ER
properties held for sale 203,762 259,941
1,382,093 948,892

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair
values of the financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the directors consider
that the possibility of the default of the parties involved is
remote. Accordingly, no value has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position in respect of
these financial guarantee contracts.

At 31 March 2015, the banking facilities guaranteed by the

Group to associates were utilised to the extent of
HKS$122,200,000 (2014: HK$20,800,000).
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40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Litigations

()

During the year ended 31 March 2014, a subsidiary of
the Group commenced legal proceedings to seek
payment for an outstanding amount of approximately
HKS$335 million against the contract customer of a
construction contract (the “Tsz Shan Monastery
Project”) undertaken by the Group in prior years, and a
writ of summons was issued at the High Court of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region against the
contract customer for additional works performed and
costs incurred by the subsidiary of the Group for
superstructure works in relation to the main buildings
and associated facilities at the Tsz Shan Monastery
complex on 8 August 2013. Subsequently, the
subsidiary of the Group received a defence and
counterclaim from the contract customer on
22 November 2013, in which the contract customer
accepted that it was liable to pay only a certain
amount of the subsidiary of the Group's claims and, in
addition, is alleging contra charges against the
subsidiary of the Group in respect of rectification of
alleged non-compliance works and sectional liquidated
damages.

The Group has recognised contract revenue and cost
in profit or loss up to 31 March 2015, by reference to
the stage of completion of the contract activity at the
end of the reporting period, which is measured by
reference to the value of work carried out to date as
certified by the architect. Variations in contract work
and claims are included in revenue to the extent that
the amount has been certified by the architect and its
receipt is considered probable.

The ultimate outcome of the case will depend on the
evidence adduced before the court at trial which is not
expected at least until early 2016.

However, after having performed management's
internal critical assessment of the aforesaid case and
seeking advice from independent quantum assessor
and legal advisor, the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that the defence and counterclaim by the
contract customer has no merit and would be
successfully defended, therefore no material adverse
financial impact to the Group is expected.
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40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

Litigations (continued)

218

(b)

(if)

During the year ended 31 March 2014, a plaintiff
commenced legal proceedings against a subsidiary of
the Group alleging that the termination of a proposed
transaction in relation to the sale of commercial
development and 49% interest in the car park
development at No. 8 Clear Water Bay Road
(collectively the “Properties”) was wrongful and
claimed for the loss of capital appreciation of the
Properties for the breach of a memorandum entered
into between the plaintiff and a subsidiary of the Group
in September 2013.

The plaintiff and the subsidiary of the Group have
completed the pleadings stage and have exchanged
their witness statements on 9 January 2015.
Subsequently, they are in the course of preparing their
respective provisional quantum expert reports on a
without prejudice basis and are due for exchange on
17 July 2015.

The ultimate outcome of the case will depend on the
evidence adduced before the case management
conference for the proceedings which is not expected
at least until late 2015.

Besides, during the year ended 31 March 2014,
another plaintiff commenced legal proceedings
against the same subsidiary of the Group that the
termination of a proposed transaction in relation to the
sale of commercial development at No. 8 Clear Water
Bay Road was wrongful and seeks damages to the
subsidiary of the Group.

The parties have completed the pleadings stage and
are now at the discovery stage. Given the early stages
of the legal proceedings, it is difficult to assess the
ultimate outcome of the case.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Litigations (continued)
(i) (continued)
However, based on the existing legal documents after
having performed management's internal critical
assessment of the aforesaid case and seeking advice
from independent legal advisor, the directors of the
Group are of the opinion that the Group has a
reasonable ground of defence on the merits and would
be successfully defended, therefore no material
adverse financial impact to the Group is expected.

41. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(@) Aslessor
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements) under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging
from one to two years. The terms of the leases generally
also require the tenants to pay security deposits.

At 31 March 2015, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases
with its tenants falling due as follows:

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

40. AREE (&)
(b) 3R ()
(i) ()
AT - BRIBREERXE -
EEEY R ETAILE
WEEE o WRB A RERS
RERE  AEEEERAK
EEELLERBER Bk
ERT YA EEEREAT
Mz BT E -

41. EEHOZH
(@) UNUHEBEASD
AEERBELEROTHHEERE
M (RA M REMES) 5
AR T —ERE - ROKRES
FEREEZHRES -

MR2015F3 A31H » AEBERE SR
MERI M 2 TS £BL%ER
BREMASEKZBEEE - HHm

T
2015 2014
20154 20144
HKS'000 HKS'000
FET FHET
Within one year —F R 2,080 8,239
In the second to fifth years, inclusive MERF(BIEEREMT) = 4,335
2,080 12,674
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41.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(continued)

(b) Aslessee
The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms ranging from six months to three years.

At 31 March 2015, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

4. EEMIZH(RE)

(b)

LEBEA S D
AEBERBEFHOLFAREET
MREYE - KEBBEHNFREA

E=F -

% 201543 531 B + A& ERET
TR B EROREE B R SERER
% AT

2015
2015 &

HK$'000

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

42. COMMITMENTS

220

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note
41(b) above, the Group had the following commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

(@) Capital commitments

MELF (BREEEMF)

FER

16,109
9,255

16,092
8,634

25,364 24,626

42. i
Br | STH 5E41(b) BT 5 il 2 & 3 FH 49 & I

AN -

(a)

RMEHR » AEBEH A TARE

BRI

2015
2015 &

HK$'000

BRI AVEREE

Contracted, but not provided for:
Acquisition of a subsidiary

Y — B A )

Acquisition of items of plant and BEMRELREIER
machinery
Total capital commitments BARAEERR
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42. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Property development and investment commitments

Contracted, but not provided for: BETAEARBE ¢
Acquisition of a land use right W i + b 55 R A
Residential developments FEER

Total property development and
investment commitments

43. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material transactions with related parties during the year:

Associates: ik /NG
Management fee income BEIEBIA
Contract revenue arA

Interest expense paid and payable 215 K& JE - & % Friz sl

to a director-controlled EE I BERE

corporation

Notes:

(i) The transaction prices were determined by reference to the
then prevailing market rates.

(i) The interest expense was paid to Talent Effort on the
unsecured bond of HK$150,000,000 which bears interest at
the rate of 7.25% per annum, further details of which are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

42, &¥E (E)
(b) MEBERRRERNRE

2015
2015 &

2014
20144
HKS'000
FAET

HK$'000
FHET

MEERIIRE AR

10,875 21,751
11,103 -
21,978 21,751

43. BEATHE
(a) BZEVBHRREMIBOFLZRS
AN - REBRAFZEREEA TR
UTEARS :

2015
2015 &

2014
20144
HKS'000
FAET

HK$'000
FHET

(i) 3,960 3,920

(i) 230 1,381

(i), 32 10,875 10,875
B -

() RIERIHIZEERERZTSE
IREE o

i BffFEZHNERHRAIXHA
150,000,000 T 2 BB ESE
B HIRFANERT25% 8BS
FBERERE P RERMTEI2 o
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43.

44.

45.

222

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b) Outstanding balances and other transactions with related
parties:

(i)  Details of the balances with associates at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in notes 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(i)  Details of the guarantees given by the Group for
banking facilities granted to associates are disclosed
in note 40(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Key management personnel of the Group solely represents
directors of the Company. Further details of directors'
emoluments are included in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Other than certain equity investments being classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, as disclosed in note 25
to the consolidated financial statements, all financial assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 were loans
and receivables, and financial liabilities stated at amortised cost,
respectively.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are
determined with reference to quoted market bid prices;

the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities included in the level 2 and level 3 categories have
been determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis,
with the most significant inputs being the discount rate that
reflects the credit risk of counterparties;
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

the fair values of financial guarantee contracts are
determined based on the present value of expected
payments when default occurs, where the main
assumptions are the probability of default by the specific
counterparty extrapolated from market-based credit
information and the amount of loss, given the default.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair
value is observable.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

224

AND POLICIES

The Group's financial instruments include debtors, investments
held for trading, amounts due from associates, an investee
company and other partners of joint operations/fellow
subsidiaries of other partners of joint operations, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, creditors, accrued charges,
amounts due to associates, other partners of joint operations,
non-controlling shareholders, unsecured bonds and bank
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes to the consolidated financial statements. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i)  Currency risk
Most of the Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in
HKS or RMB, which are the same as the functional currency
of the relevant group entity. The Group undertakes certain
transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence
exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. The Group
does not expect any significant exposure to foreign
exchange fluctuations and shall use derivative contracts to
hedge against its exposure to currency risk only when it is
required. The Group manages its foreign currency risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency
rate.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

The Group has significant bank borrowings (see note 31 for
details), bank deposits and certain amounts due from/to
joint operations with floating interest rate which are exposed
to cash flow interest-rate risk. Unsecured bonds (see note
32 for details) carried at fixed rate expose the Group to fair
value interest-rate risk. During the year, the Group has not
hedged its cash flow and fair value interest rate risks. The
directors of the Company consider the Group's exposure of
cash flow interest rate risk on the bank deposits is
insignificant as most deposits bear variable interest rates
which did not significantly fluctuated in recent years.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings and certain amounts due from/to joint
operations at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole
year. A 100 (2014: 100) basis point increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management's
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rates had been 100 (2014: 100) basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2015
would decrease/increase by approximately HK$11,938,000
(2014: HK$10,555,000).

Sensitivity analysis on bank deposits is not presented as the
directors of the Company consider that the Group's
exposure to interest rate fluctuations on bank deposits is
insignificant.

Other price risk

If the prices of the respective listed equity instruments
invested by the Group had been 5% (2014: 5%) higher/lower,
profit for the year ended 31 March 2015 would increase/
decrease by HKS8,000 (2014: HKS11,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

226

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount
of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in
note 40.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its debtors and
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries of other partners of joint
operations and other partners of joint operations. The Group is
exposed to concentration of credit risk as a substantial portion of
its trade debtors are generated from a limited number of
customers. At the end of the reporting period, one (2014: two)
customer of the Group accounted for about 68% (2014: 65%) of
the Group's trade debtors, which are the Government of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (“the Government of HKSAR")
and certain Hong Kong listed companies engaged in infrastructure
business in Hong Kong. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. The Group also reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. To mitigate credit risk arising from
guarantee provided to banks in respect of credit facilities utilised
by associates, the Group has delegated a team responsible for
assessing credit standing and limits to the guarantee to be made.
In addition, the management considers the credit risk exposure to
financial guarantees provided to property purchases is limited
because the facilities are secured by the properties. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk
is significantly reduced.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Except for the above, the Group does not have any significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number
of counterparties and customers.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from
associates, an investee company and other partners of joint
operations/fellow subsidiaries of other partners of joint
operations, the Group's exposure to credit risk arising from default
of the counterparty is limited as the counterparty has sufficient
net assets to repay its debts and/or a good history of repayment.
The investee Company is engaged in property development
business in Hong Kong and it is a subsidiary of a Hong Kong listed
company engaged in various business segments including
property development business. The Group does not expect to
incur a significant loss for uncollected amounts due from these
associates, investee company and other partners of joint
operations/fellow subsidiaries of other partners of joint
operations.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as significant sources of
liquidity. Details of which are set out in note 31.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 46. BIEEREE B BRREK (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) mENE L R ()
Liquidity and interest risk tables REBEERFE @GR

Weighted Repayable on
average  demand or Total
effective within 1-5 More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year years 5years  cash flows amount

MEYS  RREXS —£Z AERRE
BRAZ  -FakE ka3 BBRE RERE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER TR TR

2015 20155
Trade payables BoRITHE - 827,214 389,276 - 1216490 1,216,490
Other payables and accruals ~ Hi e ZE K &=t
] - 354,468 - - 354,468 354,468
Unsecured bond payable N —EEELRZ
to a related company EERES 7.25 157,039 - - 157,039 150,000
Liability component of aRERz AR
convertible bond o - - 179,190 - 179,190 146,458
Amounts due to other partners ~ RA & E K E A
of joint operations/ B/ REER
fellow subsidiaries of Htn%tt 2 A%
other partners of joint MERRZIE —
operations — interest-free 2B = 86,576 = = 86,576 86,576
Amounts due to associates RBENFF - 19,741 - - 19,741 19,741
Amounts due to non-controlling K?H&ﬂxﬁx%m A
shareholders = = = 46,300 46,800 41,627
Bank borrowings — variable rate R — ¥ 8, 230 2153475 117,365 - 2270840 2,255,392
Obligations under finance leases gﬂﬁfﬁfﬂf’é 2.0 31,541 53,282 - 84,823 81,142
Financial guarantee contracts ~ BIF&#ERA 4] - 122,200 - - 122,200 -
3,752,254 739,113 46,800 4,538,167 4,351,894
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

31 March 2015
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46. B E br EIE B R R BUR ()

RBESERE ()
HBEERFEERE (H)

Weighted Repayable on

average
effective
EEELE

EF

GRS

demand or
within

1 year
BIRENR
—FERER
HKS'000
THT

1-5
years
—5E
Bk
HKS$'000
FERL

Total
undiscounted
cash flows
AERHEE
MEBE
HKS'000
THT

Carrying
amount

FREME
HKS$'000
TAT

2014 2014 %
Trade payables B I ENTE = 730,758 266,026 996,784 996,784
Other payables and accruals H A TR R B R
HIE - 253430 - 253,430 253,430
Unsecured bond payable EN—FEEELRZ
to a related company BEHES 725 157,039 = 157,039 150,000
Amounts due to other partnersof ~ RALEKH B/
joint operations/fellow subsidiaries &2 £ B2
of other partners of joint operations  [F Z Mt B2 AlFIE
— interest-free ) = 20,320 = 20,320 20,320
— fixed rate S ER 3.00 10,050 = 10,050 10,000
Amounts due to associates YN A UNETE Q] - 20,151 - 20,151 20,151
Amounts due to non-controlling  RIFHERAR R A
shareholders = 10,006 = 10,006 10,006
Bank borrowings — variablerate  R1TER — IF 8 2.80 2,030,576 251226 2,281,802 2,261,860
Obligations under finance leases ~ F&TR &AL 2.72 19,630 29,048 48,678 46947
Financial guarantee contracts HEERAD = 20,800 - 20,800 -
3,272,760 546,300 3,819,060 3,769,498

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contract are
the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that
amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band
in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2015, the
aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings amounted
to HKS$1,976,592,000 (2014: HKS$2,030,576,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the directors of the
Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment.

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the management
reviews the expected cash flow information of the Group’s bank
borrowings and unsecured bonds. For bank borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause based on the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the agreement as below:

6. M EREREBFEREEK (&)

REES R (E)

Bt e 2K E BRSO 2 SRITIE FUR Lt B
HDTR A [BIR Bk —FNEE ] B
AR - B 2015%F3 A31 H » 2FRITE
2 BRI {E 71,976,592,000 % 7T (2014
£ :2,030,576,000870) - KEEREE
MR - ARBIESHERIT T A8
TER B ZSKENEFER °

REEBRDECRR  EREBERNAEE
ZRITER R ERRES 2 ERRESRE
Bt MAREREE G ZRITENRIZ
PR IpART R REIER BT -

2015 20154
Bank borrowings with a BB EEREREX

Repayable
within
1 year
—FREE

HK$'000
THT

Total

1—=5 undiscounted

years

—FZRF
HKS'000
THT

cash flows
AURRE
REAKE
HKS'000
THT

Carrying
amount

BEE
HK$'000
Fb7t

repayment on demand ZBITER

clause 1,748,609 249,915 1,998,524 1,976,592
2014 20144
Bank borrowings with a B EERERIEX

repayment on demand Z BRI

clause 2,013,003 47,612 2,060,615 2,030,576
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The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders' value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014.

Depending on the market conditions and funding arrangements, if
at any time, repurchase of the Company's shares will lead to an
enhancement of the net asset value per share and/or earnings per
share of the Group, the directors of the Company will authorise
such transactions.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 46.
AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total
debts less total cash and bank balances divided by the equity
attributable to shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

MEEREEEERIEK (&)

BEREE (H)
AEEFERERABLEREREL  BERX
BELRNBEBEHRE RIRITEREE
BRARRBIRREG LD - RIREHKRE
REFHEMT

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FAT
Unsecured bond payable to a related FET—MRE R T 2 B ES
company 150,000 150,000
Liability component of convertible bonds mikES 2 BESD 146,458 -
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HRIRTTIER 2,255,392 2261,360
Hire purchase contract and finance lease HEEH LR ERSRNTIE
payables 81,142 46,947
Amounts due to other partners of joint REEEBEMBLE ZFKIE
operations = 64,978
Total debts (Evrs 2,632,992 2,523,785
Less: Total cash and bank balances B IBE RIRITE AR (1,293,087) (1,325,514)
Net debts B %5 1,339,905 1,198,271
Equity attributable to shareholders AR AR EE
of the Company 1,583,690 1,643,882
Gearing ratio BRBELE 85% 73%
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Brilliant Stone Development Limited

RAERBRATF

Champ Success Development Limited

BRERERAT

Chun Wo Building Construction
Limited
ENEEBRAT

Chun Wo Construction and
Engineering Company Limited
(AICWCEU)

BREETRARAR
([RMBELETRE])

Chun Wo E & M Engineering
Limited
EARETRERRR

Chun Wo Elegant Decoration
Engineering Company Limited
ERNRREHTRERAR

Chun Wo Engineering (Macau)
Company Limited

ERIRORM)ERDA

Chun Wo Foundations Limited

TR ETEERAR

Chun Wo Foundations (Macau)

Engineering Limited
A A (RFT) TIRER AR

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Place of
incorporation/
business

A

B0

Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong
&

Hong Kong
96

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong
BB
Hong Kong
BB
Macau
R
Hong Kong
BB
Macau

Ar

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BRTEE/
R

HKS1 ordinary share
TETLEBR

HKS$100 ordinary shares
10078 T & &M

HK$200,000,000
ordinary shares
200,000,000 AT @

HK$291,000,000
ordinary shares
HK$9,000,000
non-voting deferred
shares (note (ii))
291,000,000/5 7T
9,000,000/ 7T
ERFERITR
(B2 (i)

HK$35,000,000
ordinary shares
35,000,000 8L & B

HKS$14,000,000
ordinary shares
14,000,000/ T &A%

MOP1,000,000
capital
1,000,0003&F5 & AR

HKS$19,000,000
ordinary shares
19,000,000 %8 7 E i8R

MOP100,000
capital
100,000;8f L&A

| 7

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
NG 2
REBDL

2015
20154
%

100

60

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

BANXEREEERAT 2014/15FR

2014

20144
%

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

47. T EMB L BFE

Principal
activities

TEER

Cash management
HeER

Property development

MERRE
Construction
BE

Construction

BE

Electrical and mechanical
contract works
EAHNTIRE

Interior design and
decoration

BB REE

Construction

BE

Construction

BE

Construction

e
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

47. T EMBE A AFE (&)

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BROTEE/
Bl TN

Place of
incorporation/
business

L,

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
NG 2
REBDL

U TE]
activities

BN FEER

2015
20155
%

2014
20144
%

City Professional Management Hong Kong HK$3,400,000 100 100 Property management
Limited ordinary shares services
AR ERERAT e 3400000 T BB WEERRH
City Security Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100 100 Security guard services
ordinary shares
B ERBRAR BE 1,000,000 7T & &k SRR
Full Fame Development Limited Hong Kong HKS1 ordinary share 100 100  Property development
BERRERAR BE 18T EBR MERR
Green Solution Interior Design and Hong Kong HKST 100 100 Interior design and
Decoration Company Limited ordinary share decoration
ERAEARTREBERAR BE 18T EBR ERRTREE
Rich Resource Development Hong Kong HKS2 100 100 Property investment
Limited ordinary shares
BEFRERAT e 2ETERR St
SINORAK FZ LLC the UAE AED1,000,000 100 100  Property development
ordinary shares
()t 1,000,000 A7 3 4/ A% NEBR
Smartlink International Development Hong Kong/ HKS1 100 100  Property investment
Limited the UAE ordinary share
ERAREERA &,/ 1B E AR WEiRE
Smart Wealth Asia Pacific Limited Hong Kong HKS1 - 100  Property development
ordinary share
BRETARRRA 0 TRTERR MEER
Smartwill Asia Limited Hong Kong/ HKS1 100 100  Property development
the UAE ordinary share
HETHERAR &b/ B BT ERR NEHE
Wing Cheong Electrical Engineering & Hong Kong HK$15,000,000 100 100 Electrical and mechanical
Contracting Company Limited ordinary shares contract works
KEERIRERAA 95 15,000,000 % 7 &38R BEAHNTIRE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/I ENTS

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Place of
incorporation/
business

A,

B0

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BRTER/
R

AREEREHERERRAR PRC/Mainland HKS150,000,000
(note (ii) China registered capital
GEID) RE/BR 150,000,000 7C
AMER

RIFTEENRERABRA PRC/Mainland RMB10,000,000
(note (iii)) China registered share capital
(BZE (iil) R/ BR AK#10,000,0007C
M AR A

WETFLEXNEEERAR PRC/Mainland RMB18,000,000
(note (iif)) China registered share capital
GEO) RE/ER AR 18000,0007C
BREN

Notes:

(i) All the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the
Company.

(i) The non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by the Group,
practically carry no rights to dividends or to receive notice of or to
attend or vote at any general meeting of CWCE or to participate in
any distribution on winding up. Chun Wo Hong Kong Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, has been granted an option by the
holders of the non-voting deferred shares to acquire these shares at
a nominal amount.

(i) These subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned enterprises established

under the PRC laws.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

e MR

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

Percentage of
equity attributable Principal
to the Company activities
NG 2
REBDL TEEHR
2015 2014
20155 20145
% %
100 100  Property development
NEBR
100 100  Consultancy service
B IR
100 100  Property development
MEER
B EE
()  FEHFAEEZMEA RS HAR AR EE
Fo
(i) EERERRLERGIFHBAEERE B
MRS REIRAR S - ERE AR E TR
Eﬁjﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ*iﬁiiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁkﬁ
FRE FREINHLERREFHRE
FHEZ R o AR 2 MR E Chun Wo
Hong Kong Limited B % #& 1% S # IE 1T %
MEEART —HBRE - IREABA
ZERD ©
(i) ZEWEBR R RARERR BEERRK T 2 5

EBERE -

ERINBARRIEERREIEFEAFER
EEFIHAREEEFERBELEZAR

A 2

A o KRB EFR R h EH Al K

BRRIZFHFESRBARTTE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
OPERATIONS

Form of
Name of joint operation business structure
REXKEN RERBEA

48. T ESEEKFE

Place of
registration/ Attributable Principal
operation interest of the Group activities

i R FEEELER FRER

2015 2014  (note (b))
20156 20145 (FIzE(b))
% %
(note (a)) (OEE)]
(Ff5E (a)) GEAG))

Chun Wo — CRGL Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 70 70  Construction

&R — R Bk E FREEA BE BE

Chun Wo — CRGL — MBEC Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 60 60 Construction

&A — R EhE - hEAERRE FREEA BE B

Chun Wo — CRGL — QR Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 45 45  Construction
FRREA B BE

Chun Wo — CEC Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 51 51  Construction

&M - RETIZKE FREEA BE =2

Chun Wo — Henryvicy — GTECH Joint Venture  Unincorporated Hong Kong 55 55 Construction
FRRVEA B £

Chun Wo — Hip Hing Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 50 50  Construction

&R — pEmE FRREA BE =22

Chun Wo — Leader Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 49 49  Construction
FREEA BE =

CW — SELI Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 50 50  Construction
FRRVEA B B

Hip Hing — Chun Wo Joint Venture (GH) Unincorporated Hong Kong 40 - Construction
FREEA BE .

JEC — CW E&M Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 50 50  Construction
FRFEA BE =

Kaden-Chun Wo Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 49 49  Construction
FRRVEA B BE

Leighton — Chun Wo Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 20 - Construction
FREEA BE B

In addition to the above joint operations of construction work, the R EMBET R &L EBKIN - REETR

Group has also a joint arrangement with a joint venture partner to EAA MR ET A A M EE  E B A

operate a leasing business of certain car parking spaces in Hong FEMUIASLEE B SHEHASE

Kong, further details of which are set out in note 15(c) to the

consolidated financial statements.

BATEERRMITE15(c) °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
OPERATIONS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Group's attributable interest is equal to, greater or less than
50% in these entities. However, under the joint arrangement
agreements, the joint operators have contractually agreed sharing
of control over the relevant activities of these entities, hence all
these entities are jointly controlled by the Group and the other joint
operators. Furthermore, the relevant joint arrangement agreements
specify that the Group and the other parties to the joint
arrangements have rights to the assets and obligations to the
liabilities relating to the joint arrangements in accordance with the
attributable interest of the Group as disclosed above and the
interest attributable to the other joint operators respectively,
therefore these entities are classified as joint operations.

All principal joint operations engaged in construction work are
contracted to carry out infrastructure and public facilities related
works in Hong Kong, all these joint operations are employed by
various departments of the Government of HKSAR and certain
Hong Kong listed companies engaged in infrastructure business in
Hong Kong. These joint operations are strategic to the Group's
principal activities in construction work.

The above table lists the joint operations of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect the
results of the year or constitute a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other joint operations
would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

48.

49.

Issued ordinary/

Place of incorporation/
business

AL,/

EESE

registered
share capital
BRAEE/
RA

Grand View Properties Limited Hong Kong HKS10 ordinary shares
hREXERLA W 10T LBk
Loyal Pioneer Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary shares
BRBARAR Bk 10,000 &L L BR
Vietnam Land (HK) Ltd. BVI US$25,000,000
ordinary shares

RERAES 25,000,000 L E @R

This entity is accounted for as an associate by virtue of the Group's
significant influence over the entity.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other associates would, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars
of excessive length.
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FTESEXRBHEE)

GEE

(0 AREEEERESH  SRUERKE
EEE ’ e

EHHEHIE - Al 2SR
ALE R EMAE T H H%I%‘J IH:&\\ 18
e LLBhar A ARBRAE L
HAET 477 BN BRI Ll A 5 B g
Bl EMEE T RE 2 EE 28
BEREMSREE &7%}?’5%?439’\],%
£ Bt ZFERBRIBERBERT -

(b) FBRFEERIBMNFIESEEKHE
A URBEBETEZRARREERT
2 2Ee8EREHRTBERITHRE
BN ZEHPFIRABEEREEREBNE
FEEETMAREIA - 2S5 aEEBHAR
EEREEIENTEEHEHEE -

ERINBARREERREIEZEAFE
ERIEARHEEFERELEZAS
BEEXB ARAEERRIHEMS
BEBZHBESREBNITE

FEBREQNTFE

Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Group

FEBEGERERD
2015 2014
20155 20145

% %

Principal activities

TEEH

40 40 Property investment
MWERE
10t 10" Property development
ESE
20 20 Investment holding
REZR
f HRAEEHZERAEEATZE N - Sk
ZEBUBE QAR -
FRINBRAFAEETRREIELEREE

EEIBERAKBEEFERELEZAR
SEEBENF - AAREZR AL EA
BEARZHBESREBANITE -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 50. A8z M # kR 3k

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RBEHRKR BEEAR A Z2HBERAKRZ
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BRnT
2015 2014
2015 & 20144
HKS$'000 HKS'000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIEE - B3 KRG 24,898 26,154
Investments in subsidiaries (note 47) R B A RIRE (MFE47) 1,590,573 1,532,779
Total non-current assets EmBEELE 1,615,471 1,558,933
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEfTFIE - &4 & H b e F A 11,221 5384
Cash and cash equivalents ReMEFSEHEIEE 527 41,978
Total current assets MBBEERE 11,748 47,362
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Other payables and accruals E At S RIE X JE AT SRIE 2,291 2,989
Unsecured bond payable to a related company f& - — B @8:&E A &) 2 KB EH 150,000 150,000
Total current liabilities mB A EERE 152,291 162,989
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REAEFE (140,543) (105,627)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EELERABEE 1,474,928 1,453,306
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEF
Due to subsidiaries AN ENG] 607,263 579,526
Convertible bonds AT AR E S 146,458 -
Total non-current liabilities EmB B EERE 753,721 579,626
Net assets BEFE 721,207 873,780
EQUITY S
Issued capital B TR AN 132,362 108,310
Reserves (note) 4 () 588,845 765,470
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 721,207 873,780
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR AR BT et

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 50. AR B 2 HARR = (&)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: The movements of the Company's reserves during the year are as M3« FRARRZFEBZ ST :
follows:

Share Share  Convertible
premium  Contributed option bond Retained
account surplus reserve reserve profits

TRRES

Bk SABH  BRERR it REER 3
Notes HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
fifzt BT TAT TAL TAL BT TEL

AtT April 2013 12013F4R18 389,659 52652 7,659 - 222,240 672,110
Profit for the year and REERHRAEE

total comprehensive PENAEE

income for the year = = = = 69,180 69,180
Issue of shares upon ARREERETE

exercise of warrants METRR 35503 - - - - 35,503
Issue of shares upon REREETTE

exercise of share options MmE{TRG 2039 - - - - 2039
Equity-settled share option RAGEE 2 BRERH

arrangements 37(b)(iv) = = 516 = = 516

Transfer of share option reserve  [REBMRHE 2 Mgk 214
upon the forfeiture or expiy M AEERRIE R

of share options 37 = = (7,085) = 7,085 =
Final 2013 dividend 2013 RERE = = = = (13878) (13878)
At31 March 2014 and R201453R318 R

1 April 2014 201454818 427,201 52,552 1,090 = 284,627 765,470
Profit for the year and REERHRAEE

total comprehensive e O L

income for the year - - - - 27,865 27,865
Issue of convertible bonds BTAARES 3 - - - 33,938 - 33,938
Issue of shares upon REREETTE

exercise of share options METRR 36(b)() 8,195 - (404) - - 7,791
Share placements RHEE 36(b)(i) 208,810 - - - - 208,810
Reductionin share premium  HISHIR( BB

account 36(b)(iv) (200,000) = = = 200,000 =
Equity-settled share option RAGEE BRERH

arrangements 37(b)(iv) = = 281 = = 281
Transfer of share option reserve [ B8 i % Mk 218

uponthe forfeiture orexpiry MR BERERE

of share options 37 = = (967) = 967 =
Distribution in specie ENAik 12(a) - - - - (436,745)  (436,745)
Final 2014 dividend 20145 RBRE = = - - (18,565) (18,565)
At 31 March 2015 R2015%3A318 444,206 52,552 = 33,938 58,149 588,845
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e MR

31 March 2015
2015643 A31H

51.

52.

53.

240

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@) Details of issue of new shares upon the exercise of the
conversion rights of the Convertible Bonds A by China New
Way in April 2015 are disclosed in note 33(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b) Details of extension of the long stop date in respect of the
disposal of equity interest in Profit City in May 2015 are
disclosed in note 28(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

() On3June 2015, Leading Top Investments Limited (“Leading
Top"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a memorandum of understanding with China City
Development Investment Limited in relation to the proposed
acquisition of all or part of (i) direct or indirect equity interest
in; and/or (i) assets of; and/or (iii) business of A B i 2%
AR E AR A and its subsidiaries (the “Target Group”).
The Target Group is primarily engaged in, among other
things, municipal construction, building construction, and
construction of build-transfer/build-operate-transfer/public-
private partnership projects in the PRC, and is one of the
leading urban development and construction enterprises in
the PRC. Further details of the matter are set out in the
Company's announcement dated 3 June 2015.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, due to the implementation of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and early adoption of the
amendments to the Listing Rules relating to the disclosure of
financial information with reference to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current year, the presentation and
disclosure of certain items and balances in the consolidated
financial statements have been revised to comply with the new
requirements. In addition, certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation and
disclosures.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board on 25 June 2015.

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited Annual Report 2014/15

51.

52.

53.

BEMRER

(8) REH MR 20155471768 AT
%A 2 BRI T R THRG 2 5418
PR BT SRR M 4 33(a) 1R ©

(b) BEIEREMN2015%58 H £ Profit
City iR & & 1 B H 2 FFIB A 4R
A WA FE28(b) WEE o

(c) M2015%6A3H KRR ZEHE
ANAEIEmEE AR AT ([Eim]) B
Bl B RIR B B R A AR LR s
i - NAE RS E R B T 2
RIEREEBRAFEREMMB AR
(TEEEE]) 23R IBH () HREK
MR RRMEE: &%
(N7 - BEEEEEZERHTEKESE
(ERaE) MIER  BFRERMN
W - BREE - EE B
RANFhEEERNEGEREE A
B RPBEEERM MRS REECHE
X~ AHBEZEZFHBENARA
AIEER 20166 A3H 2 A% -

ey 2

HANER & M TS MR RE S P — Pl
HRERFEEEEEEN R AMED(F
622% ) R R M LR BREM B ER
REZET(2EZFBRRIGH (5£622F)
BEMBER) Rl BHREETEE R
B2 RBEC TEFTANAFRE
o ETHERBFEEN D EATER
FEZZ2FREE -

BRSSP BRR

AR ERDN2015F6 B2 HEES
SR RIFETE -



RESULTS (Note)

Revenue

Profit/(loss) before tax
Income tax

Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Note)

Total assets
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Note: Financial information presented under “Results” for the years ended
31 March 2011 and 2012, and financial information presented under
‘Assets and Liabilities” as at 31 March 2011 have not been restated to
take into account the financial impact of adoption of HKFRS 11 “Joint

BRBATEN,(B51R)
RS

AEREN,/(BR)

JE{h -
ARAIBR
EFE e

EEREE ()

BEEMBE
BRBE

FEfEHES -
ARAEIBR
FRER

Arrangements” as it is not cost effective.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
2 i A

Year ended 31 March

HE3A31BLEE
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
20124 20134 20144 2015
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

2011 £
HKS'000
FET T FET T FEx

3002446 3193402 4891770 6551240 8,317,087
(16918) 109079 145565 139821 145,165
(38045)  (56,726)  (67,790)  (46493)  (41,894)
(54,963) 52,353 77,775 93323 103,271
(54,963) 52,353 77,775 93009 102,518

- - = 314 753
(54,963) 52,353 77,775 93323 103,271

At 31 March

R3A31H
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
20124 20134 20144 2015 E
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

2011 £
HKS$'000
FET FHET FET FHET FExT

3902006 4606344 5417801 6487239 6,895,710
(2,546,627) (3127,118) (3886336) (4,842,693 (5,310,603)
1355379 1479226 1530965 1644546 1,585,107
1355029 1478876 1530615 1643882 1,583,690

350 350 350 664 1,417
1355379 1479226 1530965 1644546 1,585,107

MisE : REIE2011FER2012463A31BILFE 2 %4 |
B R2FNFHEERKER2011F3A31AZIE

MARRBEVBREERNE N R [EE LT
ZHBEE  ARELPFARARE -
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

DA N/

=S

==
B

LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT/
PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE

Expected date
Location Stage of completion of completion
e TIRER &R A
A parcel of land located Phase 1: Completed =
between northern side of Phase 2: Completed =
He Ping Road and Phase 3: Planning -
southern side of
Guang Hua Road,
Shijiazhuang,

Hebei Province,
The People’s Republic of China

GEIEETG -8 ERT -
TLERRE £-8 BRI -

MR AR EREA R E=H 58P -

Plot No. S5-C35 at Planning =
Shams Abu Dhabi,

Al Reem Island,

Abu Dhab,

United Arab Emirates

(B) A aKiE g HEL =
Al Reem Island

Shams Abu Dhabi

34 S5-C35

Plot No. 2APT002A, Planning =
Al Marjan Island,
Ras Al Khaimah,

United Arab Emirates

W%t 25 Ras Al Khaimah iHElH =
Al Marjan Island

3R 2APT002A

FERRE HEWE

Usage

RE

Residential,

commercial and
carpark

G SE I
FES

Residential

Residential

BFEVERE2 T
Total Total
estimated estimated
site area gross floor
(square area (square
metres) metres)
fhat  fEEHARE
B BEE BEER
(B5K)  (FRK)
111,654 220,742
(Phase 2:
Unsold units
and
Phase 3)
111,654 220,742
(B=H:
REER R
F=1)
2,425 22,715
2425 22,715
9,099 27,286
9,099 27286
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Group's
interest

A&E
Frib s

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%



LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT/
PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE

(continued)

Location

o

Sha Tin Town Lot No. 579 in Area
56A, Kau To, Sha Tin,

New Territories, Hong Kong
BEANRDBENLE AR
DHTHEE579%

Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 499
at Tseng Choi Street, Area 4,
Tuen Mun, New Territories,

Hong Kong
BEMREMENEEE
IR % 499 3%

Sha Tin Town Lot No. 601

at Yiu Sha Road, Whitehead,

Ma On Shan, Sha Tin,

New Territories, Hong Kong
BEENFOEERL

AARDED BHHERE 6015

Lot Nos. 1770, 1771 R.P., 1774,
1766 R.P.and 1768 in
Demarcation District No. 3
Tung Chung, Lantau Island,
New Territories, Hong Kong

Stage of completion

TIRR

Site Formation in Progress

LETFETR

Foundation Works
in Progress

CEMpETE

Planning

st &R

Planning

BEMRAARLRBLENNE3H P

MBS 1770 1771 RP. 1774
1766 R.P. &2 17685

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

Expected date
of completion

B RA A

2018

2018

2017

2017

2018

2018

Usage

i3

Residential

Residential and
Commercial

EETES

Residential

Residential

)

RAENERR T,
BERR SHEWE (&)
Total Total
estimated estimated
site area gross floor
(square  area (square
metres) metres)
it fEERE
A RmEE BEER
(FHX) (EHFK)
32,900 30,036
32,900 30,036
2202 13807
2,202 13,807
23,500 36,000
23,500 36,000
3075 15,373
3075 15,373
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ool

==
B

Group's
interest

*5H
Fitist

10%
10%

60%

60%

10%

10%

100%

100%



PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

RV

eSS

==
=

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location

i

Carparks,

New Kowloon Inland Lot No. 6179,

No.8 Clear Water Bay Road,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong
BABNEBKEBSHEIMNEAHE6179RFES

Townhouse #V4C-38,
Al Muneera Island,

Al Raha Beach,

Abu Dhabi,

United Arab Emirates
Bl Bt 25 P AR L L

B RN

Al Muneera Island
RIEE B {17 VAC-38

Reem Diamond, Plot No. S6-C05 at
Shams Abu Dhabi,

Al Reem Island,

Abu Dhabi,

United Arab Emirates

B Bt 2 Ba A AL EE

Al Reem Island,

Shams Abu Dhabi

3847 5% S6-C05

Reem Diamond,

Nos. 4602, 4603, 4607, 4608, Tower 2,
The Gate Towers, Shams, Reem Island,
Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

[on] B 2 A 47 AL £

Reem Island

Shams

The Gate Towers

FE2PE

25 4602 ~ 4603 ~ 4607 * 4608 5%

REWE

Usage
5ik:S

Carpark

(B

Residential house

Residential

Residential
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Lease term

BAFH

Medium

5

Long

=8

Long

~H

Long

=H






RFoEERE F B FHE o )
CauN Wo DeveLoPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

C2, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building
601-603 Tai Nan West Street

Cheung Sha Wan

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3758 8711 Fax: (852) 2744 6937

BEBNE

REEFE#T601 260355

BEBMRIEREREC2

&% (852) 37588711 {EHE: (852) 2744 6937
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